JMIR Human Factors

Impact Factor (2023): 2.6 Volume 6 (2019), Issue 1 ISSN 2292-9495 Editor in Chief: Andre Kushniruk, BA, MSc, PhD, FACMI

Contents

Original Papers

A Qualitative Study of the Theory Behind the Chairs: Balancing Lean-Accelerated Patient Flow With the Need for Privacy and Confidentiality in an Emergency Medicine Setting (e11714)	
Elaine Zibrowski, Lisa Shepherd, Richard Booth, Kamran Sedig, Candace Gibson.	3
Supporting Older Adults in Exercising With a Tablet: A Usability Study (e11598)	
Sumit Mehra, Bart Visser, Nazli Cila, Jantine van den Helder, Raoul Engelbert, Peter Weijs, Ben Kröse	13
Advancing Cardiac Surgery Case Planning and Case Review Conferences Using Virtual Reality in Medical Libraries: Evaluation of the Lisability of Two Virtual Reality Apps (a12008)	
Sandeep Napa, Michael Moore, Tania Bardyn.	30
High-Fidelity Prototyping for Mobile Electronic Data Collection Forms Through Design and User Evaluation (e11852)	
Alice Mugisha, Ankica Babic, Peter Wakholi, Thorkild Tylleskär.	46
Nurses' Perceptions of a Care Plan Information Technology Solution With Hundreds of Clinical Practice Guidelines in Adult Intensive Care Units: Survey Study (e11846)	
Azizeh Sowan, Meghan Leibas, Albert Tarriela, Charles Reed.	57
Improving Provider Adoption With Adaptive Clinical Decision Support Surveillance: An Observational Study (e10245)	
Sundas Khan, Safiya Richardson, Andrew Liu, Vinodh Mechery, Lauren McCullagh, Andy Schachter, Salvatore Pardo, Thomas McGinn 6 8	
Computerized Clinical Decision Support System for Emergency Department–Initiated Buprenorphine for Opioid Use Disorder: User-Centered Design (e13121)	
Jessica Ray, Osama Ahmed, Yauheni Solad, Matthew Maleska, Shara Martel, Molly Jeffery, Timothy Platts-Mills, Erik Hess, Gail D'Onofrio, Edward Melnick	89
Designing Online Interventions in Consideration of Young People's Concepts of Well-Being: Exploratory Qualitative Study (e10106)	
Megan Winsall, Simone Orlowski, Gillian Vogl, Victoria Blake, Mariesa Nicholas, Gaston Antezana, Geoffrey Schrader, Niranjan Bidargaddi 1 0 2	

Review

The Usability of Electronic Medical Record Systems Implemented in Sub-Saharan Africa: A Literature	
Review of the Evidence (e9317)	
Michael Kavuma	78

A Qualitative Study of the Theory Behind the Chairs: Balancing Lean-Accelerated Patient Flow With the Need for Privacy and Confidentiality in an Emergency Medicine Setting

Elaine Zibrowski¹, MSc (Epidemiology), MSc (Neuroscience); Lisa Shepherd², MD, MHPE; Richard Booth³, RN, PhD; Kamran Sedig^{1,4}, PhD; Candace Gibson⁵, PhD

¹Health Information Science, Faculty of Information & Media Studies, University of Western Ontario, London, ON, Canada

²Department of Medicine, Division of Emergency Medicine, University of Western Ontario, London, ON, Canada

³Arthur Labatt Family School of Nursing, University of Western Ontario, London, ON, Canada

⁴Department of Computer Science, University of Western Ontario, London, ON, Canada

⁵Department of Pathology, University of Western Ontario, London, ON, Canada

Corresponding Author:

Elaine Zibrowski, MSc (Epidemiology), MSc (Neuroscience) Health Information Science Faculty of Information & Media Studies University of Western Ontario Room 4092 FNB, University of Western Ontario, London, ON, N6A 5B9 Canada Phone: 1 519 641 7196 Email: emzibrow@alumni.uwo.ca

Abstract

Background: Many emergency departments (EDs) have used the Lean methodology to guide the restructuring of their practice environments and patient care processes. Despite research cautioning that the layout and design of treatment areas can increase patients' vulnerability to privacy breaches, evaluations of Lean interventions have ignored the potential impact of these on patients' informational and physical privacy. If professional regulatory organizations are going to require that nurses and physicians interact with their patients privately and confidentially, we need to examine the degrees to which their practice environment supports them to do so.

Objective: This study explored how a Lean intervention impacted the ability of emergency medicine physicians and nurses to optimize conditions of privacy and confidentiality for patients under their care.

Methods: From July to December 2017, semistructured interviews were iteratively conducted with health care professionals practicing emergency medicine at a single teaching hospital in Ontario, Canada. The hospital has 1000 beds, and approximately 128,000 patients visit its 2 EDs annually. In response to poor wait times, in 2013, the hospital's 2 EDs underwent a Lean redesign. As the interviews proceeded, information from their transcripts was first coded into topics and then organized into themes. Data collection continued to theoretical sufficiency.

Results: Overall, 15 nurses and 5 physicians were interviewed. A major component of the Lean intervention was the construction of a three-zone front cell at both sites. Each zone was outfitted with a set of chairs in an open concept configuration. Although, in theory, professionals perceived value in having the chairs, in practice, these served multiple, and often, competing uses by patients, family members, and visitors. In an attempt to work around limitations they encountered and keep patients flowing, professionals often needed to move a patient out from a front chair and actively search for another location that better protected individuals' informational and physical privacy.

Conclusions: To our knowledge, this is the first qualitative study of the impact of a Lean intervention on patient privacy and confidentiality. The physical configuration of the front cell often intensified the clinical work of professionals because they needed to actively search for spaces better affording privacy and confidentiality for patient encounters. These searches likely increased clinical time and added to these patients' length of stay. We advocate that the physical structure and configuration of the front cell should be re-examined under the lens of Lean's principle of value-added activities. Future exploration of the perspectives of

patients, family members, and visitors regarding the relative importance of privacy and confidentiality during emergency care is warranted.

(JMIR Hum Factors 2019;6(1):e11714) doi:10.2196/11714

KEYWORDS

Lean health care; emergency medicine; privacy and confidentiality; work intensification; qualitative research

Introduction

Background

The provider-patient relationship is the foundation of medicine, and this relationship revolves around trust. As part of a trusting relationship, a patient must have faith that any information exchanged during their encounter with a physician or nurse will remain private and confidential [1,2]. Although privacy and confidentiality share some ideas, these 2 concepts have distinct definitions. Privacy has physical, decisional, and informational dimensions. Regarding these dimensions and medical care, a patient should not experience any unnecessary or embarrassing exposures of their body. A patient should also be free to make informed decisions regarding their care without facing undue pressure or interference from another individual, and they should entrust that any information collected during their medical care will be kept confidential [3-5]. Violations of confidentiality can be intentional or unintentional [3,6]. Intentional violations occur when a professional directly communicates a patients' information to an unauthorized person. Unintended violations arise when conditions are inadvertently created that enable an unauthorized individual to see or hear information about a patient. Intentional violations or failure to adequately protect a patients' personal health information may result in an investigation or audit from a professional regulatory organization, with potential consequences including disciplinary action [1,2].

An emergency department (ED) is considered to be one of the most complex environments in which to deliver patient care [5,7-10], and although reviews by Ulrich et al have highlighted a dearth of research in this area, there are some indications that the design and layout of an ED can increase the vulnerability of patients to breaches of their physical and informational privacy and confidentiality [11,12].

Mlnek and Pierce asked trained observers to record patients' names plus their diagnosis/reason for treatment while they were sitting in a triage chair or empty treatment areas of a hospital-based ED in the United States. From the triage chairs, observers recorded the names of 81% (26/32) of patients and the diagnosis/reason for treatment for 56% (18/32). Both elements were recorded for 53% (17/32) of triaged patients. Observers noted that when they were stationed in treatment areas with curtains, they were able to hear "almost everything" that occurred in adjacent areas. When curtains were left open in other rooms, observers were also able to craft detailed notes about medical procedures they saw being performed on patients. The authors noted that no privacy breaches were recorded when observers were stationed in empty patient rooms with solid walls [13].

http://humanfactors.jmir.org/2019/1/e11714/

In another American study, Zhang et al asked an observer to record the ambient conversation while they were seated near a nurses' station and in some empty patient rooms of hospital-based ED. Thematic analyses of transcripts prepared from the recordings revealed that nursing station conversations predominantly revolved around patient care (86% of content; 95% CI 68.7-94.7). Although patient names were not heard on the nurses' station recordings, other details including individuals' medical and social histories, physical examination results, and diagnoses were audible. The authors noted that although 44.8% (95% CI 17.7-62.2) of the conversations that were recorded from patient rooms revolved around clinical topics, these contained very little patient-related information [14].

Karro et al reported that 45.1% (106/235) of patients treated by an Australian ED had been involved in a privacy incident at an Australian hospital-based ED. Overall, 41% of patients (95% CI 35-47) revealed they had overheard information involving another patient, and 15% (95% CI 11-21) sensed other members of the public had overheard conversations related to their care. Overall, 10% (95% CI 06-14) admitted they saw another patient's body, and 4% (95% CI 02-07) felt their body was exposed. Patients treated within walled cubicles were significantly less likely to overhear information about another patient (*P*<.002) and felt their information would be less likely to have been heard by an unauthorized person (*P*=.06) [15].

Finally, patient surveys from Barlas et al in the United States and Lin and Lin from Taiwan explored whether patients' perceptions of privacy and confidentiality impacted how they interacted with members of their ED care team. Patients in both of these study cohorts admitted that due to a perceived lack of privacy and confidentiality, they withheld aspects of their medical history or had refused parts of their physical exam (Barlas, a total of 3.7% [4/108] of patients; Lin, 21.2% [23/108] of patients withheld aspects of history; and 19.4% [21/108] of patients refused parts of exam). These studies appeared to put forth different viewpoints regarding the degree of effort made by members of the care team to circumvent breaches. Although Barlas reported that 85.2% (92/108) of patients in their study perceived that ED staff showed respect for their privacy, Lin and Lin concluded, "in our opinion, the most important factor influencing patient privacy was lack of vigilance in the ED" [16,17].

Many EDs had used Toyota's Lean methodology to guide the restructuring of their practice environments and patient care processes [18,19]. As part of its focus on continuous improvement, Lean asks an organization to rethink how they are delivering what is of value to their customers [18,20-25]. Organizational processes are broken down and examined regarding whether they contribute value-adding activities

XSL•FO

[18,19]. Value-added activities are those that work toward satisfying customer needs. Conversely, nonvalue activities detract an organization from achieving its goals and waste time and resources including personnel and physical space. By removing nonvalue activities, the Lean method asserts that an organization will be able to streamline its processes and deliver what customers want at a faster pace [5,20-22,25].

Objective

Given that Lean health care focuses on the enhancement of patients' experiences, it would seem to follow that when a Lean intervention is evaluated, it should include some examination of how it potentially affected patient privacy and confidentiality. However, reviews by Holden regarding the implementation of Lean interventions in EDs and reviews by Moraros et al of the effects of Lean interventions across multiple medical settings, have suggested that the topic of privacy and confidentiality has not been a priority in the Lean health care discourse [18,24]. None of the articles that were part of these 2 reviews looked at the potential impact of Lean-driven changes on patient privacy and confidentiality. Moraros' review also presented primary analyses of patient satisfaction data that were gathered by hospitals in the Canadian province of Saskatchewan. Saskatchewan is recognized to have undergone the largest Lean health care transformation in the world, and this included restructuring of provincial EDs [19]. Although the Saskatchewan analyses included multiple indicators of provider-patient communication, measures specifically tied to patients' privacy and confidentiality were not presented. Moreover, we were not able to locate a study about Lean and patient privacy and confidentiality through our searches of the published literature.

If professional regulatory organizations are going to require that physicians and nurses interact with their patients privately and confidentially, we need to examine the degrees to which their practice environment supports them to do so. The purpose of this study was to explore how a Lean intervention affected the ability of emergency medical professionals to optimize conditions of privacy and confidentiality for patients under their care.

Methods

Study Design

The findings reported by this study arose from data collected as part of a realist grounded theory study that examined the impact of a Lean intervention undertaken by 2 EDs from a single teaching hospital in Ontario, Canada [26]. The hospital has 1000 beds, and about 128,000 patients seek treatment from the 2 adult EDs annually. In 2013, in response to poor ED wait times, the hospital introduced extensive changes to the physical practice environments and patient care processes at both adult sites. The changes were anticipated to improve the efficiency of the ED, and in turn, this would reduce the wait times experienced by patients.

From July to December 2017, emergency nurses and physicians who practiced at either ED were sent emails inviting them to consider participating in a single, semistructured interview. These emails were sent on behalf of the study by the

```
http://humanfactors.jmir.org/2019/1/e11714/
```

administrative office that manages the ED sites, and professionals were asked to reply to EMZ's confidential university email account. The administrative office was not made aware of the participants' identities. Interviews were audio-recorded for transcription into verbatim electronic documents by a professional transcription service. Participants received a Can \$20 gift card as an honorarium. University and hospital-level research ethics boards approved the study's protocol.

The study followed a constant comparative approach that is consistent with grounded theory methodology [27-29]. Using a semistructured format, the interview probed the ED environment, both before and after the Lean intervention, including the physical configuration of space, organization of patient flow, clinical workflow for physicians and nurses, opportunities for professionals to collaborate during patient care, the motivation for restructuring the ED, and the processes that were involved in the Lean intervention.

Data Analysis

After each interview, field notes were prepared about the dialogue that occurred with the professional, and these notes were reviewed alongside the interview's prepared transcript. With the use of MAXQDA software (Version 11.2.5, VERBI Software, Sozialforschung GmbH, Berlin, Germany), information from the transcripts was first read line-by-line and was coded into a set of categorical topics. Categorical coding continued alongside data collection, and information from new interviews was successively compared with the existing set of codes. Through the repeated review of the interview transcripts and evolving coding, the categorical topics were organized into themes. Data collection continued to theoretical saturation of meaning at which point we felt that the amount of information that was gathered from the interviews was sufficient to support our exploration of participants' perspectives and that any additional interviews were not likely to introduce major modifications to our understanding of the data gathered in our study [30,31]. For our research, we sensed theoretical sufficiency after 20 interviews.

Results

Demographics

Overall, 15 nurses and 5 emergency physicians were interviewed, and 18 of these individuals had been practicing emergency medicine for at least 10 years. Interviews lasted, on average, 53.8 min (SD 11 min), and the corpus of transcripts contained a total of 171,592 words of content.

Themes

All of the health care professionals who were interviewed during this study spoke in detail about their experiences providing medical care to patients and interacting with their family members and visitors within a particular area of the restructured ED, the front cell. The construction of the front cell was a major element of the Lean redesign. The front cell tends to be a very busy area of the restructured ED because it receives all of the patients that are flowed forward from triage. The experiences of nurses and physicians in the front cell revolved around 3

themes: the theory behind the chairs, too many people in the front cell, and how we work (around) to try to preserve our patients' privacy. After a description of the physical configuration and patient care processes used in the front cell, the 3 themes will be unpacked with anonymized quotes to ground, and enrich, our findings with the voices of our study participants.

The Front Cell

The front cell of the ED was separated into 3 zones, and triaged patients were directed to one of these. Each zone had 3 stretcher beds and 6 chairs, and the primary assessment nurse, who manages patient flow, made the initial decision of whether a patient was sent to a stretcher bed or front chair. Although the stretcher beds had surrounding curtains, the chairs did not. Instead, the chairs were located together in an open concept configuration and were spaced in a side-by-side array. Before its restructuring, the ED did have some chairs available for patients, but these were situated away from treatment areas and spaces where nurses and physicians completed their charting.

The Theory Behind the Chairs

Participants explained that the theory behind equipping the front zone with sets of patient chairs arose from an accepted idea that ambulatory patients should remain ambulatory:

The point of chairs is to be able to keep upright patients upright. So, if you can walk and you do not need a stretcher, per se, because your medical condition does not need you to be on a stretcher, they would seat you in a chair. A patient who was young, healthy but just needs a quick exam, belly exam, something like that, or someone with an isolated orthopedic injury. They would be able to take the patient from the chairs into that first bed, see them there and then put them back into the chairs for a plan. [N101]

If you were a gallbladder, you need a bed. If we triage you and the assessment nurse has done your blood work, and it comes back, and it is fine, you'll sit in the chair until you get to an examination table for the doctor to be able to do a full exam. If you were sweating profusely, pale, not doing well, we would have you still in one of those stretchers until we get you pain-free. We may be able to move you over to the Rapid Assessment Zone, or to the middle bubble, while we get ultrasounds and that. If you are doing really well and you look well enough to sit in a chair and weren't in crisis, then you would sit in a chair, continue to give you medication, and go from there. [N112]

Too Many People in the Front Cell

Several participants clarified that the ED seemed to have drifted away from its original plan to designate the front cell as a patient-only area. In the original plan, under certain circumstances would a family member or friend be allowed to accompany a patient forward to the front cell after triage. For example, if a patient had a cognitive issue or they required an interpreter, 1 person would be allowed to remain with the

```
http://humanfactors.jmir.org/2019/1/e11714/
```

patient. Although interviewees empathized with individuals' desire to be with a loved one or friend while that person was being cared for in the ED, they noted that over time, the front cell had become, in essence, a secondary waiting room. As this nurse noted, it was common for patients to bring one or more people with them into a front zone:

People get rather annoyed if family members can't stay with their loved ones, which I understand. I always try and say, "We don't need to have five family members for the one person." [N107]

During times when family and visitors accumulated in the front zones, interviewees noted fewer chairs were available for patients, family members crowded around stretcher beds, hallways became congested, ambient noise levels increased, and as this nurse and emergency physician explained, it was often difficult for a health care professional to work in a front zone while their family members and visitors were also present:

I understand that they are worried, and they are concerned about their family members, but I have actually had put it to them, and I said, "If anything ever happened to your family member, I can't get to them. I'm not going to be tripping over chairs or you to do my job. Please trade off any time you like, but I can only have one [of you here]." [N110]

It's become like a waiting room. And even at the [stretcher] bedside, it's a small geographical space. And there are many times I'll open the curtain to try to walk in, and there will be three or four visitors with the patient. In a small area where you're trying to provide such rapid care, you cannot do it with visitors there. It was initially intended that you would do your care in the front bubble [without visitors]. Once the patient was moved, visitors or family would be allowed to come into the areas where they have been moved. The general public hasn't accepted that. And that space has just never been designed to allow for that. [P204]

Moreover, some participants noted that the public often ignored the hospital's request that they refrain from using mobile devices in the ED, and you could see people using their mobile phones while they waited in a front zone.

Interviewees explained that during periods of high patient volume and slowed access to the stretcher beds in the front zones plus the accumulation of patients, family members, and visitors in the front cell synergized to increase the likelihood that a patient would interact with a health care professional in the presence of other members of the public. Professionals were not comfortable with this situation as described by these 2 nurses:

I like the idea of either putting them in the chairs to wait to come into a spot [stretcher bed]. Say, all our spots are full, there are a few more people that are appropriate, trade them out. That is fine. Or they have had their lab work done, and they are just waiting for results, they are stable, put them into the chair and wait for the results. I am okay with that. It's the

people that are getting seen by physicians or nurses in the chairs. I don't like that. I don't like assessing a patient in a room full of a bunch of other people, asking them personal information questions, things like that. [N110]

You could have patients in chairs surrounded by strangers beside you inches away, and a doctor is asking you questions. Yeah, or even if it's just assessing your foot, people are watching that, they're right there. And even in the stretchers, you can hear everything that's going on behind those curtains. The historical set up though we've had curtains, so there's always been some lack of confidentiality, but with the cluster of chairs where they are out in the open now. Oh, it's terrible. I think about if I was a patient how I would feel with that and I would probably put a complaint in because there is no privacy there. [N109]

Concerns were raised regarding the impact of the departments' push-forward model on the front chair environment. Physicians explained that as the model prioritized the continual flow of patients from triage, this meant that at any given moment, it was feasible for individuals with varied medical needs to be seated together. They cautioned that although a patient may be alert and mobile when they are assessed at triage, and therefore, would be eligible to be pushed forward into a chair, it should not be assumed that the individual was experiencing a minor medical complaint. Although some physicians recalled instances where they felt a triaged patient should have been directed to a stretcher bed rather than a chair, they also acknowledged there was not always an available alternative:

I honestly feel we have to put people in chairs that should not be in chairs. But the alternative is, they wait in the waiting room [by registration]. So, I'll say to patients, "I'm sorry that you have to be in that spot [a front chair], but it's either that or you don't get seen at all." And people understand that equation, but it doesn't mean they're happy about it, particularly if they're not feeling well. [P202]

Further, as these 2 physicians highlighted, there were medical contexts where doctors anticipated it could be especially uncomfortable for a patient to have to interact with them while they were sitting among other people:

The chairs are where I have difficulty because there will be multiple patient types in chairs. You might have two psychiatry patients, you could also have someone waiting on blood work, and you could have someone that has a sore foot in the chairs. My perception is that most patients don't like to be talked to in front of a bunch of other people. Of course, it depends on why you are there in the first place. If you have a cut on your thumb, you may very well not mind talking about it in front of other people. [P200]

Sometimes you're asking some pretty uncomfortable questions to people. Like, you [the emergency physician] need to know this, or you don't know this. So for them [patient] to, sort of, to be quizzed, or asked, or somewhat berated sometimes in front of a

http://humanfactors.jmir.org/2019/1/e11714/

room, and then to have to go see that next person 10 feet away, that person knows exactly what's going on. Whereas in the old system, you had that privacy, and to discuss issues about patients that, you know, that person had chlamydia, gonorrhea, or something else. That's probably not the nicest conversation in a room full of 50 people. [P201]

How We Work (Around) to Try to Preserve Patient Privacy

We have previously described that managing high patient volumes in the ED commonly involved moving patients around the 3 cells of the reconfigured ED [26]. When interviewees elaborated on reasons underlying these moves, they explained that they would often ask a patient to move out of a front chair and accompany them over to another area of the department to try to optimize a sense of privacy before they began communicating with that individual:

The chairs are great, but because there is no place for patients to be moving out of the stretcher, you have people in the chairs, and there is no privacy. You can't talk and ask people. Sometimes, they are there, I'll take people around the corner, and I'm talking to them in the hall, just so their neighbour doesn't hear them, which I personally don't think it's appropriate. If they were alone in the chair, I have no problem talking to them, but otherwise, there is no privacy. There is nowhere to sit. [N110]

Hopefully, you're not assessed in the chair. Unless you're the only person in the chairs at the time, then we would talk to you there, just for privacy reasons. But if there are other people there, we've got to take you out of that chair to some corner where we can talk to you privately and then bring you back to the chair. [P201]

Participants listed off various areas, wherein the moment, they had sought out a more private location to interact with their patient including a hallway or corner, trauma bay, the resuscitation room, or even another front zone:

Well, they put patients in the chairs when all the [stretcher] beds are full. So, you're going to see them in the chairs, but there are other people there. I'm not willing to have those conversations unless it's maybe an infected finger. Even that I really don't like having in case, there's something else about it. So, it can be hard to find the space that you can actually talk to somebody. I try to move them around. But you end up going into the quiet room or the resuscitation room or pull them off to the side, trying to see if somebody else's chairs are empty. [P203]

Nurses also acknowledged that although it was an accepted practice to treat patients while they were sitting in a front chair, they were quite uncomfortable doing so when other members of the public were present. During these moments, some nurses admitted that they, too, felt like they were on public display:

I do find there's far less confidentiality [compared to our old model]. I have to now go into the small area

where patients are more or less knee-to-knee with each other, and I have to disclose information or results or do vitals in front of everybody else, spike meds in front of everybody else. You're being watched, and the patient that you're doing this stuff to is now the centre focus of everybody in that area. [N104]

Two of the nurses who were interviewed described incidents where they felt their privacy was disrespected:

I've been caught a couple of times where people are photographing you. That is the culture, and it irritates me because it's [a mobile device] supposed to be off. And how can we enforce that, when everybody else is on them? [N107]

I was on the phone with [details regarding the conversation are anonymized], and then I was called into a patient room and another patient said, "I just wanted to let you know that I feel for you [details regarding what the individual said they overheard are anonymized] and I heard your conversation." And I'm like, "Oh no. Oh my god." There's just no privacy. We have no place to have private phone calls. [N109]

Discussion

Principal Findings

To our knowledge, this is the first qualitative study to explore the impact of a Lean health care intervention on patient privacy and confidentiality. Although the Lean redesign was intended to make the ED work more efficiently, the results of this study illuminated that the physical configuration of the front cell often intensified the clinical work of emergency nurses and physicians because they needed to actively search for spaces that could better afford privacy and confidentiality for patient encounters.

Evidence-based design of health care facilities requires careful consideration, and anticipation, of the complexities that exist within the delivery of patient care [32]. Although published studies have cautioned against the use of open concept areas in ED settings, as these were associated with increased prevalence of breaches of patients' informational and physical privacy, the hospital embraced an open concept design for the sets of chairs located in each zone of the front cell. Although professionals did perceive value in having these chairs, they also cautioned that the chairs served multiple, and often competing, purposes. They were part of an active treatment area, they afforded an intermediary space for patients awaiting their results or further diagnostic testing, and as a result of public pressure, they had also become part of a secondary waiting room that housed patients along with their family members and visitors. At any time in the ED, members of the public could fill the front chairs for one or more of these purposes. Again, although previous research had demonstrated the superiority of walled patient areas over those separated by curtains [13,15], when the doctors and nurses in our study interacted with ED patients seated in the front chairs, they were doing so in an area that was absent of any curtains or walls.

Unlike Lin and Lin [17], we found that the ED staff was very vigilant of threats to the ongoing informational and physical privacy of their patients . Although nurses were more limited in their ability to work around issues brought on by the configuration of front chairs, professionals were aware that during any given shift, they might need to search for a quieter, more confidential location to engage with their patient. Locating this space was not an easy task to perform when the ED was experiencing a high volume of patients, and physicians noted that their searches for private space could involve temporarily encroaching on another patient treatment area, another front zone, or moving the patient out into a hallway or corridor. Although the conditions that optimized privacy and confidentiality were viewed as being essential for all patients, physicians made a point of highlighting their concerns regarding the vulnerability of individuals who sought medical care from the ED for stigmatized conditions including mental health, addictions, and sexually transmitted diseases. An ED can be the primary source of medical care for patients with stigmatized conditions [33], and although in the moment, an attending may feel that moving a patient out from a front chair into a hallway or corridor may be advantageous to the individuals' privacy and confidentiality, doing so may actually bring some risk into that encounter. A survey by Stoklosa et al found that 89.5% (206/230) of American emergency physicians believed they deviated from their usual way of performing a physical exam, and 77.5% (286/369) felt they altered how they took a history when they assessed a patient in a hallway. When asked about the impact of these disruptions, over one-third of physicians surveyed admitted they had delays or failures in the diagnosis of hallway-assessed patients, including cases involving psychiatric conditions, substance abuse, and domestic/intimate partner violence [34].

Our study did not focus on change management, and we do not know how closely hospital management has been working with its frontline health care professionals to monitor the ongoing impacts of the restructured ED. Although we do not believe that ED wait times were intentionally privileged over patient privacy, our finding that medical professionals felt the need to move their patients around the department to better afford conditions for their patients' privacy and confidentiality highlights an important, unintended consequence. Given that Lean assumes that an organization will seek continuous improvement through their examination of whether activities are adding value [20,25], it would seem reasonable that the hospital reflects on how the front chairs have been impacting their ED patients and the nurses and physicians who care for them. We do not know if the hospital is achieving its targets for improved ED wait times, but our participants expressed that during a given shift in the ED, it was common for them to go through the following sequence of activity: request that a patient move out from the front chair area and then ask the patient to accompany them in a search for more private space within the ED; once a suitable spot was located, then the professional interacted with the patient as intended, and then they returned the patient to the front chair area. Professionals viewed this workaround as a way to prevent unintended violations of their patients' privacy, and thus in the moment, it was viewed by them as being a value-added activity. However, through the lens of the Lean intervention, it may not

```
XSL•FO
```

be a value-added activity. The workaround is likely adding several minutes to the clinical time spent by the professional on that case as well as adding on to the patients' length of stay in the ED. Our study did not involve discussions with patients, and we cannot make statements regarding their experiences nor perceptions of the quality of medical care they received from the ED. Previous research has shown that although time is important to ED patients, so are other subjective experiences beyond waiting. Patients can show tolerance for waiting when other aspects of their experience were perceived as being well met [35-38]. The question of whether patients value shorter ED wait times over privacy and confidentiality in an ED setting warrants future attention.

The issue of health care professionals being recorded while they provide patient care has been raising concerns within the medical community. About 86% of Canadian households own a cell phone [39], and many members of the public bring these devices with them when they seek medical care [40]. In Canada, hospital policies on cell phone use by the public vary, and there do not appear to be any federal guidelines in place [41].

In terms of patients' perceptions of, and experiences with, making a cell phone recording in a hospital setting, Oyedokun et al surveyed 110 patients who were treated for a laceration potentially requiring suturing at one of the 3 EDs located in the Canadian province of Saskatchewan [42]. To contrast patient perspectives about recording with the opinions of health care providers, 156 ED professionals (19 nurses and 37 physicians) who practiced at one of the 3 sites were also recruited into this study. Over 80% of patients (81.8%, 90/110) indicated that they had brought a cell phone capable of making a video or audio recording with them to the ED, and 30.8% (33/107) had admitted they contemplated making a video on the day they were surveyed.

Statistically significant differences were found between the proportions of patients versus providers who felt that video recording should be allowed in the ED. Although 61.7% (66/107) of patients were in favor of allowing patients to video record while they were in an ED, 49.5% (51/103) of nurses and 42% (15/35) of physicians indicated that they would allow the patient to do so (chi-square test; P<.001). When asked, hypothetically, why they would want to make a video while they were having a suturing procedure performed on them, 43% (24/55) of patients indicated that they would want to do so to be able to share that experience with others, and 38% (21/55) said it would be for a memento of their experience. None of the patients surveyed felt that they would want to video their sutures because they were unsatisfied with the care they had received. Fear of legal action, loss of control over the use and distribution of the video, and feeling that it was generally inappropriate for a patient to make a video during their treatment were among the reasons why providers indicated they would decline their patients' requests to record.

Although we do not know the contexts under which these incidents occurred, 2 of the nurses in our study spontaneously recalled, respectively, that a patient overheard a conversation that they should not have been privy to and also that another nurse sensed they had been filmed by a member of the public. Both of these nurses felt uncomfortable about what had occurred, and with the findings by Oyedokun et al [42], these incidents continue to raise the question of what degree of informational and physical privacy should be afforded to health care providers. Future research is warranted. At one time, the hospital we studied was noted to have a policy that restricted family members and visitors from being in the front cell. In light of the issues that have been voiced in our study about privacy and confidentiality, it may be time for the ED to revisit the number of members of the public that can be safely, and comfortably, accommodated within patient treatment areas.

Limitations

This study is not without limitations. As with all studies involving qualitative methodologies, our findings are not generalizable beyond our local context. Exploring the transferability and resonance of our results to other ED settings will require additional research. Given that our study involved discussions with nurses and physicians who provided frontline medical care to patients, we cannot make statements regarding the experiences and opinions of patients who received medical care at the ED nor about the family members and visitors who may have accompanied them. Future research on patients', family members', and visitors' perspectives is needed.

Conclusions and Implications

To our knowledge, this is the first qualitative study to explore the impact of a Lean health care intervention on the ability of emergency medicine physicians and nurses to optimize conditions for patient privacy and confidentiality. The changes made in the ED included the construction of a three-zone front cell that received all of the patients flowed forward from triage. Each front zone housed an open concept area outfitted with a set of chairs. Our research illuminated that although, in theory, physicians and nurses perceived that the chairs were viewed as adding value to the ED environment, in practice, the chairs served the multiple, and often, competing uses by patients, family members, and visitors. In an attempt to work around the limitations they encountered and keep patients flowing from triage, physicians and nurses revealed that they often needed to move a patient out from a front chair and then go to actively search for another location in the ED that better protected the individual's informational and physical privacy. These searches involved clinical time and likely impacted the length of stay experienced by some ED patients. We advocate that the physical structure and configuration of the front cell should be re-examined under the lens of Lean's principle of value-added activities. Future exploration of the perspectives of patients, family members, and visitors regarding the relative importance of privacy and confidentiality during ED care is warranted.



Acknowledgments

The authors would like to express gratitude to the individuals who participated in this study.

Authors' Contributions

EMZ conceptualized the study, managed the recruitment process, interviewed participants, and was the primary data analyst. LS and RB provided feedback on the interview guide and reviewed ongoing data analyses. EMZ wrote the initial manuscript, and the other authors provided feedback and edits of the manuscript toward the final version.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario. The Practice Guide: Medical Professionalism and College Policies URL: <u>https://www.cpso.on.ca/CPSO/media/documents/Policies/Policy-Items/PracticeGuideSept07_nolinks.pdf</u> [accessed 2018-11-26] [WebCite Cache ID 74Dr7eeWN]
- Canadian Nurses Association. 2017. Code of Ethics for Registered Nurses URL: <u>https://www.cna-aiic.ca/-/media/cna/page-content/pdf-en/code-of-ethics-2017-edition-secure-interactive.pdf</u> [accessed 2018-11-26] [WebCite Cache ID 74DrC29Fe]
- Moskop JC, Marco CA, Larkin GL, Geiderman JM, Derse AR. From Hippocrates to HIPAA: privacy and confidentiality in emergency medicine--part I: conceptual, moral, and legal foundations. Ann Emerg Med 2005 Jan;45(1):53-59. [doi: 10.1016/j.annemergmed.2004.08.008] [Medline: 15635311]
- 4. Knopp RK, Satterlee PA. Confidentiality in the emergency department. Send to Emerg Med Clin North Am 1999 May;17(2):385-396. [doi: 10.1016/S0733-8627(05)70066-3] [Medline: 10429635]
- 5. Geiderman JM, Moskop JC, Derse AR. Privacy and confidentiality in emergency medicine: obligations and challenges. Emerg Med Clin North Am 2006 Aug;24(3):633-656. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.emc.2006.05.005</u>] [Medline: <u>16877134</u>]
- 6. Nayeri ND, Aghajani M. Patients' privacy and satisfaction in the emergency department: a descriptive analytical study. Nurs Ethics 2010 Mar;17(2):167-177. [doi: 10.1177/0969733009355377] [Medline: 20185441]
- Redfern E, Brown R, Vincent CA. Identifying vulnerabilities in communication in the emergency department. Emerg Med J 2009 Sep;26(9):653-657. [doi: 10.1136/emj.2008.065318] [Medline: 19700582]
- 8. Kovacs G, Croskerry P. Clinical decision making: an emergency medicine perspective. Acad Emerg Med 1999 Sep;6(9):947-952. [doi: 10.1111/j.1553-2712.1999.tb01246.x]
- 9. Rondeau KV, Francescutti LH. Emergency department overcrowding: the impact of resource scarcity on physician job satisfaction. J Healthc Manag 2005;50(5):327-40; discussion 341. [Medline: <u>16268411</u>]
- Skaugset LM, Farrell S, Carney M, Wolff M, Santen SA, Perry M, et al. Can you multitask? Evidence and limitations of task switching and multitasking in emergency medicine. Ann Emerg Med 2016 Dec;68(2):189-195. [doi: 10.1016/j.annemergmed.2015.10.003] [Medline: 26585046]
- 11. Ulrich RS, Zimring C, Zhu X, DuBose J, Seo HB, Choi YS, et al. A review of the research literature on evidence-based healthcare design. HERD 2008 Apr;1(3):61-125. [doi: 10.1177/193758670800100306] [Medline: 21161908]
- 12. Ulrich RS, Berry LL, Quan X, Parish JT. A conceptual framework for the domain of evidence-based design. HERD 2010 Oct;4(1):95-114. [doi: 10.1177/193758671000400107]
- Mlinek EJ, Pierce J. Confidentiality and privacy breaches in a university hospital emergency department. Acad Emerg Med 1997;4(12):1142-1146. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1553-2712.1997.tb03697.x</u>] [Medline: <u>9408430</u>]
- Zhang XC, Kobayashi L, Berger M, Reddy PM, Chheng DB, Gorham SA, et al. Objective assessment and thematic categorization of patient-audible information in an emergency department. Acad Emerg Med 2015 Oct;22(10):1222-1225 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/acem.12762] [Medline: 26426524]
- 15. Karro J, Dent AW, Farish S. Patient perceptions of privacy infringements in an emergency department. Emerg Med Australas 2005 Apr;17(2):117-123. [doi: 10.1111/j.1742-6723.2005.00702.x] [Medline: 15796725]
- Barlas D, Sama AE, Ward MF, Lesser ML. Comparison of the auditory and visual privacy of emergency department treatment areas with curtains versus those with solid walls. Ann Emerg Med 2001 Aug;38(2):135-139. [doi: <u>10.1067/mem.2001.115441</u>] [Medline: <u>11468607</u>]
- 17. Lin YK, Lin CJ. Factors predicting patients' perception of privacy and satisfaction for emergency care. Emerg Med J 2011 Jul;28(7):604-608. [doi: 10.1136/emj.2010.093807] [Medline: 20660898]
- 18. Holden RJ. Lean Thinking in emergency departments: a critical review. Ann Emerg Med 2011 Mar;57(3):265-278. [doi: 10.1016/j.annemergmed.2010.08.001] [Medline: 21035904]
- Vermeulen MJ, Stukel TA, Guttmann A, Rowe BH, Zwarenstein M, Golden B, ED Investigator Team. Evaluation of an emergency department lean process improvement program to reduce length of stay. Ann Emerg Med 2014 Nov;64(5):427-438 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.annemergmed.2014.06.007] [Medline: 24999281]
- 20. Womack JP, Jones DT. Beyond Toyota: How to root out waste and pursue perfection. Harv Bus Rev 1996;74(5):140-158.

- 21. Joosten T, Bongers I, Janssen R. Application of lean thinking to health care: issues and observations. Int J Qual Health Care 2009 Oct;21(5):341-347 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/intqhc/mzp036] [Medline: 19696048]
- 22. Bamber GJ, Stanton P, Bartram T, Ballardie R. Human resource management, Lean processes and outcomes for employees: towards a research agenda. Int J Hum Res Manage 2014 Nov 06;25(21):2881-2891. [doi: 10.1080/09585192.2014.962563]
- 23. Costa LB, Godinho Filho M. Lean healthcare: review, classification and analysis of literature. Prod Plan Control 2016 Feb 18;27(10):823-836. [doi: 10.1080/09537287.2016.1143131]
- 24. Moraros J, Lemstra M, Nwankwo C. Lean interventions in healthcare: do they actually work? A systematic literature review. Int J Qual Health Care 2016 Apr;28(2):150-165 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/intqhc/mzv123] [Medline: 26811118]
- 25. Hakim H. Not just for cars: lean methodology. Nurs Manage 2014 Mar;45(3):39-43. [doi: 10.1097/01.NUMA.0000443942.06621.6e] [Medline: 24569681]
- Zibrowski E, Shepherd L, Sedig K, Booth R, Gibson C. Easier and Faster Is Not Always Better: Grounded Theory of the Impact of Large-Scale System Transformation on the Clinical Work of Emergency Medicine Nurses and Physicians. JMIR Hum Factors 2018;5(4):e11013 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11013] [Medline: 30545817]
- 27. Strauss AL, Corbin JM. Basics of Qualitative Research: Grounded Theory Procedures and Techniques. Second Edition. Newbury Park, California: Sage Publications; 1990.
- 28. Corbin JM, Strauss AL. Basics of Qualitative Research: Techniques and Procedures for Developing Grounded Theory. Fourth edition. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage Publications; 2015.
- 29. Foley G, Timonen V. Using grounded theory method to capture and analyze health care experiences. Health Serv Res 2015 Aug;50(4):1195-1210 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/1475-6773.12275] [Medline: 25523315]
- 30. Hennink MM, Kaiser BN, Marconi VC. Code saturation versus meaning saturation: how many interviews are enough? Qual Health Res 2017 Mar;27(4):591-608. [doi: 10.1177/1049732316665344] [Medline: 27670770]
- 31. Coyne IT. Sampling in qualitative research. Purposeful and theoretical sampling; merging or clear boundaries? J Adv Nurs 1997 Sep;26(3):623-630. [doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2648.1997.t01-25-00999.x]
- 32. Codinhoto R, Aouad G, Kagioglou M, Tzortzopoulos P, Cooper R. Evidence-based design of health care facilities. J Health Serv Res Policy 2009 Oct;14(4):194-196. [doi: 10.1258/jhsrp.2009.009094] [Medline: 19770116]
- 33. Wise-Harris D, Pauly D, Kahan D, Tan de Bibiana J, Hwang SW, Stergiopoulos V. "Hospital was the Only Option": experiences of frequent emergency department users in mental health. Adm Policy Ment Health 2017 May 21;44(3):405-412. [doi: 10.1007/s10488-016-0728-3] [Medline: 26961781]
- 34. Stoklosa H, Scannell M, Ma Z, Rosner B, Hughes A, Bohan JS. Do EPs change their clinical behaviour in the hallway or when a companion is present? A cross-sectional survey. Emerg Med J 2018 Jul 13;35(7):406-411 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/emermed-2017-207119] [Medline: 29431142]
- 35. Wellstood K, Wilson K, Eyles J. "Unless you went in with your head under your arm": patient perceptions of emergency room visits. Soc Sci Med 2005 Dec;61(11):2363-2373. [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.04.033] [Medline: 15953669]
- Annemans M, Van Audenhove C, Vermolen H, Heylighen A. The role of space in patients' experience of an emergency department: a qualitative study. J Emerg Nurs 2018 Mar;44(2):139-145. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jen.2017.11.002</u>] [Medline: <u>29223695</u>]
- 37. Gordon J, Sheppard LA, Anaf S. The patient experience in the emergency department: a systematic synthesis of qualitative research. Int Emerg Nurs 2010 Apr;18(2):80-88. [doi: 10.1016/j.ienj.2009.05.004] [Medline: 20382369]
- 38. Watson WT, Marshall ES, Fosbinder D. Elderly patients' perceptions of care in the emergency department. J Emerg Nurs 1999 Apr;25(2):88-92. [doi: 10.1016/S0099-1767(99)70152-2]
- 39. Canadian Radio-Television and Telecommunications Commission (CRTC). 2017. Communications monitoring report 2017 URL: <u>https://crtc.gc.ca/eng/publications/reports/policymonitoring/2017/index.htm [WebCite Cache ID 73tudo31K]</u>
- 40. Canadian Medical Protective Association. 2017. Smartphone recordings by patients: be prepared, it's happening URL: https://www.cmpa-acpm.ca/en/advice-publications/browse-articles/2017/
- <u>smartphone-recordings-by-patients-be-prepared-it-s-happening</u> [accessed 2018-11-13] [WebCite Cache ID 73tuwBWrY]
 41. Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health. 2011 Nov 30. Canadian hospital policies on wireless communication
- device use URL: <u>https://www.cadth.ca/canadian-hospital-policies-wireless-communication-device-use</u> [accessed 2018-11-13] [WebCite Cache ID 73twPfViM]
- 42. Oyedokun T, Donauer A, Stempien J, McKay S. Self-documentary in the emergency department: perspectives on patients recording their own procedures. Can J Emerg Med 2018 Aug 20:1-7. [doi: <u>10.1017/cem.2018.423</u>] [Medline: <u>30124176</u>]

Abbreviations

ED: emergency department

Edited by A Kushniruk; submitted 21.08.18; peer-reviewed by D Wilkerson, V Gregory; comments to author 10.11.18; revised version received 14.11.18; accepted 18.11.18; published 06.02.19. <u>Please cite as:</u> Zibrowski E, Shepherd L, Booth R, Sedig K, Gibson C A Qualitative Study of the Theory Behind the Chairs: Balancing Lean-Accelerated Patient Flow With the Need for Privacy and Confidentiality in an Emergency Medicine Setting JMIR Hum Factors 2019;6(1):e11714 URL: http://humanfactors.jmir.org/2019/1/e11714/ doi:10.2196/11714 PMID:30724743

©Elaine Zibrowski, Lisa Shepherd, Richard Booth, Kamran Sedig, Candace Gibson. Originally published in JMIR Human Factors (http://humanfactors.jmir.org), 06.02.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Human Factors, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://humanfactors.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Supporting Older Adults in Exercising With a Tablet: A Usability Study

Sumit Mehra^{1,2,3}, MSc; Bart Visser⁴, PhD; Nazli Cila², PhD; Jantine van den Helder^{4,5}, MSc; Raoul HH Engelbert^{4,6}, PhD; Peter JM Weijs^{5,7,8}, PhD; Ben JA Kröse^{2,3}, PhD

¹Applied Psychology, Faculty of Applied Social Sciences and Law, Amsterdam University of Applied Sciences, Amsterdam, Netherlands ²CREATE-IT Applied Research Centre, Faculty of Digital Media and Creative Industries, Amsterdam University of Applied Sciences, Amsterdam, Netherlands

³Informatics Institute, Faculty of Science, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands

⁴Amsterdam Centre for Innovative Health Practice, Faculty of Health, Amsterdam University of Applied Sciences, Amsterdam, Netherlands

⁵Faculty of Sports and Nutrition, Amsterdam University of Applied Sciences, Amsterdam, Netherlands

⁶Department of Rehabilitation, Amsterdam Movement Sciences, Academic Medical Center, Amsterdam, Netherlands

⁷Department of Internal Medicine, Nutrition and Dietetics, VU University Medical Centre, Amsterdam, Netherlands

⁸Amsterdam Public Health Research Institute, Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, VU University Medical Center, Amsterdam, Netherlands

Corresponding Author:

Sumit Mehra, MSc CREATE-IT Applied Research Centre Faculty of Digital Media and Creative Industries Amsterdam University of Applied Sciences Wibautstraat 2-4 Amsterdam, 1091GM Netherlands Phone: 31 0621156956 Email: <u>s.mehra@hva.nl</u>

Abstract

Background: For older adults, physical activity is vital for maintaining their health and ability to live independently. Home-based programs can help them achieve the recommended exercise frequency. An application for a tablet computer was developed to support older adults in following a personal training program. It featured goal setting, tailoring, progress tracking, and remote feedback.

Objective: In line with the Medical Research Council Framework, which prescribes thorough testing before evaluating the efficacy with a randomized controlled trial, the aim of this study was to assess the usability of a tablet-based app that was designed to support older adults in doing exercises at home.

Methods: A total of 15 older adults, age ranging from 69 to 99 years old, participated in a usability study that utilized a mixed-methods approach. In a laboratory setting, novice users were asked to complete a series of tasks while verbalizing their ongoing thoughts. The tasks ranged from looking up information about exercises and executing them to tailoring a weekly exercise schedule. Performance errors and time-on-task were calculated as proxies of effective and efficient usage. Overall satisfaction was assessed with a posttest interview. All responses were analyzed independently by 2 researchers.

Results: The participants spent 13-85 seconds time-on-task. Moreover, 79% (11/14)-100% (14/14) participants completed the basic tasks with either no help or after having received 1 hint. For expert tasks, they needed a few more hints. During the posttest interview, the participants made 3 times more positive remarks about the app than negative remarks.

Conclusions: The app that was developed to support older adults in doing exercises at home is usable by the target audience. First-time users were able to perform basic tasks in an effective and efficient manner. In general, they were satisfied with the app. Tasks that were associated with behavior execution and evaluation were performed with ease. Complex tasks such as tailoring a personal training schedule needed more effort. Learning effects, usefulness, and long-term satisfaction will be investigated through longitudinal follow-up studies.

(JMIR Hum Factors 2019;6(1):e11598) doi: 10.2196/11598

KEYWORDS

frail elderly; aged; activities of daily living; exercise; health behavior; telemedicine; mobile devices; tablet computers; usability testing; mobile phone

Introduction

Physical Activity Interventions for Older Adults

Physical activity is vital for a healthy life. A sedentary lifestyle is associated with numerous health-related problems such as obesity, diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, various forms of cancer, and depression [1,2]. Furthermore, for older adults, physical activity can prevent or delay the onset of functional impairments and prolong the ability to live independently [3]. Provided by these well-acknowledged health benefits, community-based physical activity programs have spawned across the world [4,5]. A prototypical example of such a program that has been running for over 35 years in the Netherlands is "More Exercise for Seniors" (Meer Bewegen voor Ouderen, abbreviated as MBvO in Dutch). Weekly, 400,000 older adults exercise in a group under the guidance of an instructor. Despite the popularity of this program, however, its effects on physical health appear to be insufficient [6]. In particular, studies show a need for higher frequency and longer exercise duration to capitalize on the health benefits of physical activity [7,8].

To achieve the recommended frequency and duration, a home-based exercise program could prove a useful addition to a community-based program such as MBvO. With the convenience of their home, older adults can continue the exercises they have learned during the weekly community classes. A focus-group study showed that the MBvO participants believed additional home exercises would be useful but also had worries about the safety, self-efficacy, and adherence to such an intervention [9].

Technology Use

Mobile health (mHealth), that is, the use of mobile devices and wireless technology for medical and health practices [10], is increasingly being used to attain health goals, for instance, increasing physical activity, weight loss, stress reduction, or chronic disease management like diabetes. In 2017, over 325,000 health apps were available for the general public through the various app stores [11]. Health professionals, policy makers, and researchers recognize the opportunity to reach a large audience through developing technology-enhanced interventions for various target populations and health outcomes. Increasing physical activity in older adults is one of such intended health outcomes [12-16]. In contrast to popular belief that older adults are not inclined to use technology, the ownership of tablet computers among older adults is growing rapidly [17-19]. The popularity of tablets stems possibly from its usability. Studies show that older adults are able to operate tablets better than personal computers [20,21] or smartphones owing to their large touchscreen [22]. It is not surprising that recent health interventions for older adults choose tablets as the primary mode of delivery [23-27].

Development of a Tablet-Based Intervention

To increase the physical activity in older adults and capitalize on the potential of mHealth, a technology-enhanced intervention was developed as part of the Motivating Technology for Older Adults' Behavior (MOTO-B) and VITal Amsterdam elderly IN the city (VITAMIN) projects. The aim of these projects was to develop an mHealth intervention that can be used in conjunction with existing community-based exercise programs. By supporting older adults to perform exercises at home as well, it helps them to achieve the recommended exercise duration and frequency [7,8].

To develop the intervention, the Medical Research Council (MRC) framework was used [28,29]. This framework describes the process of developing, pilot-testing, assessing the effectiveness, and implementing complex health interventions. As part of the development stage, focus groups were conducted with prospective users, and relevant literature was identified, which led to 3 design considerations [9,30]. First, physical activity should be supported by functional exercises that can be executed safely within a home environment. Second, to facilitate behavior change, the intervention should support self-regulation. Third, a blended approach allows the convenience of a home-based exercise program and the ability to tailor the intervention to individual needs to be combined with the effectiveness of rich feedback and social support.

These design considerations were implemented in a tablet-based app called VITAMIN that delivered a home-based exercise program in conjunction with coaching. Key components were goal setting, the ability to tailor the program to individual needs, video demonstration of functional exercises, rating of exercises, and progress tracking and feedback of a personal coach that could remotely monitor performance. See Mehra et al. [30] for a detailed account of how behavior change principles were translated into the blended intervention.

Prior to evaluating the efficacy of the intervention in terms of health outcomes, the feasibility should be assessed. This stage is often overlooked, leading to efficacy studies of interventions that have not matured yet and problems that could have been prevented with sufficient pilot testing [29]. Usability issues are one of the key factors that determine the success of mHealth interventions [31,32]. Usability is defined as the extent that devices can be operated by users to achieve the specified goals with effectiveness, efficiency, and satisfaction in a specified context of use [33]. In line with the feasibility stage of the MRC framework, this study sets out to investigate the usability of the tablet-supported intervention. The aim was to assess whether first-time users could operate the VITAMIN app that was designed to support older adults in doing home-based exercises. First-time users are older adults that have no prior experience of using the app.

Methods

Study Design

Zapata et al [32] conducted a systematic review on how the usability of mHealth apps is being evaluated. The majority of the studies use either interviews or questionnaires to investigate usability. These methods rely on self-report of prospective users after having used the device. These methods are suitable to gauge user satisfaction but in lesser degree effectiveness and efficiency. In contrast, other studies investigate the usability by observing users as they try to complete prescribed tasks on the device. This method is a reliable estimate of effectiveness and efficiency but not user satisfaction. Combining various methods to evaluate usability is therefore the recommended approach, although only a few studies do so [32].

This study used mixed methods to investigate the usability of the VITAMIN app. To evaluate effectiveness and efficiency, user performance was recorded and assessed as they executed tasks in a laboratory setting. Satisfaction was evaluated by asking the participants to "think aloud" during the execution of tasks. This is a common technique used in usability studies where users are requested to verbalize their ongoing thoughts as they execute a task [34]. After performing the tasks, participants were interviewed about their overall impression of the app.

Participants

A total of 15 older adults, 4 men and 11 women, were recruited from local community centers that offer weekly exercise programs. Inclusion criteria were that the participants be at least 55 years old, living independently at home, and taking part in the weekly exercise classes offered by the community center. Exclusion criteria were mental or physical health conditions that could prevent them of operating a tablet, such as the presence of tremors or cataract. Both the inclusion and exclusion criteria match those of a future randomized controlled trial (NTR5888) and the intended implementation of the intervention as an addition to existing community-based exercise programs [35].

Materials

Tablet Application

The app was designed for a 10-inch Android tablet. The main functions of the VITAMIN app were delineated by 5 distinct tabs in the home screen: (1) Exercises, (2) Profile, (3) Weekly Schedule, (4) Today, and (5) Video Calling. *Exercises* is a library that contained 16 functional exercises, designed by

human movement scientists, that were devised to be executed in a home setting with ordinary household objects as aids. Each exercise consisted of 3 versions that varied in difficulty. For each variation, a custom-made video with a voiceover was shot (48 in total) that depicted how the exercise could be executed safely (modeling). The video was accompanied by a factsheet that contained background information about the exercise (Figures 1 and 2). *Profile* is the possibility to formulate personal goals and a step-by-step wizard that helped users to set up a weekly schedule with suitable exercises (goal setting & tailoring). Weekly Schedule is an overview with icons depicting which exercises were planned for each day of the week (Figure 3). Users could checkmark exercises that had been performed and see, in a glance, what still had to be done (progress tracking). Today is a reel of exercises that were planned for that day. To aid the execution, a countdown timer depicted the remaining seconds. Prior to the execution, the user could customize each exercise using 3 parameters: the duration of the exercise, the amount of repetitions of the exercise, and the difficulty level (Figures 4-6). After the completion of each exercise, the user could rate the exercise using 3 scales on difficulty, effort, and fun (Figure 7). Video Calling is the option to video call an appointed coach that could motivate and assist the user from distance (motivational interviewing). This coach could also remotely monitor the weekly schedule and the user ratings of each exercise (Figure 8).

The typical use of the app would be exploring the available exercises (1) and setting personal goals (2) during the initial use. The Weekly Schedule (3) and Today (4) tabs are used on a daily basis to assist users in performing their scheduled exercises. Finally, the Video Calling (5) tab is to be used when users want to evaluate and discuss their progress with their personal coach.

Usability Tasks

In order to test typical scenarios for novice users that have no to little experience using the app, a series of basic tasks were defined. The tasks were grouped around the 4 tabs: Exercise, Today, Weekly Schedule, and Video Calling described above. The Profile tab could not be tested because it was still in development at the time.

The basic tasks were designed with the novice user in mind. Three additional "expert tasks" were added to the testing procedure as a "back-up option" in case participants completed the basic tasks early. The expert tasks were defined as tasks that would be indicative for advanced users that have been using the app for an extended period of time (see Textbox 1 for a description for the basic and expert tasks that were tested).



Figure 1. Exercise library.

10000 - 12 00 - 12 0000
2. Staan op 1 been
🥭 4. Traplopen
🚺 6. Slalom
8. Kleine voorwerpen tillen en dragen
10. Grote voorwerpen tillen en dragen
12. Horizontaal reiken
14. Opstaan uit bed
16. Zelfverzorging

X	VANDAAG	WEEKSCHEMA	OEFENINGEN	HVA COACH	PROFIEL	FJ	(i)
---	---------	------------	------------	-----------	---------	----	-----







Figure 3. Personal training schedule.

WEEKS	СНЕМА	1/4	≂ i≪3 🕅 73% 3/28	5 🗎 18:27
Ø		vandaag Deze week	deze week WIJZIGEN	
Maandag	Gister	Vandaag	Morgen	
Slalom	(Snel)wandelen	(Snel)wandelen	(Snel)wandelen	
30 (31 AF1	830 Ø1 -4k-1	830 €31 -V+1	830 Ø1 -4F1	830
Opstaan uit een stoel met handen	Opstaan uit een stoel met handen	Zittend reiken	Opstaan uit een stoel met handen	
30 631 AF1	830 Ø1 -4−1	830 €31 -V+1	830 Ø1 -4−1	830
Zittend reiken	Voorwaarts op en afstappen	Gaan zitten op bed, vanuit zijlig	Gaan zitten op bed, vanuit zijlig	
	VANDAAG WEEKSCHEMA O	EFENINGEN HVA COACH		(i)



Figure 4. Today's program.





Mehra et al

Figure 5. Modifying execution parameters.

0000+					10 i¥i 7	73% 📋 18:28
	\rangle	O Duur (EFEN	IING AAI	NPASSI	EN 🛞
Zittend reiken		8	30	6()	120
	- 69	Herha	alingen 1	2		3
		Zwaa -₩-	rte: 1 1 •—	2		3
		C	STA	ART OEF	ENING	
VANDAAG WEEKSCHEMA	OEFENINGEN	HVA COA	асн	PROFIEL	5	(i)



Figure 6. Countdown timer during execution.



XSL•FO RenderX

Figure 7. Rating an exercise.

0000 ~	10	j 📢 🝸 🔏 73% 🛢 18:28
WEEKSCHEMA	vandaag	deze week
De:	ze week	
Maa Hoe ging	de oefening?	
Hoe lastig vond u het om de oefeningen goed uit	te voeren?	Moeilijk
30 Hoeveel inspanning kostte het om de oefeningen	te doen? Minimaal 5: Zwaar	Maximaal 🛛 🖉 3
Op sto Wat vond u van de oefeningen?	Niet leuk	Leuk 74
30 ANNULEREN	ок	83
Zittend reiken Voorwaarts op en afstappen	Gaan zitten op bed, vanuit zijlig	Gaan zitten op bed, vanuit zijlig
	NGEN HVA COACH PROFIEL	5 ()

Figure 8. Initiating a video call to the coach.

						📢 💈 🔟 72% 🔒 18:33
HyA CO	ACH					
				ر ۲	COAC BERICHT I ST SKYPE	H BELLEN NAAR COACH TUREN
	Su	umit Meh	ra			
×	/ANDAAG	WEEKSCHEMA	OEFENINGEN	HVA COACH	PROFIEL	5 (i)
Textbox 1. Description of the	e tasks that we	ere performed by th	ne participants.			
• Today:						
Today1: Execute the exercise	es that are sch	neduled for today. A	Adjust the duration	to 10 seconds and seconds are seconds and seconds are seconds and seconds are	et the repetition	to 1.
Today2: After completing ar	n exercise, rat	e the difficulty, effo	ort and fun using t -	hree scales.		
Today3: Find and watch the	instructional	video of exercise X	(). ()			
 Weekly Schedule: 	execution of	an exercise, pause	the countdown the	ier.		
Schedule1. Look up which e	avarcisas ara r	lanned for Friday				
Schedule2: Add an exercise	to your week	ly schedule that wi	ll increase your ca	pacity to pick up obj	ects from the fl	oor
Schedule3: In the weekly sch	hedule, remov	ve exercises so that	the maximum exe	rcises for that day is	three.	
Schedule4: Set an alarm so t	that you will g	get a daily reminder	r at 12.00.			
Schedule5 (expert): Yesterda	ay you forgot	to mark your exerc	ises as completed	Do this in retroaction	on.	
• Exercises:						
Exercise1: Look up information						
	tion about exe	ercise X.				
Exercise2 (expert): Study the	tion about exe e different var	ercise X. riations of exercise	Х.			
Exercise2 (expert): Study theVideo Calling:	tion about exe e different var	ercise X. riations of exercise	Х.			

XSL•FO RenderX

Procedure

Participants were received in the usability lab of the university by an experimenter and an assistant. After signing an informed consent document and receiving a short verbal introduction, they were seated behind a desk. The participants were instructed to think aloud as they performed each task. If needed, they were encouraged to do so by asking "what do you see?" or "what are you trying to achieve?" during the experiment. If participants were stuck during the execution of a task, they were given a verbal hint by the experimenter after 30 seconds, for instance "the button you are looking for can be found in the top left-hand corner." In this manner, the participant could continue with the rest of the task.

After practicing the procedure with a trial run, they were asked to perform the tasks as described in Textbox 1. The order of the tasks was fixed in principle, but some tasks were skipped if the experimenter felt this was appropriate. Occasionally, some participants deviated from the goal and explored the functions of the app. In some cases, this situation made certain future tasks irrelevant. For instance, if a participant already deliberately removed exercises from the weekly schedule during the task Schedule2, performing Schedule3 was skipped for that specific participant. Furthermore, the expert tasks were given only to the participants whose pace was high and when the experimenter believed that the participant would be able to complete all the tasks within the allocated time.

After completing the tasks, the tablet was put aside and the participants were shortly interviewed about their general impression of the app. The sessions lasted 45 minutes in total and were video recorded. Furthermore, the user's interaction with the tablet was recorded by screen capture software.

Data Analysis

All recordings were transcribed and coded using software for qualitative analysis (MaxQDA). Two researchers independently coded 4 metrics of the aggregated dataset:

- 1. Time-on-task: the average time the participants spent on executing a task.
- 2. Hints: the average number of hints that were given during the execution of a task.
- 3. Success rate: the proportion of participants that completed the task successfully without any hints, completed the task successfully with hints, and could not complete the task.

Errors: the average amount of errors that were made by participants during the execution of a task. A distinction was made between the following: strategy errors: not knowing how to approach the task (eg, not knowing how to add exercises to the weekly schedule); interaction errors: not knowing how to execute the strategy (eg, unable to find the play button); and operating errors: being unable to operate the device (eg, swiping).

Furthermore, the remarks of the participants during the execution of a task (think-aloud protocol) and posttest interview were classified as either positive, neutral, negative, or a suggestion for improvement. After both coders annotated the data independently, they compared the results. Differences were resolved via discussion. If no consensus was achieved, the first author settled the rare dispute.

Results

Participant Characteristics

The ages of the 15 participants varied from 69 to 99 years old with an average of 77 years (SD 8.5). The majority indicated they had no prior experience operating a tablet.

Time-on-Task, Success Rate, and Satisfaction of Basic Tasks

The results of 1 participant were excluded from the study because she turned out to be insufficient in Dutch to understand the assigned tasks, and her responses could not be coded reliably. The remaining participants spent 13-85 seconds time-on-task for the basic tasks that were indicative for novice users. Depending on the task, 79% (11-14)-100% (14/14) of the participants completed the tasks successfully with either no help or after having received 1 hint.

Despite the fact that the tasks could be completed successfully by the majority of the participants, their performance varied greatly across different tasks. Executing an exercise (Today1), watching an instructional video (Today3), and video calling a coach (Video1) were conducted relatively easy, as demonstrated by the high success rate without any help. In contrast, adding an exercise to the weekly schedule (Schedule2) appeared to be a more difficult task, indicated by the relatively high failure rate (see Table 1 for the average time-on-task, amounts of hints given, and success rate for the basic tasks). The type of errors that were made ranged from strategy and interaction errors to operating errors (Table 2).

In addition to task performance, the satisfaction per task was assessed with the think-aloud protocol. The majority of the basic tasks elicited more positive remarks than negative remarks during the execution (see Table 3 for the type of remarks per task). Participants were most positive about performing the daily exercises from the Today tab (Today1). This task elicited 3 times more positive remarks than negative remarks. Examples are "I think this is great. A short break. A[n] interval," "... yes, very easy," and "...this is very convenient" or "it is quite orderly." In contrast, the participants were not enthusiastic about looking up information in the Exercise library (Exercise1). During this task, participants could read background information about an exercise. This task elicited 2 times more negative remarks than positive remarks. Examples are "I think this is a lot of text" or "...this is not of much use." The suggestions made by the participants were "...look, you call it domain. I would use a different term for this" or "I think the text should be shorter." Also, for watching an instructional video (Today3), participants had several suggestions about enlarging the video to full screen, for example, "enlarging with two fingers would be useful" or "a different symbol for enlarging the video would perhaps be better."

Mehra et al

Table 1.	Participants who	performed the task (N),	average time-on-task,	number of hints give	en, and success-	and failure rates for basic tasl	ks.
----------	------------------	-------------------------	-----------------------	----------------------	------------------	----------------------------------	-----

Basic task	Participants, n	Time-on-task (s)	Hints	Success without hints, n (%)	Success with hints, n (%)	Failure, n (%)
Today1	14	78	1.0	10 (71)	3 (21)	1 (7)
Today2	14	59	0.9	6 (43)	8 (57)	0 (0)
Today3	12	20	0.8	7 (58)	4 (33)	1 (8)
Schedule1	12	33	0.8	5 (42)	5 (42)	2 (17)
Schedule2	14	85	0.9	2 (14)	9 (64)	3 (21)
Schedule3	11	60	0.9	0 (0)	10 (91)	1 (9)
Schedule4	13	85	1.1	6 (46)	6 (46)	1 (8)
Exercise1	13	19	0.8	6 (46)	6 (46)	1 (8)
Video1	11	13	1.1	6 (55)	5 (45)	0 (0)

Table 2. Participants who performed the task (n) and the average number of errors made for basic tasks.

Basic task	Participants, n	Strategy errors	Interaction errors	Operation errors
Today1	14	0.8	0.2	0.4
Today2	14	0.2	0.0	0.5
Today3	12	0.0	0.2	0.2
Schedule1	12	0.4	0.1	0.0
Schedule2	14	0.5	0.5	0.7
Schedule3	11	0.5	0.5	0.4
Schedule4	13	0.4	0.4	0.1
Exercise1	13	0.8	0.0	0.2
Video1	11	0.1	0.0	0.0

Table 3. Participants who performed the task (n) and the total number of remarks evaluated as either positive, negative, neutral, or a suggestion for basic tasks.

Basic task	Participants, n	Positive	Negative	Neutral	Suggestions
Today1	14	18	6	2	1
Today2	14	3	1	3	0
Today3	12	8	4	0	5
Schedule1	12	1	2	1	0
Schedule2	14	3	1	1	1
Schedule3	11	3	1	0	3
Schedule4	13	9	9	0	7
Exercise1	13	4	8	1	8
Video1	11	3	2	0	2

Time-on-Task, Success Rate, and Satisfaction of Expert Tasks

Besides the basic tasks, a few participants also completed the expert tasks. The time-on-task varied from 14 to 58 seconds. The success rate varied from 75% to 100%. As could be expected, more hints were needed to complete the tasks successfully compared with the basic tasks described earlier.

Marking an exercise retroactively as completed, which required the participant to tap and hold down for a certain amount of time, proved to be an especially difficult task. This task had the highest time-on-task, failure rate, and errors. The verbal remarks of the participants indicated that they appreciated the possibility of retroactively marking exercises as complete but found its operation difficult (see Tables 4 and 5 for details of the expert task performance; see Table 6 for the type of remarks per task).

Table 4.	Participants who	performed the task (n),	average time-on-task,	number of hints give	en, and success and fa	ulure rates for expert tas	ks
----------	------------------	-------------------------	-----------------------	----------------------	------------------------	----------------------------	----

Expert task	Participants, n	Time-on-task (s)	Hints	Success without hints, n (%)	Success with hints, n (%)	Failure, n (%)
Today4	4	14	3.5	2 (50)	1 (25)	1 (25)
Schedule5	8	58	1.5	1 (13)	5 (63)	2 (25)
Exercise2	4	18	3.5	1 (25)	3 (75)	0 (0)

Table 5. Participants who performed the task (n) and average number of errors made for basic tasks.

Expert task	Participants, n	Strategy errors	Interaction errors	Operation errors
Today4	4	0.0	0.5	0.0
Schedule5	8	0.4	0.4	0.6
Exercise2	4	0.8	0.0	0.0

Table 6. Participants who performed the task (n) and the total number of remarks evaluated as either positive, negative, neutral, or a suggestion for expert tasks.

Expert task	Participants, n	Positive	Negative	Neutral	Suggestions
Today4 (expert)	4	5	1	0	0
Schedule5 (expert)	8	3	2	1	2
Exercise2 (expert)	4	1	1	0	1

Overall Satisfaction

During the posttest interview, the participants were overall positive; 31 positive remarks were made against 10 negative remarks. The number of participants in the posttest interview (n) was 14. In this interview, 31 remarks were validated as positive, 10 as negative, 10 as neutral, and 22 as suggestions. Typical positive remarks were "Nice. I found easy to operate and fun," "it was pretty clear and straightforward," and "it's nice to do different exercises now and then." Examples of negative remarks were "I am not sure if I would use this app, because it seems to me as an invasion of privacy if every time you have to enter what you have done" or "it wasn't always clear." The participants also made several suggestions, often in the line of giving more extensive instructions prior to the first use. A typical remark was "maybe you could provide some more information. Like it works so and so. Perhaps a manual or something." This bore relevance to the brief verbal introduction they received about the app.

Discussion

Principal Findings

Overall, the app that was designed to support older adults in doing exercises at home appears to be usable for first-time users. After a brief introduction, the vast majority of the participants could complete the assigned tasks. They did this not only effectively (as indicated by the high success rate) but also efficiently. Mostly within 1-2 minutes, they successfully performed the tasks. Furthermore, the think-aloud remarks and posttest interview revealed that the users were satisfied with the app in general.

The performance varied from task to task. Basic tasks that were associated with supporting behavior execution (Today and

RenderX

Exercise) and evaluation (Video Calling) were completed successfully by the majority of the participants, whereas tasks that were associated with tailoring (Weekly Schedule) were more difficult for the users, as indicated by the longer task completion times and higher rate of errors.

The fact that the older adults in this usability study needed some minor help with performing the assigned tasks is not considered to be a major issue by the authors. First of all, the average age of the participants was 77 years old. The majority had never operated a tablet before and only received a short introduction of a few minutes before they had to perform the assigned tasks under the scrutiny of 2 observers. Observer effects and the think-aloud protocol are known to decrease performance for complex tasks in usability studies [36-38]. It is plausible that the participants would have performed better in the privacy of their own home where they feel more free from prying eyes. Second, the expert tasks were developed with an experienced "power user" in mind. It was designed in an unobtrusive manner not to clutter the interface for first-time users. Therefore, it was not surprising that the participants in the study, as first-time users, had more difficulties executing those tasks. Third, the app is designed to be implemented in a blended intervention in which a coach will be appointed. This coach will give hands-on support, face-to-face and remotely. Thus, in this particular case, receiving help to operate the app is not an artefact of the usability study but reflects the actual context of use.

Limitations and Future Work

The app is part of a blended intervention in which older adults participate in weekly group-based classes, perform tablet-supported exercises at home, and receive feedback by a personal coach. This study only evaluates if the app that is part of the blended intervention is usable for older adults. It does not evaluate other aspects of the intervention. Furthermore, the

usability study was conducted in a lab where users interacted with the app for a short period of time. It provides an indication of the usability for first-time users but not for long-term users. Learnability and user acceptance can only properly be studied when older adults have used the app for an extensive period of time. To investigate these matters, follow-up studies are planned. A randomized controlled trial will evaluate the efficacy of the blended intervention in terms of health outcomes [35]. Parallel to this randomized controlled trial, participants that have been using the app for 6 to 12 months will be questioned about the perceived usefulness, ease of use, learnability, and satisfaction on the long term [39]. To optimize reliability and validity, both questionnaires and interviews will be used.

Conclusion

In line with the MRC framework, an evidence-based blended intervention was developed to support older adults in performing functional exercises at home. The feasibility of the tablet-based app that was designed for this purpose has been validated by a usability study with mixed methods. Older adults were able to use the app in an effective and efficient manner. They were mostly also satisfied with the app. These findings pave the way to implement and evaluate the intervention in practice.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Jesse Beekman and Aduen Darriba Frederiks for developing the app. Also, gratitude is extended to Janine Cornelissen and Diede Kesler for their help with the usability study. This work is part of the research projects MOTO-B (Motivating Technology for Older Adults' Behavior; funded by Netherlands Organisation for Scientific Research, the Netherlands Organisation for Scientific Research, grant number 023.006.013) and VITAMIN (VITal Amsterdam elderly IN the city; funded by the Amsterdam University of Applied Sciences program Urban Vitality).

Conflicts of Interest

None Declared.

References

- Lee I, Shiroma EJ, Lobelo F, Puska P, Blair SN, Katzmarzyk PT, et al. Effect of physical inactivity on major non-communicable diseases worldwide: an analysis of burden of disease and life expectancy. Lancet 2012 Jul 21;380(9838):219-229 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61031-9] [Medline: 22818936]
- 2. Warburton DER, Nicol CW, Bredin SSD. Health benefits of physical activity: the evidence. CMAJ 2006 Mar 14;174(6):801-809 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1503/cmaj.051351] [Medline: 16534088]
- 3. Fried LP, Tangen CM, Walston J, Newman AB, Hirsch C, Gottdiener J, et al. Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2001 Mar;56(3):M146-M156. [Medline: <u>11253156</u>]
- 4. King A, Rejeski W, Buchner D. A critical review and recommendations. Am J Prev Med Internet Elsevier 1998.
- Taylor AH, Cable N, Faulkner G, Hillsdon M, Narici M, Van Der Bij AK. Physical activity and older adults: a review of health benefits and the effectiveness of interventions. J Sports Sci 2004 Aug;22(8):703-725. [doi: 10.1080/02640410410001712421]
- Stiggelbout M. Once a week is not enough: effects of a widely implemented group based exercise programme for older adults; a randomised controlled trial. Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health 2004 Feb 01;58(2):83-88. [doi: 10.1136/jech.58.2.83]
- Nelson ME, Rejeski WJ, Blair SN, Duncan PW, Judge JO, King AC, et al. Physical activity and public health in older adults: recommendation from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2007 Aug;39(8):1435-1445. [doi: 10.1249/mss.0b013e3180616aa2] [Medline: 17762378]
- American COSM, Chodzko-Zajko WJ, Proctor DN, Fiatarone SMA, Minson CT, Nigg CR, et al. American College of Sports Medicine position stand. Exercise and physical activity for older adults. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2009 Jul;41(7):1510-1530. [doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181a0c95c] [Medline: 19516148]
- Mehra S, Dadema T, Kröse BJA, Visser B, Engelbert RHH, van den Helder J, et al. Attitudes of Older Adults in a Group-Based Exercise Program Toward a Blended Intervention; A Focus-Group Study. Front Psychol 2016 Nov;7:1827 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01827] [Medline: 27920744]
- 10. World Health Organization. eHealth Internet URL: <u>http://www.who.int/ehealth/en/</u> [accessed 2018-11-22] [WebCite Cache ID 74783B1TK]
- 11. 325,000 mobile health apps available in 2017 Android now the leading mHealth platform. 2017. URL: <u>https://research2guidance.com/325000-mobile-health-apps-available-in-2017/</u> [accessed 2018-12-06] [WebCite Cache ID 74SzCurTv]
- Aalbers T, Baars M, Rikkert MGMO. Characteristics of effective Internet-mediated interventions to change lifestyle in people aged 50 and older: a systematic review. Ageing Res Rev 2011 Sep;10(4):487-497. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.arr.2011.05.001</u>] [Medline: <u>21628005</u>]

- French DP, Olander EK, Chisholm A, Mc Sharry J. Which behaviour change techniques are most effective at increasing older adults' self-efficacy and physical activity behaviour? A systematic review. Ann Behav Med 2014 Oct;48(2):225-234. [doi: 10.1007/s12160-014-9593-z] [Medline: 24648017]
- Valenzuela T, Okubo Y, Woodbury A, Lord SR, Delbaere K. Adherence to Technology-Based Exercise Programs in Older Adults: A Systematic Review. J Geriatr Phys Ther 2018;41(1):49-61. [doi: <u>10.1519/JPT.000000000000095</u>] [Medline: <u>27362526</u>]
- 15. Müller AM, Khoo S. Non-face-to-face physical activity interventions in older adults: a systematic review. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2014 Mar 10;11(1):35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-11-35] [Medline: 24612748]
- Muellmann S, Forberger S, Möllers T, Bröring E, Zeeb H, Pischke C. Effectiveness of eHealth interventions for the promotion of physical activity in older adults: A systematic review. Prev Med 2018 Mar;108:93-110. [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2017.12.026] [Medline: 29289643]
- 17. Anderson M. Technology Device Ownership: 2015. 2015 Oct 29. URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/2015/10/29/</u> technology-device-ownership-2015/ [accessed 2019-01-02] [WebCite Cache ID 757nSISzY]
- 18. Oosterveer D. 1 op de 5 Nederlandse huishoudens heeft 2 of meer tablets Internet. 2015. URL: <u>https://www.marketingfacts.nl/</u> berichten/twee-of-meer-tablets-per-huishouden-in-nederland [accessed 2018-11-22] [WebCite Cache ID 7479vOpJp]
- 19. Beek PVD. Ik Wil Mob Werken. De tablet populair onder ouderen een onderzoek Internet URL: <u>https://www.</u> ikwilmobielwerken.nl/orienteren/oudere-heeft-liever-een-tablet/
- 20. Murata A, Iwase H. Usability of touch-panel interfaces for older adults. Hum Factors 2005;47(4):767-776. [doi: 10.1518/001872005775570952] [Medline: 16553065]
- 21. Findlater L, Froehlich J, Fattal K, Wobbrock J, Dastyar T. CHI 2013: Changing Perspectives, Paris, France. 2013. Age-related differences in performance with touchscreens compared to traditional mouse input Internet URL: <u>https://faculty.washington.edu/wobbrock/pubs/chi-13.04.pdf</u> [accessed 2018-11-22] [WebCite Cache ID 747AXnipL]
- 22. Kobayashi M, Hiyama A, Miura T, Asakawa C, Hirose M, Ifukube T. Elderly User Evaluation of Mobile Touchscreen Interactions Internet. In: Human-Computer Interaction–INTERACT 2011: Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 2011:83-99.
- 23. Lee J, Jung D, Byun J, Lee M. Effects of a Combined Exercise Program Using an iPad for Older Adults. Healthc Inform Res 2016 Apr;22(2):65-72 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4258/hir.2016.22.2.65] [Medline: 27200215]
- 24. Dasgupta D, Chaudhry B, Koh E, Chawla NV. A Survey of Tablet Applications for Promoting Successful Aging in Older Adults. IEEE Access 2016;4:9005-9017. [doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2016.2632818]
- 25. Geraedts HAE, Zijlstra W, Zhang W, Spoorenberg SLW, Báez M, Far IK, et al. A Home-Based Exercise Program Driven by Tablet Application and Mobility Monitoring for Frail Older Adults: Feasibility and Practical Implications. Prev Chronic Dis 2017 Dec 02;14:E12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5888/pcd14.160227] [Medline: 28152361]
- 26. Lyons E, Swartz M, Lewis Z, Martinez E, Jennings K. Feasibility and Acceptability of a Wearable Technology Physical Activity Intervention With Telephone Counseling for Mid-Aged and Older Adults: A Randomized Controlled Pilot Trial. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Mar 06;5(3):e28 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.6967] [Medline: 28264796]
- Rich P, Aarons GA, Takemoto M, Cardenas V, Crist K, Bolling K, et al. Implementation-effectiveness trial of an ecological intervention for physical activity in ethnically diverse low income senior centers. BMC Public Health 2017 Dec 18;18(1):29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-017-4584-1] [Medline: 28720079]
- 28. Campbell M, Fitzpatrick R, Haines A, Kinmonth AL, Sandercock P, Spiegelhalter D, et al. Framework for design and evaluation of complex interventions to improve health. BMJ 2000 Sep 16;321(7262):694-696 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 10987780]
- 29. Craig P, Dieppe P, Macintyre S, Michie S, Nazareth I, Petticrew M, Medical Research Council Guidance. Developing and evaluating complex interventions: the new Medical Research Council guidance. BMJ 2008 Sep 29;337:a1655 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.a1655] [Medline: 18824488]
- 30. Mehra S, Visser B, Dadema T, van den Helder J, Engelbert RH, Weijs PJ, et al. Translating Behavior Change Principles Into a Blended Exercise Intervention for Older Adults: Design Study. JMIR Res Protoc 2018 May 02;7(5):e117 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.9244] [Medline: 29720358]
- McCurdie T, Taneva S, Casselman M, Yeung M, McDaniel C, Ho W, et al. mHealth consumer apps: the case for user-centered design. Biomed Instrum Technol 2012 Sep;Suppl:49-56 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2345/0899-8205-46.s2.49] [Medline: 23039777]
- 32. Zapata B, Fernández-Alemán JL, Idri A, Toval A. Empirical studies on usability of mHealth apps: a systematic literature review. J Med Syst 2015 Feb;39(2):1. [doi: 10.1007/s10916-014-0182-2] [Medline: 25600193]
- 33. Online Browsing Platform (OBP). URL: <u>https://www.iso.org/obp/ui/</u> [accessed 2018-11-22] [WebCite Cache ID 747BhRXrc]
- 34. Boren T, Ramey J. Thinking aloud: reconciling theory and practice. IEEE Trans Prof Commun Internet 2000.
- 35. van den Helder J, van Dronkelaar C, Tieland M, Mehra S, Dadema T, Visser B, et al. A digitally supported home-based exercise training program and dietary protein intervention for community dwelling older adults: protocol of the cluster randomised controlled VITAMIN trial. BMC Geriatr 2018 Aug 14;18(1):183 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12877-018-0863-7] [Medline: 30107787]

- Sonderegger A, Sauer J. The influence of laboratory set-up in usability tests: effects on user performance, subjective ratings and physiological measures. Ergonomics 2009 Nov;52(11):1350-1361. [doi: <u>10.1080/00140130903067797</u>] [Medline: <u>19851903</u>]
- Uebelbacher A, Sonderegger A, Sauer J. Effects of Perceived Prototype Fidelity in Usability Testing under Different Conditions of Observer Presence. Interact Comput Internet Oxford University Press Jan 2013:91-101. [doi: 10.1093/iwc/iws002]
- 38. Riihiaho S. Experiences with usability testingffects of thinking aloud and moderator presence. [diss] Perustieteiden korkeakoulu / SCI 2015 [FREE Full text]
- 39. Lund A. Usability interfaces. 2001. Measuring usability with the USE questionnaire URL: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Arnold_Lund/publication/230786746_Measuring_Usability_with_the_USE_Questionnaire/links/56e5a90e08ae98445c21561c/Measuring-Usability-with-the-USE-Questionnaire.pdf [accessed 2018-11-22] [WebCite Cache ID 747CTZUix]</u>

Abbreviations

MBvO: Meer Bewegen voor Ouderen (Dutch for More Exercise for Seniors) mHealth: mobile health MOTO-B: Motivating Technology for Older Adults' Behavior MRC: Medical Research Council VITAMIN: VITal Amsterdam elderly IN the city

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 16.07.18; peer-reviewed by M Takemoto, J Li; comments to author 30.08.18; revised version received 05.10.18; accepted 30.10.18; published 01.02.19.

Please cite as:

Mehra S, Visser B, Cila N, van den Helder J, Engelbert RHH, Weijs PJM, Kröse BJA Supporting Older Adults in Exercising With a Tablet: A Usability Study JMIR Hum Factors 2019;6(1):e11598 URL: <u>http://humanfactors.jmir.org/2019/1/e11598/</u> doi:10.2196/11598 PMID:30707106

©Sumit Mehra, Bart Visser, Nazli Cila, Jantine van den Helder, Raoul HH Engelbert, Peter JM Weijs, Ben JA Kröse. Originally published in JMIR Human Factors (http://humanfactors.jmir.org), 01.02.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Human Factors, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://humanfactors.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Advancing Cardiac Surgery Case Planning and Case Review Conferences Using Virtual Reality in Medical Libraries: Evaluation of the Usability of Two Virtual Reality Apps

Sandeep Napa¹, MBBS; Michael Moore², MISt; Tania Bardyn², MLIS

¹Department of Biomedical Informatics and Medical Education, School of Medicine, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, United States ²Health Sciences Library, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, United States

Corresponding Author: Sandeep Napa, MBBS Department of Biomedical Informatics and Medical Education School of Medicine University of Washington T334 Health Sciences Building 1959 NE Pacific Street Seattle, WA, 98195 United States Phone: 1 2062219010 Email: sandeepnapa@me.com

Abstract

Background: Care providers and surgeons prepare for cardiac surgery using case conferences to review, discuss, and run through the surgical procedure. Surgeons visualize a patient's anatomy to decide the right surgical approach using magnetic resonance imaging and echocardiograms in a presurgical case planning session. Previous studies have shown that surgical errors can be reduced through the effective use of immersive virtual reality (VR) to visualize patient anatomy. However, inconsistent user interfaces, delegation of view control, and insufficient depth information cause user disorientation and interaction difficulties in using VR apps for case planning.

Objective: The objective of the study was to evaluate and compare the usability of 2 commercially available VR apps—Bosc (Pyrus Medical systems) and Medical Holodeck (Nooon Web & IT GmbH)—using the Vive VR headset (HTC Corporation) to evaluate ease of use, physician attitudes toward VR technology, and viability for presurgical case planning. The role of medical libraries in advancing case planning is also explored.

Methods: After screening a convenience sample of surgeons, fellows, and residents, ethnographic interviews were conducted to understand physician attitudes and experience with VR. Gaps in current case planning methods were also examined. We ran a usability study, employing a concurrent think-aloud protocol. To evaluate user satisfaction, we used the system usability scale (SUS) and the National Aeronautics and Space Administration-Task Load Index (NASA-TLX). A poststudy questionnaire was used to evaluate the VR experience and explore the role of medical libraries in advancing presurgical case planning. Semistructured interview data were analyzed using content analysis with feedback categorization.

Results: Participants were residents, fellows, and surgeons from the University of Washington with a mean age of 41.5 (SD 11.67) years. A total of 8 surgeons participated in the usability study, 3 of whom had prior exposure to VR. Users found Medical Holodeck easier to use than Bosc. Mean adjusted NASA-TLX score for Medical Holodeck was 62.71 (SD 18.25) versus Bosc's 40.87 (SD 13.90). Neither app passed the mean SUS score of 68 for an app to be considered usable, though Medical Holodeck (66.25 [SD 12.87]) scored a higher mean SUS than Bosc (37.19 [SD 22.41]). One user rated the Bosc usable, whereas 3 users rated Medical Holodeck usable.

Conclusions: Interviews highlighted the importance of precise anatomical conceptualization in presurgical case planning and teaching, identifying it as the top reason for modifying a surgical procedure. The importance of standardized user interaction features such as labeling is justified. The study also sheds light on the new roles medical librarians can play in curating VR content and promoting interdisciplinary collaboration.

(JMIR Hum Factors 2019;6(1):e12008) doi:10.2196/12008

KEYWORDS

virtual reality; cardiac surgery; usability study; system usability score; NASA-Task Load Index; medical libraries; case planning; presurgical planning

Introduction

Background

Cardiac surgery is quite often a complex task. Valvular heart surgery (eg, mitral valve repair) and surgical management of adult congenital heart disease require detailed knowledge of patient-specific pathological and anatomical characteristics of the heart and great vessels to ensure patient safety and optimal surgical outcomes [1,2]. Three-dimensional anatomical reconstructions using two-dimensional data from radiographs, computerized tomography (CT) scans, or ultrasounds help surgeons previsualize a surgical intervention to define the surgical approach and navigation in the context of cardiothoracic surgery [3,4]. This is often accomplished with a headset, creating an immersive experience [5]. The use of virtual reality (VR) for clinical apps started in the early 1990s and has become more widespread with the availability of inexpensive computing power.

Significance

Surgical errors can be reduced through the effective use of VR [6]. The ability to properly visualize complex spatial anatomy can potentially reduce operating room time and ensure better surgical outcomes. Planning the placement of surgical cannulae, incision length and position, placement of baffle, sizing the conduit, placement of a surgical patch, and choosing between a minimally invasive procedure versus an open procedure are all patient specific. Interactive VR visualizations of patient anatomy can benefit case planning and better inform patients to alleviate anxiety and provide consent for the procedure. The same VR model can also be used to train fellows, residents, and medical students [4,5,7,8]. Previously published literature has shown that trainees using VR simulators complete their surgical curriculum faster [4]. High-fidelity three-dimensional models are generally available for interactive visualization. However, there is a paucity of formal usability research on VR apps themselves for case planning purposes.

Study Goals

We designed and implemented a study plan to compare VR software for use in presurgical case planning with cardiovascular surgeons. First, we identified gaps in current case planning approaches for elective cardiac procedures. Second, we evaluated the usability and utility of 2 commercially available

VR interfaces for surgical case planning purposes. Finally, we explored how medical librarians and informaticians can play a role in graduate medical education and clinical information management.

Methods

Study Design and Setting

Through a mixed-methods qualitative study, we evaluated 2 commercially available VR apps: Bosc version 4.5 (Pyrus Medical systems) and Medical Holodeck version 2.0 (Nooon Web & IT GmbH). Semistructured individual ethnographic interviews were conducted before and after the usability study to understand the context of our findings. We employed a concurrent think-aloud protocol for the usability study, conducted in the University of Washington (UW) Health Sciences Library [9]. Surgeons, fellows, and residents were invited to participate in our study. The UW institutional review board approved the study.

Our usability study was an effort to help medical libraries to create their own VR and augmented reality services to help clinicians plan surgical cases and train residents and fellows. We collaborated closely with faculty and researchers affiliated with the UW Center for Cardiovascular Innovation (CCVI) laboratory. Through them, we were able to generate sufficient interest in the cardiology and cardiothoracic surgery departments at our institution, UW Medicine. The feedback we received from designing and implementing an innovation lab in a library space for VR app testing informed our usability study.

The VR usability testing was conducted in the UW Health Sciences Library's Translational Research and Information Lab (TRAIL). The room and testing set up included the Textbox 1.

Participant Selection

Recruiting volunteers to test VR was accomplished by posting an email to the resident listserv and departmental listserv at UW Medicine. Volunteers were invited to participate via email in a 1-hour usability session in TRAIL. Our recruitment window was open for 1.5 months (May to mid-June 2018), with 8 physicians taking part in the study. Our exclusion criteria included a history of epilepsy or motion sickness exacerbated by exposure to virtual environments. However, none of our respondents fit the exclusion criteria.

Textbox 1. The room and testing set up.

- HTC Vive virtual reality (VR) headset and controllers
- VR-capable gaming laptop (MSI GT73VR Titan Pro laptop, Intel i7, 16 GB RAM, 1 TB hard disc drive, 128 GB solid-state drive, NVIDIA GeForce GTX 1080)
- 14 ft × 12 ft dedicated standing VR play area
- Six-screen ultra-high-definition data wall
- High-speed Wi-Fi connection to stream content, as required

Study Protocol

After taking informed consent, the study team invited the participant to fill out a prestudy questionnaire in TRAIL to build out a user profile about activities related to case planning and issues faced during case presentations. The prestudy questionnaire included questions such as:

- Have you played computer games or participated in virtual simulations before? If yes, how many times in the past 2 years?
- Have you modified your surgical plan after you started operating on a patient recently? If yes, why?
- Could this information have surfaced during a case presentation?
- What do you want Virtual Reality to do for you?
- What are some other gaps you see during case presentations?

A habituation session (5 min) was conducted to familiarize the user with the VR interface around how to use the trackpad, navigate the play area, and ask for help if necessary. The goal of habituation was not to test the discoverability of a feature. It was to see how users combine basic interactions to achieve the endpoint of a scenario. A medical librarian observed the session to understand how to incorporate information into VR experiences in the future. Once the user was habituated, a 30-min usability study was conducted, with the time evenly split between first Bosc and then Medical Holodeck. A visual representation of our study protocol is provided in Figure 1.

User scenarios were sketched out keeping in mind all user tasks that need to be performed to complete the scenario. We had the following scenario for Bosc:

Scenario: You were given the CT scan of this patient with a lung tumor. Replicate this image and annotate the mass saying "Tumor."

Hint: The patient image is on the last one on the lower right. Notice the density and opacity settings.

For a screenshot of the Bosc interface please refer to Figure 2.

The tasks to accomplish the endpoint of this scenario were selecting an image, selecting the square tool, moving the sliders into optimal position, and selecting the annotation tool and marking the tumor. The following was the scenario with 2 different endpoints for Medical Holodeck:

Endpoint 1: Two cut planes

Scenario: You are trying to visualize different structures in the chest cavity using the volumetric images provided to you by the radiology department. Can you replicate the following images?

The tasks to accomplish Endpoint 1 of this scenario were selecting the heart model, rotating the heart model, finding and using 1 cut plane, removing cut plane and using 2 cut planes.

Endpoint 2: Visualizing structures

Hint: Use -400 to -600 on the outermost filter ring and turn the rest off.

The tasks to accomplish Endpoint 2 of this scenario were: selecting the lung model, turning on and off ring filters, and adjusting the resolution on the outermost ring filter and turning off other filters.

For a screenshot of the Medical Holodeck interface please refer to Figure 3.

An observer noted verbal user feedback and task completion times. After each interface was tested, a questionnaire was administered to evaluate user satisfaction via 2 standardized tools: the system usability scale (SUS) and the National Aeronautics and Space Administration-Task Load Index (NASA-TLX). The questionnaires took approximately 10 min to complete. At the end of the study, users filled out a poststudy questionnaire, which included the following questions:

- Can VR make your case presentations easier? (Yes/No/Unsure) Why?
- What did you like about your experience?
- What did you think was missing?
- How would you prefer to use VR for case presentation? Single person mode (where you operate and present) or Presenter operator mode (where you present, and a colleague operates the VR)? Why?
- What else do you think VR can do for you?

The whole session lasted for 1 hour. Participants had the option to opt out of answering any question and the ability to opt out of testing at any time.

Figure 1. Study protocol. SUS: system usability scale; TLX: Task Load Index.



http://humanfactors.jmir.org/2019/1/e12008/

RenderX

JMIR Hum Factors 2019 | vol. 6 | iss. 1 |e12008 | p.32 (page number not for citation purposes)

Napa et al

Figure 2. User interface of the BOSC.



XSL•FO RenderX

Figure 3. User interface of the Medical Holodeck.



Outcome Measures

We were interested in the usability and the utility of the VR apps and the role medical libraries could play to ease adoption of VR in clinical settings. Through prestudy questionnaires we identified gaps in current case planning approaches for elective cardiac procedures.

Through a poststudy questionnaire and a semistructured interview we explored the role of medical librarians and informaticians in graduate medical education and clinical information management.

Analysis Approach

We presented participant characteristics and the 3 dimensions of usability (effectiveness measured by completion rate, efficiency measured by task completion time, and satisfaction measured by SUS and NASA-TLX). We also presented a qualitative analysis of responses to our prestudy and poststudy questionnaires, addressing the 3 aims of our study. Content analysis was performed on the ethnographic interviews. In addition, 2 of the investigators (SN and MM) reviewed notes and video recordings to identify key phrases. Both investigators performed this task independently and then met to agree upon the categories of feedback. Quotes were extracted to ensure accuracy. Task completion rate is defined as the proportion of users completing the task without assistance from the moderator. Task completion time is defined as the time it took in seconds for a certain task to be completed. Task completion parameters were defined, and the moderator confirmed user comprehension, before the participants started a task. Qualitative data were managed using Microsoft Excel (Microsoft Corporation). Quantitative data were managed using a Web-based app called Plotly (Plotly Technologies Inc, Montreal).

Results

Study Participant Characteristics

We reached out to approximately 60 faculty, fellows, and residents of whom 11 responded (11/60, 18%). We were able to schedule 8 users in our recruitment window. There were 63% (5/8) male participants and 38% (3/8) female participants. Our user sample had 6 faculty, 1 resident, and 1 fellow. We had a varied range of ages (29-69 years) and clinical experience (3-25 years) in our user group. On an average, 5 cases were presented per week per user (Table 1).

Table 1. Characteristics of study participants (n=8).

Characteristics of participants (surgeons)	Statistics			
Physician training level, n (%)				
Resident postgraduate year 1-4	1 (13)			
Fellow	1 (13)			
Physician	6 (75)			
Gender, n (%)				
Female	3 (38)			
Male	5 (63)			
Age in years				
Mean age, (SD)	41.5 (11.67)			
Median age, (min-max)	39.5 (29-69)			
Clinical experience in years				
Mean clinical experience, (SD)	13 (9.82)			
Median clinical experience, (min-max)	11.5 (3-35)			
VR^a technology comfort level or exposure (past experience with three-dimensional computer games or VR simulations), n (%)	4 (50)			
Case conference presentation frequency	5 cases/week			

^aVR: virtual reality.

Usability Test

Effectiveness is a dimension of usability that can be measured using task completion rate, and efficiency is measured using task completion time. Certain subtasks such as selecting an image (a model), selecting a tool, marking a tumor, and using cut planes had 100% task completion rate and a short task completion time. Moving slider elements to an optimal position and selecting the annotation tool in Bosc had the worst task completion rate (0%) and the highest mean task completion time (154.57 seconds and 133.5 seconds, respectively). The same pattern was observed in Medical Holodeck. The subtasks with the worst completion times (25%) were specific to the app (eg, removal of cut planes and turning filters on and off) and had the longest mean completion times (42.88 seconds and 86.13 seconds, respectively). Another task that had a poor completion rate (50%) was the adjustment of filters to a certain window, which also had a long mean task completion time of 60.75 seconds (Table 2; Figures 4 and 5).

User Satisfaction

We used the TLX to measure cognitive burden and the SUS to measure usability of each app. These are considered good measures of user satisfaction [10-12]. Subjective workload depended on the frustration the user faced with each app. In detail, there were 3 elements of the scale that contributed to most workload among users. "Frustration" was the most common ("How insecure, discouraged, irritated, stressed, and annoyed were you?"), followed by "Performance" ("How successful were you in accomplishing what you were asked to do?"), "Temporal demand" ("How hurried or rushed was the pace of the task?"), and "Mental demand" ("How mentally demanding was the task?"). No users found the apps physically demanding, as evident in the low weights it received (Table 3).

Bosc had a higher cognitive burden mean TLX score (62.71 vs 40.87) and a lower mean SUS score (37.19 vs 66.25). However, neither app passed the mean SUS score of 68 for an app to be usable [10]. Medical Holodeck was found usable by 3 users, whereas Bosc was rated usable by a single user (Table 4).



Table 2. Task completion times and task completion rate.

Task	Mean (SD), in seconds	Unassisted completion rate, %	
Bosc			
Selecting the image	4 (1.12)	100	
Selecting the square tool	6.36 (3.84)	100	
Moving sliders to optimal position	154.57 (46.89) ^a	0	
Selecting the annotation tool	133.5 (55.10) ^a	0	
Marking the tumor	17.5 (17.14)	88	
Medical Holodeck			
Selecting the heart	8.13 (8.33)	75	
Rotate the model using touch	15.83 (9.32)	96	
Find and use 1 cut plane	23.13 (17.31)	75	
Remove cut plane	42.88 (22.91)	25	
Using 2 cut planes	22.5 (11.73)	100	
Turn on and off ring filters	86.13 (45.74)	25	
Adjust resolution to 400-600 on the outermost ring filter and turn off other ring filters	60.75 (54.38)	50	

^aCompleted with assistance.

Figure 4. Task completion times for BOSC.




Figure 5. Task completion times for Medical Holodeck.



Table 3.	Weighted dimensions	of the National	Aeronautics and Sp	ace Administration-	Task Load Index	NASA-TLX)
						(

User	Mental demand	Physical demand	Temporal demand	Performance	Effort	Frustration
User 1	2	0	1	4	3	5
User 2	3	1	4	5	2	0
User 3	2	0	4	4	1	4
User 4	4	0	1	2	3	5
User 5	5	1	2	4	3	0
User 6	4	1	4	0	2	4
User 7	4	1	1	1	3	5
User 8	2	0	5	3	2	3
Mean	3.25	0.5	2.75	2.875	2.375	3.25

Table 4. Results from the system usability scale (SUS).

SUS ^a (out of 100)	Bosc	Medical Holodeck
Score, mean (SD)	37.19 (22.41)	66.25 (12.87)
Users who rated the app usable (SUS >67), n (%)	1 (13)	3 (38)

^aSUS: system usability scale.

Usability Problem Breakdown

Sliders were considered well-known interface elements because all of our users use mobile devices and were familiar with the slider interface to change a setting. Using a cut plane or ring filter, for example, had no parallels in everyday user interfaces so we considered them less commonly known. Frequency represents the fraction of the number of users who faced a certain usability problem over all users (n=8) (Table 5).

Ethnographic Interviews

The most commonly voiced issues in case presentation were inaccurate or unclear communication of patient anatomy (3/8,

```
http://humanfactors.jmir.org/2019/1/e12008/
```

RenderX

38%), difficulties in teaching (2/8, 25%), and varying image interpretations (2/8, 25%) (Table 6). Intraoperative findings or anatomical considerations were the most common reason to modify surgical plans (4/8, 50%). Users were unclear about the perceived impact of surgical plan modification (3/8, 38%) and were not sure if the information that led to these modifications could have surfaced during case planning (7/8, 88%). The most commonly perceived gap in case presentation was communicating anatomical details (50%). The most desired benefits from implementing VR were improving imaging of complex cases (3/8, 38%), improving communication (2/8, 25%), and the ability to afford better planning (2/8, 25%) were both high on the list.

Our poststudy questionnaire explored the utility of VR and how librarians could play a role in curating and collaborating around VR. Users liked learning about VR (5/8, 63%) and knowing what is new out there (3/8, 38%). Some users found it difficult to understand the clinical context of VR apps (3/8, 38%) and whether they gave us useful information (2/8, 25%). Most users wanted a single operator-presenter system (4/8, 50%) instead of a dual separate operator and presenter setup. There was

overwhelming emphasis on using VR for training (7/8, 88%) and patient education (4/8, 25%). The role of librarians, as our user group suggested, should be around providing a teaching resource via a repository of VR images collected by clinicians (3/8, 38%), providing space, apps, and equipment (3/8, 38%). However, most users were unsure (4/8, 25%) about the role librarians can play in clinical information management.

Table 5. Analysis of usability problems.

Usability problem type	Description	Frequency	Severity ^a	
Bosc				
Using a well-known interface element in a virtual environment	Selecting and moving sliders to desired position	7/8	Medium	
Using a well-known interface element in a virtual environment	Using the annotation tool	7/8	Medium	
Software errors	Delayed slider movements	1/8	Low	
Slider sensitivity	Higher sensitivity requires users to be cautious	3/8	Medium	
Medical Holodeck				
Using a well-known interface element in a virtual environment	Rotating the heart model	3/8	Low	
Using a less commonly known interface element	Creating and removing cut planes	6/8	Medium	
Using a less commonly known interface element	Turning ring filters on and off	6/8	Medium	
Using a less commonly known interface element	Adjusting ring filter resolu- tion to specification	6/8	Medium	

^aSeverity scale: low: task was delayed; workaround unnecessary; medium: task was delayed, workaround was necessary, or moderator helped the user; high: task was delayed or left incomplete, user couldn't complete the task even with moderator's assistance.

Table 6. Results of the ethnographic interviews (n=8).

Characteristic	Statistics, n (%)
Issues in case presentation	
Inaccurate or unclear communication of patient anatomy	3 (38)
Teaching difficulties for new learners	2 (25)
Varying image interpretations	2 (25)
Conveying the acuity of the clinical situation	1 (13)
Ease of bringing up relevant imaging in clinic or operating room	1 (13)
Not knowing what anatomy will look like in real time	1 (13)
Special training and software requirement for assessing MRI ^a	1 (13)
Limited applicability of some technologies	1 (13)
Reason to modify surgical plans	
Anatomy or intraoperative findings	4 (50)
Imaging inputs or new information from old surgical records	1 (13)
Need to be innovative	1 (13)
Perceived impact of surgical plan modification	
Unclear	3 (38)
Increased operating room time	3 (38)
Greater morbidity	1 (13)
Anticipated improved outcome	1 (13)
Could this information have surfaced during case planning?	
Maybe	7 (88)
Yes	1 (13)
No	0 (0)
Gaps during case presentation	
Communicating anatomical details	4 (50)
Case presenters unaware of priorities	1 (13)
Lack of retrievable mental imagery	1 (13)
Imaging limitations	1 (13)
Equipment readiness and reliability	1 (13)
Lack of clear problem statement and next steps	1 (13)
Potential apps for VR ^b	
Improve imaging of complex cases	3 (38)
Improve communication	2 (25)
Better planning	2 (25)
Dynamic and accurate measurements of anatomy	1 (13)
Display anatomy of complex cardiac repairs	1 (13)
Educate patients on complex cases	1 (13)
Things liked about the VR experience	
Learning about new technology	5 (63)
Knowing what is new out there	3 (38)
Interesting interface	1 (13)
Interesting anatomical models	1 (13)

http://humanfactors.jmir.org/2019/1/e12008/

XSL•FO RenderX

Characteristic	Statistics, n (%)
Clear instructions and specific tasks	1 (13)
Interactive learning as you go	1 (13)
Relaxed atmosphere	1 (13)
Things missing in the VR experience	
Clinical context or applicability to respondent's scope of practice	3 (38)
Unsure if investigators were provided with useful information	2 (25)
Benefit of VR over current systems	2 (25)
Lack of understanding of controller setup before starting task	1 (13)
Nothing	1 (13)
Preferences for VR interface control	
Single person mode	4 (50)
Both	2 (25)
Only as an adjunct	1 (13)
No answer	1 (13)
Alternative apps of VR	
Trainee education	7 (88)
Patient education	2 (25)
Plan for appropriate devices necessary for treatment	1 (13)
Warm up or practice	1 (13)
Team communications	1 (13)
Role of librarians in graduate medical education	
Teaching resource via repository of VR images collected	3 (38)
Provide space, apps, and equipment	3 (38)
Serve as part of the team	1 (13)
Inform and educate the community	1 (13)
Train on VR environment	1 (13)
Invest in VR	1 (13)
Role of library in graduate medical education	
Unsure	3 (38)
Increase access to case materials for presentations	2 (25)
Find more apps	1 (13)
Provide strategies for research into clinical topics	1 (13)

^aMRI: magnetic resonance imaging.

^bVR: virtual reality.

Discussion

Principal Findings

In a usability study with 8 surgeons, resident physicians, and fellows at the UW, each user spent 60 min testing 2 VR apps—Bosc and Medical Holodeck. Users reported a general sense of frustration using the apps, but were appreciative of the role VR could play in case planning. Subtasks such as selecting a tool, marking a tumor, and using cut planes had high task

completion rates, short task completion times, and less variation among users. This is likely because of these interactions being borrowed from daily life apps. When users were unaware of how to use a feature or when the interaction was app specific with no parallels to real-life apps, we observed poor task completion rates, higher inter-user variations, and long task completion times (Figure 6). Some users found the gesture-based controls confusing. User comments that demonstrate the frustration with these controls are quoted verbatim in Textbox 2.

XSL•FO RenderX

Figure 6. Problem tree analysis. SUS: system usability scale.



Textbox 2. User comments that demonstrate the frustration with the controls.

- "Draw. That should be obvious. *tries to draw* But it's not actually doing what it says."
- "The direction in scrolling doesn't always match where the slider is going."
- "I'm trying to figure out how to move between the bars. I haven't figured out how you control it."
- "Did you guys do that or did I? I didn't do anything, and it moved. Is somebody else doing something?"
- "It's moving both. I can't control one without the other."

The same pattern was observed with Medical Holodeck. However, unlike Bosc, the model selection interaction was not understood by all users. The subtasks with the worst completion times were specific to the app with no parallels to interactions users have in daily life, such as removal of cut planes and turning on and off the filters. These also had the longest completion times. Frustrations with the app are quoted verbatim in Textbox 3.

The app also required the user to hold his or her hands above waist level to continue visualizing the image, frustrating 1 user who said:

I can't really drop my hands to my sides. That would be nice to be able to stand here looking at model [without having to hold up my hands]. Sensitivity of the controls and a slight lag in the user interaction was an issue identified by multiple users as shown in Textbox 4.

The user comments for Medical Holodeck were similar and are provided in Textbox 5.

The apps were not considered physically demanding by any users, as evident in the low weights it received.

User Satisfaction

In general, users found Medical Holodeck easier to use (Textbox 6).

Users appreciated Bosc as well, but commented on its limitations (Textbox 7).

Textbox 3. Frustrations with the app.

- "It's hard to tell in the visualization where I'm clicking."
- "If I click it just creates more planes."
- "It's very clunky."

Textbox 4. Sensitivity of the controls and a slight lag in the user interaction.

- "You just touch it and it switches [from opacity to density or vice versa]."
- "There's a lag."
- "I don't understand why it's moving at this point."
- "Maybe I just have to push longer harder? I feel like I should just have to push on the trackpad, but it isn't working."
- "Very confusing. It was tough to figure out what the buttons did. It seemed like I could never figure out what I was doing while it was happening."
- "That's less than ideal."

Textbox 5. User comments for Medical Holodeck.

- "Now I'm getting a little frustrated."
- "I have the panel but I'm not sure how to change it."
- "This is where I would expect the function on the left to stay lit up."

Textbox 6. User satisfaction comments on Medical Holodeck.

- "It's good that it has labels, even if they don't do what they say."
- "I like the second app [Medical Holodeck]. I like the labeling that shows you what does what."
- "It was easier to figure out what to do. The only thing was the laser; I wasn't sure how far you have to be [to have it 'catch']."
- "It seemed crisper and a better viewing experience."
- "It seemed more straightforward. It was clearer in terms of what each button does. It seemed more responsive."
- "You didn't have the sense that the pointer had as much power until [the moderator] told me it was what you had to use. Once you understand that it is easy to use."

Textbox 7. User satisfaction comments on Bosc.

- "I thought the app was pretty good, I just thought the scroll pad was awkward."
- "It would be good if there were labels to say what things did."

Textbox 8. Overall user impressions: positives.

- "Once I got a sense of what you wanted me to do, and you're not used to toys, it's a left-brain, right-brain thing where you're trying to do two things at once."
- "I conveniently see instructions [labels], which is a step in the right direction."

Textbox 9. Overall user impressions: negatives.

- "The question is what can it do that I can't do on my desktop?"
- "I'm not sold personally on this use of VR. That's my own personal bias."
- "It's all about picking the right audience."
- "From a practical point we'd really like to see where the blood vessels are."

We observed that TLX and the SUS provide user satisfaction information in different dimensions, and that a mixture of metrics in the context of user interviews provides us better insights into user perception of these apps. For example, 1 user rated both apps similarly in the SUS. However, on comparing the frustration score in the TLX, we were able to uncover which specific interaction was the most challenging, which we could clarify in the poststudy interview. This approach would be of benefit to interaction designers for VR apps. One user said:

There's no uniform approach to the button [in the HTC Vive]. Every time you go into a program you need to figure out what the buttons do.

Building a standardized user interface for VR requires time, just as the decade that smartphone interactions took to reach maturity.

Questionnaire Analysis

Our prestudy questionnaire revealed interesting insights. The importance of precise anatomical visualization in presurgical planning and teaching is underscored by the fact that the most common issue in case presentation is not knowing how the patient anatomy will look like during the procedure. Similarly, intraoperative anatomical considerations were the most common reason to modify a surgical plan.

Our initial assumption was that users would prefer a 2-person mode of VR operation, where a surgeon presented the case and an operator (a fellow or resident) would navigate the VR system. However, most users wanted a single operator-presenter system. Considering the overwhelming emphasis on using VR for training and patient education and the relative immaturity of currently available VR apps, these are more viable apps than case planning for VR. As most users were unsure (3/8, 38%) about the role librarians can play in clinical information management, the librarians must make an active effort to communicate the value they bring to the table in curating clinical content and promoting interdisciplinary collaborations. One user suggested:

All surgeons require a retrievable system on which to think. Build a set of imagery they can recall. If you are training a team, you have to build that collection of images.

Overall User Impressions

Although surgeons and resident physicians experienced individual challenges in using the 2 VR apps tested, the overall impression was positive (Textbox 8).

Working at an academic institution and teaching hospital, incorporating VR into ongoing and future teaching methods was of high interest to our faculty. Said 1 user:

We do not teach three-dimensional topics well. Almost all of our imagery is in 2 dimensions. Three dimensions make complexity better.

Not all users were excited about the prospects for VR, feeling that the apps were irrelevant or the immersiveness distracting (Textbox 9).

Our study results suggest that VR can be a useful adjunct in traditional presurgical planning methods, an observation also echoed by other studies in this domain which highlight the potential for group-based approaches, user-defined interactive views, and cost-effectiveness over 3D printing [13,14].

Limitations

There are several limitations to the study. First, the study participants were self-selecting. A total of 37.5% of our participants had been exposed to immersive VR since they also worked with the CCVI. This may not be representative in other similar departments. Second, we only evaluated VR apps available to us. There are many other apps that are designed for specific purposes that we were unable to test. However, we have consolidated feedback to acknowledge user-friendly features of each app that serves as a benchmark to evaluate other such apps. Third, we had used existing VR models in these apps to avoid using actual patient data. Users, therefore, questioned the utility of these apps while identifying possible future research directions. Fourth, generating stereolithography models for VR apps requires high-resolution CT images, which we find difficult to acquire at our institution for most patients. This may impact future studies conducted at our institution. Finally, it is also possible that Medical Holodeck received higher usability ratings because it was the second app users tried. Multiple users indicated that they struggled or were frustrated earlier on in the testing but found it easier as they grew more accustomed and experienced to VR and the controllers, which coincides with their testing in Medical Holodeck. To preserve uniformity, however, we did not randomize which app the user tried first. In addition, we did not have enough users to draw statistically significant conclusions, even if we had randomized the order.

Conclusions

We evaluated the usability and utility of 2 commercially available VR apps (Bosc and Medical Holodeck) for cardiothoracic case planning. We found that, on an average, neither app passes the minimum mean usability score of 68 on the SUS. Although users found Medical Holodeck less cognitively demanding (mean TLX score of 40.87 vs 62.71), more work is needed to make both apps usable. We also identified ways to make VR apps more useful in the clinical setting and for teaching. As we explore new apps, the role of medical librarians in curating VR content and promoting collaboration is evolving. Our hope is that medical libraries around the world benefit from our work and develop VR studios of their own for clinical apps.

Acknowledgments

Developed resources reported in this publication are supported by the Institute of Museum and Library Services under Award Number 74-17-0190-17 and by the National Library of Medicine and National Institutes of Health (NIH) under cooperative

agreement Number UG4LM012343. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the NIH or Institute of Museum and Library Services.

The authors would like to acknowledge the UW CCVI and Department of Cardiovascular Surgery at the UW, School of Medicine, Deric Ruhl and Adam Garrett of the UW Health Sciences Library for their participation in documenting the study findings.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Fabricius AM, Walther T, Falk V, Mohr FW. Three-dimensional echocardiography for planning of mitral valve surgery: current applicability? Ann Thorac Surg 2004 Aug;78(2):575-578. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.athoracsur.2003.10.031</u>] [Medline: <u>15276524</u>]
- Valverde I, Gomez G, Suarez-Mejias C, Hosseinpour AM, Hazekamp M, Roest A, et al. 3D printed cardiovascular models for surgical planning in complex congenital heart diseases. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson 2015 Dec 1;17(Suppl 1):P196. [doi: 10.1186/1532-429X-17-S1-P196]
- Zimmerman TG, Lanier J, Blanchard C, Bryson S, Harvill Y. A hand gesture interface device. In: CHI '87 Proceedings of the SIGCHI/GI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems and Graphics Interface. 1987 Presented at: The SIGCHI/GI conference on Human factors in computing systems and graphics interface - CHI '87; April 05-09, 1987; Toronto, Ontario, Canada p. 189-192. [doi: 10.1145/29933.275628]
- 4. Pensieri C, Pennacchini M. Overview: virtual reality in medicine. J Virtual Worlds Res 2014 Jan;7(1). [doi: 10.4101/jvwr.v7i1.6364]
- 5. Chinnock C. Virtual reality in surgery and medicine. Hosp Technol Ser 1994;13(18):1-48. [Medline: 10172193]
- Grantcharov TP, Kristiansen VB, Bendix J, Bardram L, Rosenberg J, Funch-Jensen P. Randomized clinical trial of virtual reality simulation for laparoscopic skills training. Br J Surg 2004 Feb;91(2):146-150. [doi: <u>10.1002/bjs.4407</u>] [Medline: <u>14760660</u>]
- Bao X, Mao Y, Lin Q, Qiu Y, Chen S, Li L, et al. Mechanism of Kinect-based virtual reality training for motor functional recovery of upper limbs after subacute stroke. Neural Regen Res 2013 Nov 5;8(31):2904-2913 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1673-5374.2013.31.003] [Medline: 25206611]
- Yiannakopoulou E, Nikiteas N, Perrea D, Tsigris C. Virtual reality simulators and training in laparoscopic surgery. Int J Surg 2015 Jan;13:60-64 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2014.11.014] [Medline: 25463761]
- Todhunter F. Using concurrent think-aloud and protocol analysis to explore student nurses' social learning information communication technology knowledge and skill development. Nurse Educ Today 2015 Jun;35(6):815-822. [doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2015.01.010] [Medline: 25910633]
- 10. Bangor A, Kortum P, Miller J. Determining what individual SUS scores mean: adding an adjective rating scale. J Usability Stud 2009 May;4(3):114-123 [FREE Full text]
- 11. Hoonakker P, Carayon P, Gurses A, Brown R, McGuire K, Khunlertkit A, et al. Measuring workload of ICU nurses with a questionnaire survey: the NASA Task Load Index (TLX). IIE Trans Healthc Syst Eng 2011;1(2):131-143 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/19488300.2011.609524] [Medline: 22773941]
- 12. Harte R, Quinlan LR, Glynn L, Rodríguez-Molinero A, Baker PM, Scharf T, et al. Human-centered design study: enhancing the usability of a mobile phone app in an integrated falls risk detection system for use by older adult users. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 May 30;5(5):e71 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7046] [Medline: 28559227]
- Ong CS, Hibino N. The use of 3D printing in cardiac surgery. J Thorac Dis 2017 Aug;9(8):2301-2302 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.07.73] [Medline: 28932530]
- 14. Ong CS, Krishnan A, Huang CY, Spevak P, Vricella L, Hibino N, et al. Role of virtual reality in congenital heart disease. Congenit Heart Dis 2018 May;13(3):357-361. [doi: 10.1111/chd.12587] [Medline: 29399969]

Abbreviations

CCVI: Center for Cardiovascular Innovation CT: computerized tomography NASA-TLX: National Aeronautics and Space Administration-Task Load Index NIH: National Institutes of Health SUS: system usability scale TRAIL: Translational Research and Information Lab UW: University of Washington VR: virtual reality



Edited by A Kushniruk; submitted 22.08.18; peer-reviewed by R Harte; comments to author 09.11.18; revised version received 04.12.18; accepted 28.12.18; published 16.01.19. <u>Please cite as:</u> Napa S, Moore M, Bardyn T Advancing Cardiac Surgery Case Planning and Case Review Conferences Using Virtual Reality in Medical Libraries: Evaluation of the Usability of Two Virtual Reality Apps JMIR Hum Factors 2019;6(1):e12008 URL: http://humanfactors.jmir.org/2019/1/e12008/ doi:10.2196/12008 PMID:30664469

©Sandeep Napa, Michael Moore, Tania Bardyn. Originally published in JMIR Human Factors (http://humanfactors.jmir.org), 16.01.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Human Factors, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://humanfactors.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

High-Fidelity Prototyping for Mobile Electronic Data Collection Forms Through Design and User Evaluation

Alice Mugisha^{1,2}, MSc (IS); Ankica Babic^{3,4}, PhD; Peter Wakholi², PhD; Thorkild Tylleskär¹, PhD

¹Center for International Health, Department of Global Public Health and Primary Care, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway

²Department of Information Technology, School of Computing and Informatics Technology, Makerere University, Kampala, Uganda

³Department of Information and Media Studies, Faculty of Social Sciences, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway

⁴Department of Biomedical Engineering, University of Linköping, Linköping, Sweden

Corresponding Author:

Alice Mugisha, MSc (IS) Center for International Health Department of Global Public Health and Primary Care University of Bergen Årstadveien 21 Overlege Danielssens building Bergen, 5020 Norway Phone: 47 99884851 Email: <u>mugishaalice@gmail.com</u>

Abstract

Background: Mobile data collection systems are often difficult to use for nontechnical or novice users. This can be attributed to the fact that developers of such tools do not adequately involve end users in the design and development of product features and functions, which often creates interaction challenges.

Objective: The main objective of this study was to assess the guidelines for form design using high-fidelity prototypes developed based on end-user preferences. We also sought to investigate the association between the results from the System Usability Scale (SUS) and those from the Study Tailored Evaluation Questionnaire (STEQ) after the evaluation. In addition, we sought to recommend some practical guidelines for the implementation of the group testing approach particularly in low-resource settings during mobile form design.

Methods: We developed a Web-based high-fidelity prototype using Axure RP 8. A total of 30 research assistants (RAs) evaluated this prototype in March 2018 by completing the given tasks during 1 common session. An STEQ comprising 13 affirmative statements and the commonly used and validated SUS were administered to evaluate the usability and user experience after interaction with the prototype. The STEQ evaluation was summarized using frequencies in an Excel sheet while the SUS scores were calculated based on whether the statement was positive (user selection minus 1) or negative (5 minus user selection). These were summed up and the score contributions multiplied by 2.5 to give the overall form usability from each participant.

Results: Of the RAs, 80% (24/30) appreciated the form progress indication, found the form navigation easy, and were satisfied with the error messages. The results gave a SUS average score of 70.4 (SD 11.7), which is above the recommended average SUS score of 68, meaning that the usability of the prototype was above average. The scores from the STEQ, on the other hand, indicated a 70% (21/30) level of agreement with the affirmative evaluation statements. The results from the 2 instruments indicated a fair level of user satisfaction and a strong positive association as shown by the Pearson correlation value of .623 (P<.01).

Conclusions: A high-fidelity prototype was used to give the users experience with a product they would likely use in their work. Group testing was done because of scarcity of resources such as costs and time involved especially in low-income countries. If embraced, this approach could help assess user needs of the diverse user groups. With proper preparation and the right infrastructure at an affordable cost, usability testing could lead to the development of highly usable forms. The study thus makes recommendations on the practical guidelines for the implementation of the group testing approach particularly in low-resource settings during mobile form design.

(JMIR Hum Factors 2019;6(1):e11852) doi:10.2196/11852



KEYWORDS

high-fidelity prototype; group user testing; mobile electronic data collection forms; usability evaluation

Introduction

Background

Usability implementation in many design scenarios, even in user-centered designs (UCDs), is still unsatisfactory [1]. This leads to unusable interfaces especially for nontechnical users [2], and such interfaces contribute to the failure of most interactive systems [3]. Of the reasons for this failure, 1 is that developers of open-source software (OSS) such as the mobile electronic data collection forms (MEDCFs) are not prioritizing the use of the UCD approach in their software development projects. They instead develop software targeting particular features [4]. This approach often leaves out the end users in the design and evaluation of these systems, whose major role is to interact with the finished products. As a result, in low- and middle-income regions, several data collection systems exist, but these are often difficult to deploy, hard to use, complicated to scale, and rarely customizable [5], hence grossly decreasing their usability.

The mobile user interface designs are usually based on the desktop paradigm whose designs do not fully fit the mobile context [6], which in turn breeds usability challenges. Other challenges may also be hardware related, for example mobile phones have limited disk space, memory, processor speed, and battery life, among others. In addition, the mobile networks on which they depend are highly variable in performance and reliability [7]. Furthermore, the limited screen size makes efficient presentation of information and navigation to the users difficult [8,9]. In fact, some of the electronic forms have multiple questions, which may make presentation on the screen quite complicated. In some phones, the display resolution may not favor good presentation of tables and images on the screen. Additionally, the keyboard size or character setting is limited irrespective of the users' finger size [10,11] and the content. This leads to incorrect choice selection and wastage of time in additional scrolling activities, which is also common with smaller interfaces [10,12].

Literature Studies and Justification

Usability is mainly concerned with the exhibited design features of interactive products in relation to how easy the user interface is to use [13], as well as the user satisfaction as a result of such use [14]. Usability is, therefore, defined by characteristics such as the cognitive perception, the ability to interact with the system, and the perception of the response from the system [3], which may vary across individuals. Important to note is that the usability of MEDCFs relies on the capabilities of the software provided by the software developers [15]; however, a number of developers have a limited understanding of usability [1,2] and how it can be implemented. This is because despite the fact that the developers' goal is usability, they tend to follow engineering criteria, which results in products that seem obvious in their functioning for the developers but not for general users, and this often leads to negative results after evaluation [16,17]. Evaluation is one of the primary stages in the UCD and in design

science research (DSR), which can be used to improve the quality of any system or prototype during and after its development. Evaluation is essential in conducting rigorous DSR as it provides evidence that a newly created artifact achieves the purpose for which it was designed [18]. However, evaluating usability alone may not be sufficient to improve the quality of the system, without considering the emotions and feelings of the users as they interact with the systems or applications [19]. This brings in the aspect of user experience (UX), which is concerned with getting a more comprehensive understanding of the users' interactive experiences with products or systems [20]. UX includes all the users' emotions, preferences, perceptions, behaviors, and accomplishments that occur before (preinteraction experience), during (actual interaction experience), and after use (postinteraction experience) of the product [19-21].

User testing is one of the usability evaluation methods where the assessment of the usability of a system is determined by observing the users working with that system [22]. Here, a representative number of end users perform a set of tasks using a prototype system, and the usability challenges are presumably identified by user observations during the exercise [23]. Group usability testing, on the other hand, also involves several participants individually but simultaneously performing the given tasks, with one or more testers observing and interacting with the participants [24]. The motivation for testing is based on the assumption that any system that is designed for people to use should be easy to learn and remember, contain the functions that people really need in their work, and also be easy and pleasant to use [25]. Evaluating user design preferences is not a common approach in the development of mobile data collection forms partly because of time and financial constraints. In fact, this is the first study in Uganda where this kind of testing has been conducted, and we do not have knowledge of any such study from the published literature.

Objectives

This study therefore assesses a set of design guidelines using the group testing approach and records the end users' experience after interacting with the high-fidelity prototype. It also recommends some practical ways of implementing group testing during mobile form design, particularly in low-resource settings. To achieve this, a high-fidelity prototype was developed based on the end users' design preferences and evaluated by the research assistants (RAs) for usability and UX after interaction using SUS and STEQ. We report the level of satisfaction and the features from the prototype the RAs are satisfied with.

Methods

Participants

The study participants were 30 RAs, and all of them were collecting data on a maternal and child health project (the Survival Pluss project) in northern Uganda, which is funded by the Norwegian Programme for Capacity Development in Higher

XSL•FO RenderX

Education and Research for Development (NORHED) [26]. Of the RAs, 3 were certificate holders and 9 were diploma holders, whereas 18 were degree holders in various fields, which included accounting, agriculture, social work, laboratory services, and nursing. Of these, 23 RAs had been collecting data for a period of 2 years or less, whereas 7 had collected data for a period ranging from 4 to 6 years. All the RAs had used open data kit (ODK) [5,27] to collect data; however, 3 reported to have used tangerine, Survey Monkey, and OpenMRS, in addition to ODK [28].

Prototype

A Web-based high-fidelity prototype for MEDCFs was developed between January and February 2018. This prototype was meant to demonstrate the RAs' design preferences having collected them earlier using a mid-fidelity prototype [29,30]. It was also used as a basis for evaluating to what extent these design preferences contribute to the usability of the data collection forms. A high-fidelity prototype is a computer-based interactive representation of the product with a close resemblance to the final design in terms of details and functionality. The high-fidelity prototypes not only test the visuals and aesthetics of a product but also the UX aspects in relation to interaction with the product [31]. The prototype (see Multimedia Appendix 1) was created in Axure RP 8 without any backend functionality and was created to fit on Samsung Galaxy J1 Ace phones that were being used to collect data on the Survival Pluss project, and they had a view port size of 320 by 452.

The prototype had 3 main sections structured based on the project's content. These consisted of the demographic section where participants were required to fill the participant ID, interviewer name, and interviewer telephone number. Section I had list pickers and section II showed different table designs capturing a child's sickness record. We explained to the RAs the potential value of the user testing exercise before giving them access to the prototype and to the tasks they were supposed to do. A summary of the entered data on the child sickness was available for the users to crosscheck and *agree* or *disagree* to its correctness, after which they were prompted to submit. Before submission, the users were warned of the inability to edit the data once they have been submitted. At this point, the progress bar indicated 100%, meaning that the form had been filled to completion and submitted.

Group Testing Exercise

The group testing exercise was conducted in February 2018 in Lira, Uganda. The RAs were required to complete some tasks (Multimedia Appendix 2) during the group testing exercise. This was meant to create uniformity in the prototype evaluation and also to be able to measure the time it took for each of the RAs to complete the same tasks. In addition to carrying out the tasks, they were also meant to read the feedback given as a result of the actions carried out and to respond appropriately until they correctly submitted the form. It was a requirement to complete all the tasks before submission of the form, and the participants were expected to record their start time before and finish time after the testing exercise. A total of 2 observers were present to record the exercise and to attend to the questions when asked to. The start time and end time were recorded for each participant in each session.

Prototype Evaluation

The prototype evaluation happened immediately after the group testing exercise. This was an ex-post naturalistic evaluation because we were evaluating an instantiated artifact in its real environment, that is, with the actual users and in the real setting [18,32]. The artifact was a high-fidelity prototype, and the actual users were the RAs who were collecting data on mobile phones using ODK, an OSS software.

Instruments Used in the Prototype Evaluation

A total of 2 instruments were used to evaluate the prototype usability, one was the SUS, a standardized questionnaire, and the other was STEQ. By combining the two, we expected to gain more detailed insight and also to test our generated questionnaire against the standardized one. These 2 posttest questionnaires were administered after the participants had completed the tasks in a bid to show how users perceived the usability of the data collection forms [33].

The STEQ comprised 13 statements and was developed based on the literature with a purpose of making an alternative instrument, other than the SUS. The statements were based on features such as form progress, simplicity in use, error correction and recovery, and visual appeal, among others. The RAs were required to indicate their level of agreement with the evaluation statements by selecting options, which included strongly disagree, disagree, somewhat agree, agree, strongly agree, and don't know and were tallied to a score of 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 6, respectively. The evaluation statements were selected from 4 usability evaluation questionnaires, namely the Computer System Usability Questionnaire [34], Form Usability Scale [35], Questionnaire for User Interaction Satisfaction [36], and statements from the Usability Professional Association [37]. The selected statements were based on the fact that they could be used to assess usability in mobile data collection forms as defined by the design preferences of the RAs and were all affirmative statements with positive valence. It is alleged that participants are less likely to make mistakes by agreeing to negative statements [38] similar to the case of a balanced questionnaire consisting of positive and negative statements [39]. However, and for the sake of simplicity, we used only affirmative statements adopting the style of the 4 abovementioned usability evaluation questionnaires.

The SUS is a balanced questionnaire that is used to evaluate the usability of a system and comprises 10 alternating positive and negative statements [40]. The SUS acted as a complementary scale to the STEQ. The SUS has been experimentally proven to be reliable and valid [33] because of its ability to control against acquiescence bias and extreme response bias [38,39]. In acquiescence bias, respondents tend to agree with all or almost all statements in a questionnaire, whereas the extreme response bias is the tendency to mark the extremes of rating scales, rather than the points near the middle of the scale [38,39]. These biases greatly affect the true measure of an attitude. The word *system* was replaced with the word *form* for some of the statements in both questionnaires.

XSL•FO RenderX

Mugisha et al

Table 1. The 13 statements in the tailormade evaluation questionnaire and the number of respondents (n=30) in each category from *strongly disagree* to *strongly agree*.

Evaluation statement	Strongly disagree, n (%)	Disagree, n (%)	Neutral, n (%)	Agree, n (%)	Somewhat agree, n (%)	Don't agree, n (%)	Total (N) ^a
The form informs about its progress during interaction	0 (0)	0 (0)	2 (6)	8 (27)	20 (67)	0 (0)	30
The information, for example, onscreen messages provided in this form were clear	1(3)	0 (0)	3 (11)	4 (14)	18 (64)	2 (7)	28
It was easy to move from one page to another	3 (10)	2 (6)	1 (3)	8 (27)	15 (50)	1 (3)	30
The overall organization of the form is easy to understand	1 (3)	0 (0)	2 (6)	13 (43)	12 (40)	1 (3)	30
I knew at every input what rule I had to stick to (possible answer length, date for- mat, etc)	2 (6)	3 (10)	7 (23)	5 (17)	13 (43)	0 (0)	30
Reading of characters on the form screen is easy	1 (0)	3 (10)	9 (30)	17 (57)	0 (0)	0 (0)	30
The form gave error messages that clearly told me how to fix the problems	3 (10)	1 (3)	1 (3)	2 (6)	21 (70)	2 (6)	30
I was able to fill in the form quickly	2 (6)	4 (13)	3 (10)	8 (27)	13 (43)	1 (3)	30
It was simple to fill this form	1 (3)	1 (3)	5 (17)	10 (33)	13 (43)	0 (0)	30
Whenever I made a mistake when filling the form I could recover easily and quickly	0 (0)	1 (3)	2 (6)	5 (17)	21 (70)	1 (3)	30
This form is visually appealing	0 (0)	2 (6)	6 (20)	10 (33)	10 (33)	2 (6)	30
Overall, the form is easy to use	1 (3)	2 (6)	1 (3)	8 (27)	17 (57)	1 (3)	30
Overall, I am satisfied with this form	0 (0)	0 (0)	7 (21)	8 (27)	14 (41)	1 (3)	30

^aSome respondents did not reply to all statements.

Results from the 2 instruments were compared. Previous studies have shown that irrespective of the questionnaires used being balanced or affirmative, the scores from the 2 questionnaires are likely to be similar [38]. This is because there is little evidence to show that the advantages of using balanced questionnaires outweigh the disadvantages, some of which include misinterpretation of the scales leading to mistakes by the users [38]. The STEQ was summarized using frequencies in an Excel sheet where the evaluation statement with majority agreeing to it was taken as the option which RAs were most satisfied with (Table 1). On the other hand, SUS scores are calculated based on the statement being scored [40], and we did the same in this study. For the positive statements 1, 3, 5, 7, and 9. the score contribution was what the user had selected minus 1. For the negative statements 2, 4, 6, 8, and 10, the score contribution was 5 minus what the user had selected. The total sum of the score contributions was obtained and multiplied by 2.5 [40]. This gave the overall result of the form usability from each participant.

Results

RenderX

This section presents the results after evaluation of the high-fidelity prototype using the tailor-made evaluation questionnaire and the SUS.

End-User Experience in Relation to System Usability Scale and Study Tailored Evaluation Questionnaire Scores

Of the data RAs, 80% (24/30) *agreed* that the form progress was visible, form navigation and organization were easy, and that the error messages clearly indicated how to fix problems. The same number also *agreed* that the form was simple, that it was quick and easy to recover in case of a mistake, and that overall the form was easy to use. In addition, half of the participants also *agreed* that they knew the rules to stick to when inputting the data and also found reading characters on the form easy.

However, more than 23% (7/30) of the participants *disagreed* to the form being easy to navigate and to the ability to fill the form quickly. Still some of the participants were neutral to some of these evaluation statements, that is, they neither *agreed nor disagreed*. For example, 36% (11/30) of the participants were neutral about easy reading of characters on the screen and 27% (8/30) of the participants were neutral about knowledge of the rules to stick to when inputting data. In addition, 23% (7/30) were neutral about the form being visually appealing and with their satisfaction with the form. We calculated the quantities and the respective percentages of those who *agreed, disagreed,* and those who *did not know* or were *neutral* to the evaluation statements during the evaluation exercise (Figure 1). The figure shows that about 70% of the RAs were satisfied with the form prototypes.

```
http://humanfactors.jmir.org/2019/1/e11852/
```

The individual SUSs ranged from 50 to 90 (Figure 2), with an average score of 70.4 (SD 11.7). This value was above the recommended average SUS score of 68, which showed that the RAs were fairly satisfied with the usability of the prototype. However, over 20 of the RAs felt that the form was easy to use and would like to use it more frequently, there was proper integration of various functions in the form, and they felt very confident about using the form. The same number of participants did not find the form unnecessarily complex, and neither was there any inconsistency in the form. For some of the statements, the number of participants who were agreeing and disagreeing was almost equal. For example, 12 felt they would need a technical person to use the form, whereas 16 did not, 12 felt the form was cumbersome to use, 15 felt otherwise, and 18 participants felt they needed to learn a few things first before using the form whereas 15 disagreed to that. Finally, 9 of the participants would opt not to use the form more frequently.

We plotted a graph to compare the association between the time it took to complete the form and the SUS scores (Figure 3). The results indicate that the time the participants took to fill the form also varied ranging from 5 to 35 min across the participants, which gave an average of 19 min overall. The direction of the relationship between the SUS score and the time is negative as shown in Figure 3. Results from the bivariate Pearson correlation we conducted indicated that the SUS score and the time taken did not have a statistically significant linear relationship because P=.699 which is greater than .01 for a 2-tailed test.

Comparison of Results From the System Usability Scale and the Study Tailored Evaluation Questionnaire

Using these instruments concurrently turned out to be important because we were able to test for both usability and UX using the 2 instruments. In this study, the SUS is meant to measure usability, whereas the evaluation questionnaire is more detailed and meant to capture more of the UX after including the new design preferences.

Figure 4 indicates a positive relationship between the 2 variables, for example, the participants who were satisfied with the prototype (scored 4 or 5) according to the STEQ had high SUS scores and the ones who were not satisfied (scored 1 or 2) had relatively low SUS scores. The results from the bivariate Pearson correlation indicate that this relationship is significant at the .01 level for a 2-tailed test because the *P*-value is less than .01. The Pearson correlation value of .62 further signifies a strong association between the SUS score and the STEQ score.

The participants with the lowest SUS scores all found that the form was not simple to fill, easy to use, and were also not satisfied with it as depicted in the STEQ. These results could be attributed to the fact that there was a general comparison between the forms they had been using (ODK) and the high-fidelity prototype. It felt that the prototype was limiting their usage because due to missing functionality they could not freely do what they were used to doing with ODK. In general, the results from these 2 instruments are proof that the 2 evaluation methods or instruments are meant to complement each other and not to compete against each other [41].

Figure 1. The percentage of participants who agreed, disagreed or were neutral to the evaluation statements.





Figure 2. Results from the research assistants' (RAs) evaluation using the System Usability Scale (n=30).



Figure 3. System Usability Scale compared with form completion time (minutes).



XSL•FO RenderX

Figure 4. System Usability Scale (SUS) score compared with the Study Tailored Evaluation Questionnaire (STEQ) score. RA: research assistant.



We also note that the results for our generated affirmative STEQ do not depict any acquiescence bias because there were variations in the number of participants who *agreed* to a specific evaluation statement, meaning that not all the participants simply agreed to the evaluation statements. The percentage of participants with agreeable responses ranged from 60% (18/30), which was the lowest number, to 85% (29/30) the highest percentage (Figure 4). We also did not experience extreme response bias because the participants' responses did not only target the extreme options on the scale but also included neutral responses as shown in evaluation statements 5, 6, 11, and 13 where the percentage of respondents were 26% (8/30), 36% (11/30), 30% (9/30), and 76% (23/30) respectively. Thus, from this questionnaire, we were still able to get what the participants felt about the data collection form.

Discussion

Principal Findings

Our findings from the STEQ indicated that about 70% of the responses were *agreeable* to the affirmative statements, and the alternative average SUS score was 70.4, which showed that the participants were generally satisfied with the data collection forms. The results also indicated a strong positive association between the 2 evaluation questionnaires. Using 2 evaluation methods turned out to be important because it provided an opportunity to test for both the usability of the forms and the UX. This is based on the fact that a product with good usability can generate negative UXs, hence leading to dissatisfaction, whereas a product with bad usability can generate positive experiences or satisfaction [42]. In other words, good usability will not always lead to a good UX and the reverse is true.

We used 30 participants in this study, contrary to the recommended 5 by some researchers. The justification of the

number of use testers varies and is usually linked to the benefit per cost ratio [43], whereas some researchers also intimate that 5 test users are enough to detect 80% of the usability problems [44]. However, Pablo [17] suggests selecting as many users as would be representative of the target audience provided it does not affect the usability data analysis.

Usability is not an absolute concept, but is relative, dependent on the task and the user [17]. In this study, the variations in the levels of agreement with the different design features and the time taken to complete the tasks by the participants support this. The time the users spent in the evaluation process ranged from 5 to 35 min. The participants had never been involved in such an activity before, and at times found it difficult to follow the tasks while filling the form, which affected their time specifically during consultation. Some of the vocabulary particularly in the SUS may have been a bit complex to the participants, considering that usability was a new discipline to the participants.

Prototype evaluation as a means of usability testing may not necessarily identify comprehensively all the design problems in the prototype [17] because it may be hard to observe the participants diligently, attend to all their queries, and at the same time record the sessions all in one go. Thus, using prototype evaluation can be a time-consuming and error-prone task that is dependent on subjective individual variability [17]. However, errors can be managed by ensuring that there are enough observers during the exercise to support the participants where necessary, and also the tasks chosen should cater for the variability of all the participants. Using a prototype that can be accessed in an offline state would also be useful especially in areas where internet access and speeds are a problem.

Study Limitations

Metrics from posttest evaluations do not indicate why users struggle with any design and also do not provide insight on how the design can be improved because their main focus is on tracking how users feel about using a given product [33]. Their main focus is on producing a usability score for the system rather than the identification and remediation of the specific usability issues [45]. This was true for this study as well because the RAs were not required to elaborate on why they had scored the way they did, which then leaves a gap on how best to improve the MEDCF design. There is therefore a need to identify these usability issues and remediation and give them the attention they deserve.

It is important to note that the SUS questionnaire was given after the first evaluation questionnaire, when some of the participants were probably tired and had lost their concentration, which may have had an influence on the SUS score. It was evident in some questionnaires that the users did not give much thought to what they were evaluating but ticked the same score across all the statements, for example, 1 participant who scored 50 selected *agreed* to 8 of the 10 SUS statements. This kind of evaluation certainly affects the results of the SUS score because of the alternating positive and negative statements that comprise this instrument. The SUS was deliberately designed to obtain reliable scores by alternating positive and negative statements on the same thing, that is, the UX dimension.

It was not possible to attach the users' experience to their individual scores, because we collected the demographics data during the evaluation of the mid-fidelity prototype [29] and we did not collect it again, and yet the participants did not have unique identifiers.

The results also indicate that the participants were not satisfied with the size of the screen characters and visual appeal. One would argue that the phone had a small screen size as in some cases, one had to scroll up and down several times on the same page to fill up the content on that screen. This could have had an impact on the scores from the RAs and the subsequent results.

A reasonable amount of time was spent trying to secure an internet connection, and on getting it, the internet speed was rather slow hence affecting the prototype loading time. As a result, the participants had to work in shifts because the internet

could support 5 people at a go, meaning that some of the participants had to wait for longer hours before they could finally begin the exercise. Second, Survival Pluss project has a follow-up component of their recruited mothers, and some of these RAs had prior appointments to meet these mothers at the time when we were carrying out the evaluation. This also prolonged the time taken to carry out the evaluation because some of the RAs were not available on particular days or particular times.

Recommendations and Future Work

Tailoring OSS solutions to user-specific needs and preferences at reasonable costs is worth the effort. We thus recommend that data collectors worldwide are involved in form design and evaluation as early involvement could also help understand the potential of the group, their preferences, and the group's appropriate design solutions.

It is also important to consider the infrastructure and the user groups in such group testing activities, for example in this case, it would be advisable to have the prototype accessible in an offline state especially in areas where internet accessibility is a challenge.

It is not always feasible for software developers to include more resource-demanding features such as rich graphics, and perhaps some elements of gamification, but it is important to note that the RAs will always have some expectations that are worth exploring and considering.

Conclusions

Evaluating user design preferences to determine the UX using the group testing approach is not a common approach in the development of mobile data collection forms, and yet this could be one way of tailoring design to the user needs so as to cater for the diversity in context and user groups especially in rural Africa [46]. Using high-fidelity prototyping to demonstrate the design variations turned out to be a feasible and affordable form development option irrespective of the time it consumed during the evaluation process. The design features in the high-fidelity prototype that were evaluated can be a good basis when designing mobile data collection forms to improve usability and UX. In addition, adopting 2 evaluation instruments could be considered during user testing for purposes of comparing and complementing findings.

Acknowledgments

This work was funded by the Norwegian Agency for Development Cooperation (Norad) through the NORHED-funded HI-TRAIN project. However, the program had no role in determining the study design, data collection, and analysis, or in the interpretation of results and writing of the paper.

Authors' Contributions

AM wrote the protocol and participated in data collection and analysis. TT participated in data collection. AB participated in data collection and analysis. All authors participated in the preparation of paper and approval of its final copy.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.



Multimedia Appendix 1

Screenshots showing the high-fidelity prototype.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 1MB - humanfactors_v6i1e11852_app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Tasks carried out during interaction with the prototype.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 251KB - humanfactors_v6i1e11852_app2.pdf]

References

- 1. Raza A, Capretz L, Ahmed F. An empirical study of open source software usability: the industrial perspective. ACM Digital Library 2011:2011 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4018/jossp.201101010]
- 2. Andreasen M, Nielsen H, Schrøder S, Stage J. Usability in open source software development: opinions and practice. Inf Technol Control 2015;35(3):303-312 [FREE Full text]
- 3. Seffah A, Donyaee M, Kline RB, Padda HK. Usability measurement and metrics: a consolidated model. Software Qual J 2006 Jun;14(2):159-178. [doi: 10.1007/s11219-006-7600-8]
- 4. Çetin G, Göktürk M. A measurement based framework for assessment of usability-centricness of open source software projects. 2008 Presented at: 2008 IEEE International Conference on Signal Image Technology and Internet Based Systems; November 30-December 3, 2008; Bali, Indonesia. [doi: 10.1109/SITIS.2008.106]
- 5. Anokwa Y, Hartung C, Brunette W, Borriello G, Lerer A. Open source data collection in the developing world. Computer 2009 Oct;42(10):97-99 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1109/MC.2009.328]
- 6. Hoober S, Berkman E. Designing Mobile Interfaces: Patterns for Interaction Design. Sebastopol, California: O'Reilly Media; 2011.
- 7. Moe K, Dwolatzky B, Olst R. Designing a usable mobile application for field data collection. 2004 Presented at: IEEE AFRICON 2014; September 15-17, 2004; Capetown, South Africa. [doi: <u>10.1109/AFRICON.2004.1406877</u>]
- Yadav K, Naik V, Singh A, Singh P, Kumaraguru P, Chandra U. Challenges and novelties while using mobile phones as ICT devices for Indian masses: short paper. In: Proceedings of the 4th ACM Workshop on Networked Systems for Developing Regions. 2010 Presented at: NSDER'10; June 15, 2010; San Fransisco, California URL: <u>http://precog.iiitd.edu.in/</u> <u>Publications_files/nsdr10_short02.pdf</u>
- 9. Dunlop M, Brewster S. The challenge of mobile devices for human computer interaction. Person Ubiq Comput 2002;6(4):235-236. [doi: 10.1007/s007790200022]
- 10. Jones M, Marsden G, Mohd-Nasir N, Boone K, Buchanan G. Improving Web interaction on small displays. Comput Netw 1999;31(11):1129-1137 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S1389-1286(99)00013-4]
- Ehrler F, Haller G, Sarrey E, Walesa M, Wipfli R, Lovis C. Assessing the usability of six data entry mobile interfaces for caregivers: a randomized trial. JMIR Hum Factors 2015 Dec 15;2(2):e15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/humanfactors.4093] [Medline: 27025648]
- 12. Jones S, Jones M, Marsden G, Patel D, Cockburn A. An evaluation of integrated zooming and scrolling on small screens. Int J Hum-Comput Stud 2005;63(3):271-303. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijhcs.2005.03.005]
- Heo J, Ham D, Park S, Song C, Yoon WC. A framework for evaluating the usability of mobile phones based on multi-level, hierarchical model of usability factors. Interact Comput 2009 Aug;21(4):263-275 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.intcom.2009.05.006]
- 14. Molich R, Nielsen J. Improving a human-computer dialogue. Commun ACM 1994;33(3):338-348. [doi: 10.1145/77481.77486]
- Thitichaimongkhol K, Senivongse T. Enhancing Usability Heuristics for Android Applications on Mobile Devices. In: Proceedings of the World Congress on Engineering and Computer Science 2016 Volume I. 2016 Presented at: WCECS 2016; October 19-21, 2016; San Francisco, USA URL: <u>http://www.iaeng.org/publication/WCECS2016/ WCECS2016_pp224-229.pdf</u>
- 16. Cooper A. The Inmates Are Running the Asylum: Why High Tech Products Drive Us Crazy and How to Restore the Sanity. Indianapolis: Sams; 2004.
- 17. Moreno-Ger P, Torrente J, Hsieh YG, Lester WT. Usability testing for serious games: making informed design decisions with user data. Advan Hum-Comput Interact 2012;2012:1-13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2012/369637]
- Venable J, Pries-Heje J, Baskerville R. A comprehensive framework for evaluation in design science research. In: Proceedings of the 7th international conference on Design Science Research in Information Systems: Advances in Theory and Practice. 2012 Presented at: DESRIST'12; May 14-15, 2012; Las Vegas, Nevada. [doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-29863-9_31]
- Nascimento I, Silva W, Gadelha B, Conte T. Userbility: a technique for the evaluation of user experience and usability on mobile applications. In: Proceedings, Part I, of the 18th International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction. 2016 Presented at: 2016 International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction; July 17-22, 2016; Florence, Italy. [doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-39510-4_35]

- 20. Adikari S, McDonald C, Campbell J. A design science framework for designing and assessing user experience. In: Proceedings of the 14th International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction: Design and Development Approaches Volume Part I. 2011 Presented at: HCII'11; July 9-14, 2011; Orlando, Florida USA. [doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-21602-2_3]
- 21. International Organization for Standardization. 2009. ISO 13407:1999 Human-centred design processes for interactive systems URL: <u>https://www.iso.org/standard/21197.html</u>
- 22. Bruun A, Gull P, Hofmeister L, Stage J. Let your users do the testing: a comparison of three remote asynchronous usability testing methods. In: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2009 Presented at: CHI'09; April 4-9, 2009; Boston, Massachusetts, USA p. a. [doi: 10.1145/1518701.1518948]
- 23. Paz F, Pow-Sang J. Current Trends in Usability Evaluation Methods: A Systematic Review. 2014 Presented at: 2014 7th International Conference on Advanced Software Engineering and Its Applications; December 20-23, 2014; Haikou, China p. 14. [doi: 10.1109/ASEA.2014.10]
- 24. Downey L. Group usability testingvolution in usability techniques. J Usability Stud 2007;2(3):133-144 [FREE Full text]
- 25. Gould JD, Lewis C. Designing for usability: key principles and what designers think. Commun ACM 1985;28(3):300-311 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1145/3166.3170]
- 26. Tumwine J, Nankabirwa V, Ndeezi G, Tylleskar T, Wako P, Meleby J. Norwegian Agency for Development Cooperation. 2015. SURVIVAL PLUSS: Increasing Capacity for Mama-baby Survival in Post-conflict Uganda and South Sudan URL: https://norad.no/en/front/funding/norhed/projects/norhed-project-in-south-sudan-and-uganda/ [WebCite Cache ID 763X4Aeju]
- Shirima K, Mukasa O, Schellenberg JA, Manzi F, John D, Mushi A, et al. The use of personal digital assistants for data entry at the point of collection in a large household survey in southern Tanzania. Emerg Themes Epidemiol 2007 Jun 1;4:5 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1742-7622-4-5] [Medline: 17543099]
- 28. Mohammed-Rajput N, Smith D, Mamlin B, Biondich P, Doebbeling B, Open MRS Collaborative Investigators. OpenMRS, a global medical records system collaborative: factors influencing successful implementation. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2011;2011:960-968 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 22195155]
- 29. Mugisha A, Wakholi P, Babic A. Design Features for Usable Mobile Electronic Data Capturing Forms: The Form Developers? Perspective. 2018 Presented at: World Congress on Medical Physics and Biomedical Engineering 2018; June 3-8, 2018; Prague, Czech Republic. [doi: 10.1007/978-981-10-9035-6_85]
- Krumsvik O, Babic A, Mugisha A. Design Variations for Improved Usability of Mobile Data Capture in Rural Uganda. 2018 Presented at: World Congress on Medical Physics and Biomedical Engineering 2018; June 3-8, 2018; Prague, Czech Republic. [doi: 10.1007/978-981-10-9035-6 81]
- 31. MOBGEN. High-fidelity prototyping: What, When, Why and How? URL: <u>https://www.mobgen.com/high-fidelity-prototyping/</u> [accessed 2019-02-09] [WebCite Cache ID 763cWU6ja]
- Sun Y, Kantor PB. Cross-evaluation: a new model for information system evaluation. J Am Soc Inf Sci 2006 Mar;57(5):614-628. [doi: <u>10.1002/asi.20324</u>]
- 33. Laubheimer P. Nielsen Norman Group. 2018. Beyond the NPS: Measuring Perceived Usability with the SUS, NASA-TLX, and the Single Ease Question After Tasks and Usability Tests URL: <u>https://www.nngroup.com/articles/measuring-perceived-usability/</u> [accessed 2019-02-12] [WebCite Cache ID 7693d0HUr]
- Lewis JR. IBM computer usability satisfaction questionnaires: Psychometric evaluation and instructions for use. Int J Hum-Comput Int 1995 Jan;7(1):57-78 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10447319509526110]
- 35. Aeberhard A. CiteSeerX. 2011. FUS Form Usability Scale: Development of a Usability Measuring Tool for Online Forms URL: <u>http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.720.9352&rep=rep1&type=pdf</u> [accessed 2019-02-09] [WebCite Cache ID 763chR2p3]
- 36. Harper B, Norman K. CiteSeerX. 1993. Improving user satisfaction: The questionnaire for user interaction satisfaction version 5 URL: <u>http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.85.2053&rep=rep1&type=pdf</u>
- 37. Tullis T, Stetson J. CiteSeerX. 2004. A comparison of questionnaires for assessing website usability URL: <u>http://citeseerx.</u> ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.396.3677&rep=rep1&type=pdf
- Sauro J, Lewis J. When designing usability questionnaires, does it hurt to be positive? In: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2011 Presented at: CHI'11; May 7-12, 2011; Vancouver, Canada. [doi: 10.1145/1978942.1979266]
- Swamy S. How should you frame questions to measure user attitudes accurately? An experimental design study. 2007 Presented at: International Conference on Usability and Internationalization; July 22-27, 2007; Beijing, China. [doi: 10.1007/978-3-540-73289-1_57]
- 40. Brooke J. SUS-A quick and dirty usability scale. Usability evaluation in industry 1996;189(194):4-7 [FREE Full text]
- 41. Tan W, Liu D, Bishu R. Web evaluation: heuristic evaluation vs user testing. Int J Indust Ergo 2009 Jul;39(4):621-627. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ergon.2008.02.012</u>]
- 42. Jokela T. When good things happen to bad products. ACM Interact 2004 Nov 1;11(6):28. [doi: 10.1145/1029036.1029050]
- 43. Nielsen J, Landauer T. A mathematical model of the finding of usability problems. In: Proceedings of the INTERACT '93 and CHI '93 Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 1993 Presented at: CHI'93; April 24-29, 1993; Amsterdam, Netherlands. [doi: 10.1145/169059.169166]

- 44. Virzi RA. Refining the test phase of usability evaluation: how many subjects is enough? Hum Factors 2016 Nov 23;34(4):457-468. [doi: 10.1177/001872089203400407]
- 45. Boring RL, Gertman DI, Joe JC, Marble JL. Proof of Concept for a Human Reliability Analysis Method for Heuristic Usability Evaluation of Software. 2016 Nov 6 Presented at: Human Factors and Ergonomics Society (HFES) 60th International Annual Meeting; September 19-23, 2016; Los Angeles, California, USA p. 676-680. [doi: 10.1177/154193120504900509]
- Krumsvik O, Babic A, Mugisha A. Design Reflection on Mobile Electronic Data Capturing Forms in African Rural Settings. 2018 Presented at: World Congress on Medical Physics and Biomedical Engineering 2018; June 3-8, 2018; Prague, Czech Republic. [doi: 10.1007/978-981-10-9035-6_63]

Abbreviations

DSR: design science research MEDCF: mobile electronic data collection form NORHED: Norwegian Programme for Capacity Development in Higher Education and Research for Development ODK: Open Data Kit OSS: open-source software RA: research assistant STEQ: Study Tailored Evaluation Questionnaire SUS: System Usability Scale UCD: user-centered design UX: user experience

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 07.08.18; peer-reviewed by TW Chien, A Martinez-Millana; comments to author 12.10.18; revised version received 07.12.18; accepted 31.12.18; published 22.03.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Mugisha A, Babic A, Wakholi P, Tylleskär T High-Fidelity Prototyping for Mobile Electronic Data Collection Forms Through Design and User Evaluation JMIR Hum Factors 2019;6(1):e11852 URL: <u>http://humanfactors.jmir.org/2019/1/e11852/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/11852</u> PMID:<u>30900995</u>

©Alice Mugisha, Ankica Babic, Peter Wakholi, Thorkild Tylleskär. Originally published in JMIR Human Factors (http://humanfactors.jmir.org), 22.03.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Human Factors, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://humanfactors.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Nurses' Perceptions of a Care Plan Information Technology Solution With Hundreds of Clinical Practice Guidelines in Adult Intensive Care Units: Survey Study

Azizeh Khaled Sowan¹, RN, MSDA, PhD; Meghan Leibas², RN, MSN, CCRN; Albert Tarriela³, RN, MSN, CCRN; Charles Reed², RN, PhD, CNRN

¹School of Nursing, University of Texas Health at San Antonio, San Antonio, TX, United States

²Center for Clinical Excellence, University Health System, San Antonio, TX, United States

³Transplant Cardiac Intensive Care Unit, University Health System, San Antonio, TX, United States

Corresponding Author:

Azizeh Khaled Sowan, RN, MSDA, PhD School of Nursing University of Texas Health at San Antonio 7703 Floyd Curl Drive - MC 7975 San Antonio, TX, 78229 United States Phone: 1 210 567 5799 Fax: 1 210 567 1719 Email: sowan@uthscsa.edu

Abstract

Background: The integration of clinical practice guidelines (CPGs) into the nursing care plan and documentation systems aims to translate evidence into practice, improve safety and quality of care, and standardize care processes.

Objective: This study aimed to evaluate nurses' perceptions of the usability of a nursing care plan solution that includes 234 CPGs.

Methods: A total of 100 nurses from 4 adult intensive care units (ICUs) responded to a survey measuring nurses' perceptions of system usability. The survey included 37 rated items and 3 open-ended questions.

Results: Nurses' perceptions were favorable with more than 60.0% (60/100) in agreement on 12 features of the system and negative to moderate with 20.0% (20/100), to 59.0% (59/100) in agreement on 19 features. The majority of the nurses (80/100, 80.0% to 90/100, 90.0%) agreed on 4 missing safety features within the system. More than half of the nurses believed they would benefit from refresher classes on system use. Overall satisfaction with the system was just above average (54/100, 54.0%). Common positive themes from the narrative data were related to the system serving as a reminder for complete documentation and individualizing patient care. Common negative aspects were related to duplicate charting, difficulty locating CPGs, missing unit-specific CPGs, irrelevancy of information, and lack of perceived system value on patient outcomes. No relationship was found between years of system use or ICU experience and satisfaction with the system (P=.10 to P=.25).

Conclusions: Care plan systems in ICUs should be easy to navigate; support efficient documentation; present relevant, unit-specific, and easy-to-find information; endorse interdisciplinary communication; and improve safety and quality of care.

(JMIR Hum Factors 2019;6(1):e11846) doi:10.2196/11846

KEYWORDS

usability; patient care planning; evidence-based practice; nursing; documentation; information technology; survey

Introduction

Background

RenderX

Usability of health information technology (IT) is essential yet an overlooked aspect that drives system fitness to care context,

http://humanfactors.jmir.org/2019/1/e11846/

adoption, and quality and safety of care [1-5]. Usability is "the effectiveness, efficiency, and satisfaction with which specific users can achieve a specific set of tasks using a specific system in a particular environment" [6]. Methods for usability evaluation of health IT include questionnaires, chart review,

log file analysis, and observation of user-system-taskenvironment interaction [7]. Questionnaires are commonly used in usability studies to understand end-user perception of IT, are easy to administer, and serve as a basis for subsequent rigorous usability testing using techniques such as user-systemtask-environment interaction. In this study, we assessed nurses' perceptions of a care plan IT solution within the nursing documentation system in intensive care units (ICUs). The solution allows nurses to integrate the recommendations from hundreds of clinical practice guidelines (CPGs) into the plan of care.

CPGs are documents that synthesize recent research findings and recommend a plan of care to diagnose, treat, and manage disease conditions and symptoms. CPGs are essential treatment components for standardized evidence-based practice (EBP), better patient outcomes, cost reduction, and compliance with national safety standards [8-13]. On the other hand, CPGs are lengthy complex documents and vary in their trustworthiness, specificity, strength of evidence, and clarity of recommendations, thus hindering their adaption in intensive care environments with urgent and complex medical conditions [14-16]. Promising strategies for implementation and adoption of CPGs have focused on automating essential components (ie, the recommendations) of the CPGs and integrating them into the electronic health record (EHR) using interactive clinical decision support systems in the forms of alerts and reminders, care protocols, and bundles [12-17]. Although these approaches were successful in some contexts, they allow automating a limited number of CPGs and in many cases produce a small adoption and adherence rate in addition to alert fatigue [15-18]. Although the integration of CPGs' recommendations into an EHR is complex and multifaceted, in many cases and based on end users' perspectives, poor adherence to automated CPGs is attributed to poor usability of the IT system [17-21].

To improve adoption of CPGs, Elsevier Clinical Practice Model Resource Center developed Care Planning, a comprehensive interdisciplinary care plan and documentation solution that clinicians point-of-care provides instant access to recommendations from hundreds of CPGs for assessment, diagnosis, treatment, and evaluation [22]. Care Planning is developed based on the Elsevier Clinical Practice Model Framework. The framework places the patient as the center of care and focuses on the core beliefs, principles, and theories of EBP, health and healing, interdisciplinary integration, partnership, health informatics, and international consortium. The Care Planning CPGs, which were developed by interdisciplinary clinicians, are updated periodically and are tested by the Elsevier Clinical Practice Consortium that includes more than 400 hospitals [22]. Care Planning is currently used by many health care institutions across the United States and Canada [22]. The integration of an IT solution such as Care Planning into the nursing documentation system in complex environments such as ICUs is likely to have mixed effects on care processes and quality and safety outcomes. Despite the rise in system adoption, little information is available about the value and usability of the system from a nursing perspective.

Objective

In our facility, Care Planning is known as Knowledge-Based Charting (KBC) and is a major part of the nursing documentation system used to plan and document standardized and evidence-based nursing care. This study describes nurses' perceptions of the usability of the KBC solution within the nursing documentation system in terms of ease of use and documentation, usefulness, efficiency, system safety features, help resources, and training on system use.

Methods

Design, Setting, and Sample

This descriptive study took place in 4 adult ICUs in a 705-bed university teaching hospital with a large referral base in the southwest of the United States. ICUs included neuro (NeuroICU), medical (MICU), surgical trauma (STICU), and transplant and cardiac (TCICU), and had a total of 206 nurses and 950 annual discharges and transfers. After obtaining the approval of the institutional review board, 100 nurses were invited to respond to a questionnaire measuring their perceptions of the usability of the KBC solution. Recruitment was stopped after the target sample of 100 nurses was reached.

Description of the Knowledge-Based Charting System

In our facility, KBC (release 3.2) was integrated into the nursing documentation system in the EHR (Sunrise, Allscript). KBC consists of the index and flowsheets of CPGs. The CPGs' index is a database that includes 165 medical and surgical CPGs (eg, acute coronary syndrome and postoperative) and 69 behavioral or human response CPGs (eg, pain and anxiety). The CPGs' flowsheets are seamlessly integrated into the nursing documentation system only when a CPG is selected from the CPGs' index as described below. Nurse unit educators and superusers support individual training needs on KBC use. All ICUs were sufficiently equipped with hardware for EHR use.

The EHR provided nurses complete access to patient information. One of the main fields used by nurses in Sunrise is the plan of care (left-side list, Figure 1). Nurses can add a CPG by clicking on the list that appears under the plan of care (Figure 1). This allows nurses to access the CPGs index (Figure 1 — "Add Parameter"). From this index, nurses select CPGs that are pertinent to the patient condition. Once added, CPG recommendations appear as two main flowsheets under the plan of care list: CPGs flowsheet and CPGs education (Figure 1). Each of these flowsheets has subscreens to be completed by nurses once clicked. For example, the CPGs flowsheet has the following 4 subscreens (Figure 2): signs and symptoms of potential problems assessed, signs and symptoms of potential problems present, progress to goal, and plan of care. When nurses click any of these subscreens, a side list is presented for nurses to select what they assessed (problems assessed); what exists (problems present); if the goal to progress is improving, declining, or had no changes (progress to goal); and if the interventions related to present problems are ongoing or need to be discontinued or changed (plan of care; see Figure 2).

Sowan et al

Figure 1. Accessing the clinical practice guideline (CPG) index and adding CPGs from the CPGs' index.



Figure 2. Screens under the clinical practice guidelines' flowsheet with a side box for "problems assessed". 03 Plan of Care, Adult (FS), From Jun-23-2017 to Feb-13-2018

	Feb-13-2018
	11:30
Individualization (Mutuality/Preferences)	
CLINICAL PRACTICE GUIDELINES	Acute Coronary Syndrome: Signs/Symptoms of Potenti 💶 💷
Acute Coronary Syndrome: Signs/Symptoms of Potential Problems Assessed	Filter To:
Acute Coronary Syndrome: Signs/Symptoms of Potential Problems Present	☐ acute pain ☐ cardiovascular structural defects ☐ dysrhythmia/arrhythmia
Acute Coronary Syndrome: Progress to Goal Signs/Symptoms of Potential Problems are Absent or Manageable	hemodynamic instability ischemia leading to infarction mural thrombosis leading to embolism
Acute Coronary Syndrome: Plan of Care	pericarditis leading to pericardial effusion situational response
Interdisciplinary Plan of Care	OK Cancel
+ Outcome Summary	·

In addition to the CPG-related flowsheets integrated under the plan of care in Sunrise, 2 other flowsheets are also automatically added to the assessment and intervention field in the nursing documentation system in Sunrise (Figure 3) once a CPG is added to the nursing documentation system. The tabs provide nurses with lists of assessment points and interventions to pick from (see Figure 3, a side screen for dysrhythmia management interventions). As the lists can be lengthy, nurses were trained to choose wisely from these lists to provide manageable care, especially when multiple CPGs apply to the patient condition. Under the assessment and intervention field, standard of care–related fields are highlighted in a different color (yellow and blue) than the CPG-related flowsheets (green).

After a hand-off report, nurses can verify, modify, add, or discontinue CPGs based on the chief medical diagnosis, physical examination, assessment findings, problems list, vital signs, and intake and output. Nurses may also access the complete document of any CPG to confirm the appropriateness of the selected CPG or to learn more about the health condition.

Sowan et al

Figure 3. Dysrhythmia management interventions suggested by the dysrhythmia clinical practice guideline. 04 Assessment/Intervention, Adult (F5), From Jan-30-2018 to Feb-13-2018



The complete document of a CPG is similar to a CPG summary published by the Guideline Central [23] in which it provides a summary of the recommendations based on the latest evidence for assessment and interventions along with the strength of the recommendation. However, unlike the CPG summary from the Guideline Central, our complete document in the KBC was limited to 3 of the following main parts: the name of the CPG and the target population (ie, asthma, adult patients); goals and outcomes; and assessment, intervention, clinical reasoning, and decision making. The 2 components under goals and outcomes are (1) signs and symptoms of manageable potential problems (ie, hypoxia, pneumonia, and depression) and (2) educational outcomes (ie, symptoms of asthma, medication treatment plan, modifiable risk factors, and self-management strategies). The assessment, intervention, clinical reasoning, and decisionmaking section of a complete CPG document in KBC includes the following information under each potential problem: definition; assessment strategies; recommended interventions; citation of the evidence; and the strength of the recommendation for each intervention.

Instrumentation and Procedures for Data Collection

Nurse Perception of the Usability of the KBC Solution Questionnaire was developed after extensive review of usability literature and IT issues identified in critical care settings [1-7,24-33] and was guided by the Davis Technology Acceptance Model [34], Nielsen usability heuristics [35], and Zhang and Walji usability principles [36]. The questionnaire includes 3 sections: (1) demographic data (eg, age, gender, employment status, and years of experience); (2) 37 rated items of a 5-point Likert-type scale of agreement; (3) and 3 open-ended questions to understand missing CPGs that nurses wish the system included and advantages and negative aspects of the KBC. Rated items reflect the following usability aspects of the KBC: perceived ease of use, usefulness (ie, KBC effect on workflow, safety, quality of care, communication, and supporting interdisciplinary care), inclusiveness of the KBC to most important CPGs necessary for ICU conditions, system safety, efficiency, adequacy of training and help resources, and nurse satisfaction with the KBC system. The questionnaire was validated by 5 expert ICU nurse educators, 3 KBC superusers, and informatics experts for appropriateness and adequacy of items and was administered via SurveyMonkey.

To improve the response rate, 2 stations with 4 computers each were set outside the ICUs and nurses were invited to respond to the survey when they were coming to their shifts or leaving the unit. Data collectors also rounded in ICUs before and after shift change to encourage participation. A small cash token for participation was given to each respondent. To foster voluntary participation, some data collectors were non-ICU nurses and data collectors who were ICU nurses administered the questionnaire in ICUs other than their units.

Analysis

Demographics and survey items were presented using descriptive statistics. The relationship between demographic variables and survey items were examined using correlation tests such as chi-square and Spearman rho, with a significance level of .05. Content analysis was used to categorize narrative data into themes.

Results

Nurse Characteristics

All nurses provided complete questionnaires (N=100). As shown in Table 1, the majority of the nurses were from STICU (28/100, 28.0%), aged more than 30 years (60/100, 60.0%), females (65/100, 65.0%), and full-time employees (69/100, 69.0%). Most of the nurses worked in ICUs for 3 years or fewer (59/100, 59.0%) and rated their computer skills as moderate or above moderate (85/100, 85.0%). Of the nurses, 27.0% (27/100) had less than 1-year experience of KBC system use.

Table 1. Nurse characteristics (N=100).

Characteristic	n (%)				
Intensive care unit					
Surgical trauma	28 (28.0)				
Transplant/cardiac	26 (26.0)				
Medical	26 (26.0)				
Neuro	20 (20.0)				
Age (years)					
Less than 30	40 (40.0)				
More than 30	60 (60.0)				
Gender					
Female	65 (65.0)				
Male	35 (35.0)				
Employment status					
Full-time	69 (69.0)				
Part-time	31 (31.0)				
Experience with KBC ^a system					
Fewer than 6 months	14 (14.0)				
6-11 months	13 (13.0)				
1-3 years	38 (38.0)				
More than 3 years	35 (35.0)				
Years in intensive care units					
Fewer than or equal to 3 years	59 (59.0)				
More than 3 years	41 (41.0)				
Years working as a nurse					
Fewer than or equal to 3 years	33 (33.0)				
More than 3 years	67 (67.0)				
Level of computer expertise					
Novice	0 (0.0)				
Moderate	37 (37.0)				
Above moderate	48 (48.0)				
Expert	15 (15.0)				

^aKBC: Knowledge-Based Charting.

Nurse Perception of the Usability of the Knowledge-Based Charting System

The internal consistency reliability of the questionnaire was acceptable (Cronbach alpha=.82). Nurses' responses to the rated survey items reflecting their perceptions of the usability of the KBC system were coded as *Agree* for agree or strongly agree responses and *Disagree* for disagree or strongly disagree responses. Items with a neutral response remained *Neutral* (see Multimedia Appendix 1).

The majority of the nurses agreed that there is a need for the system to suggest most critical interventions, alert nurses for safety considerations and when inappropriate CPGs were

RenderX

selected, and to provide a summary of changes in the patient care plan (Items 1, 2, 4, and 5; 80/100, 80.0% to 90/100, 90.0%).

Although the system includes CPGs for the majority of the medical conditions (Item 6; 74/100, 74.0% agreement), it is missing important CPGs for medical conditions often seen in ICUs (Item 12; 63/100, 63.0% agreement). The majority of the nurses (63/100, 63.0% to 72/100, 72.0%) believed the system helps them with medical conditions that they were not familiar with (Item 7), promotes patient engagement (Item 13), individualizes patient care (Item 14), improves the quality of nursing documentation (Item 15), and provides comprehensive nursing care (Item 16). On the contrary, only one half of the nurses agreed that they see the value of nursing documentation

on patient outcomes using the system (Item 24; 54/100, 54.0%) and that the system has positive effects on patient outcomes (Item 29; 49/100, 49.0%).

The majority of the nurses agreed to the consistency of terminologies used to display CPGs and CPGs' components (Item 11; 64/100, 64.0% and Item 8; 70/100, 70.0%) and more than half agreed to the ease of use of some features of the system (Items 3, 10, 19, 25, and 28; 52/100, 52.0% to 84/100, 84.0%). Yet, only 37.0% (37/100) to 48.0% (48/100) of the nurses believed it is easy to locate CPGs, the documentation of the multidisciplinary team, and the nursing documentation by other disciplines (Items 30, 31, 32, and 33). In addition, although 59.0% (59/100) to 69.0% (69/100) of the nurses considered themselves proficient system users (Item 9) and reported availability of help resources for system use (Item 17), only 58.0% (58/100) reported receiving adequate training on system use (Item 20), and 56.0% (56/100) believed they would benefit from refresher training classes (Item 22).

According to the nurses, the KBC system did not improve documentation efficiency (Item 35; 45/100, 45.0%) and only one-fifth of the nurses believed that the quality of their work is based on the KBC system (Item 37; 20/100, 20.0%). The majority of the nurses (59/100, 59.0%) used workarounds when interacting with the system (Item 18). The overall nurse satisfaction with the system was just above average (Item 26; 54/100, 54.0%).

Open-Ended Questions

Missing Clinical Practice Guidelines

A total of 76 nurses (NeuroICU [17/20], STICU [15/28], MICU [23/26], and TCICU [21/26]) listed missing CPGs that nurses would have liked the system to include. Nurses from the NeuroICU suggested 15 CPGs (eg, mechanical ventilation, neurological diseases, multiple sclerosis, and embolic stroke). STICU nurses suggested 11 CPGs (eg, snakebites, hemodynamics, more trauma-related CPGs, postoperative, and gastrointestinal), whereas MICU nurses suggested 30 (eg, gastrointestinal bleeding, acute liver/renal failure, pulmonary embolism, and respiratory/congestive heart failure). Nurses from TCICU listed the following CPGs as missing: liver and lung transplant, trauma, coronary artery bypass grafting, and toxic ingestion of a specific drug. Gastrointestinal bleeding, flaps, altered mental status, and toxic ingestion of a specific drug were reported by nurses from 2 or more ICUs.

Advantages of the System

A total of 88 nurses (NeuroICU [15/20], STICU [26/28], MICU [23/26], and TCICU [24/26]) listed advantages of the KBC system. Major themes with examples are presented in Multimedia Appendix 2. The 2 most common themes were related to the system (1) serving as a reminder to provide complete care and (2) helping nurses organize patient care and track progress toward achieving individualized patient outcomes. The least commonly reported themes were related to ease of system use and system role in promoting accountability and EBP and educating nurses on new medical conditions, specifically the new hires.

XSL•FO

Negative Aspects of the Knowledge-Based Charting System

A total of 90 nurses (NeuroICU [18/20], STICU [25/28], MICU [23/26], and TCICU [24/26]) provided details on difficulties and negative aspects of using the KBC. Common themes with examples are presented in Multimedia Appendix 3. Duplicate charting and time consuming were the most commonly cited negative aspects of the system. A total of 20 nurses related this to repetitive interventions as a result of lack of communication across CPGs, especially when a patient has multiple CPGs, and lack of cross-communication among different flowsheets; this required the nurses to spend a long time documenting care and negatively affected the time spent with patients.

Difficulty finding appropriate or specific CPGs was another negative aspect contributing to a long time of system use. Nurses suggested listing CPGs by body systems (eg, "if it was listed by systems it would be easier to find"), the use of search features or a search engine instead of viewing a long list of CPGs, and the need for the system to automatically suggest and display related CPGs based on the medical diagnosis. In addition, some of the CPGs are too broad and others are missing from the system.

A total of 25 nurses reported that the system has no value to patient care or nursing and that they select CPGs and complete the documentation for legal purposes only. A careful examination of the data showed that all these nurses have more than 3 years of experience in system use. The complexity of the system also resulted in selecting CPGs at the end of the shift for documentation purposes only instead of using CPGs at the beginning of the shift to guide care. The least common themes were related to system lack-of-safety features and lack of training on system use, specifically for the new hires.

Relationship Between Variables

No significant correlations were found between years of experience in KBC system use, ICU, age, years in ICU, and satisfaction with the system (P=.10 to P=.25).

Discussion

Principal Findings

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to assess nurses' perceptions of the usability of a care plan and documentation system that is based on hundreds of CPGs in ICUs. Nurses' perceptions were favorable on 12 out of 37 features of the system, with more than 60.0% agreement. These were related to ease of use of some features (eg, add and discontinue CPGs) and system usefulness to nursing and patient care (eg, educates nurses on medical conditions and engages the patient in care). On the other hand, nurses reported moderate perceptions with 50.0% to 59.0% agreement on 10 features of the system (eg, training on system use, ease of use and navigation, relevancy of information to nursing care, system support to nursing workflow and information need, and perceived value of nursing documentation on patient outcomes). Negative perceptions were reported on 9 features of the system (20.0% to 49.0% agreement) related to system effect on patient outcomes, difficulty in locating CPGs, lack of system support

to interdisciplinary communication, inefficient documentation, and underuse of behavioral CPGs by nurses. In addition, the majority of the nurses agreed on 4 missing safety features of alerts and reminders within the system and the use of workarounds. Overall satisfaction with the system was just above average.

Our findings were consistent with common areas identified by usability studies of nursing documentation systems related to the long time for documentation and task completion, lack of data relevancy, and nurse perception of lack of system effect on quality of care [24,31,32,37,38]. Yet, our study was specific to the usability of a CPG-based care planning solution within the nursing documentation system and found a lack of system safety features as a major concern for nurses. The need for the KBC system to suggest critical interventions and alert nurses on safety considerations and inappropriate selection of CPGs was perceived as essential by almost all nurses.

Consistent with the findings from the rated survey items, common themes on negative aspects of the system in the narrative data were related to unnecessary repetitive documentation, difficulty finding appropriate CPGs, missing unit-specific information, irrelevancy of information, and the lack of perceived system value. These findings may explain the use of workarounds and inappropriate system use, such as using the system at the end of the shift for documentation purposes to cover nurses legally instead of using it to guide nursing care and the decision-making process. These forms of workarounds are examples of inappropriate use of EHR and are classified by Sittig and Singh [39,40] as EHR-related errors.

Although nurses recognized the system value on standardizing and individualizing care, 80.0% (80/100) did not believe that the quality of nursing care is based on system use. The difficulties nurses face in system use might mask the perceived effect of the system on improving patient outcomes and the value of nursing documentation on patient outcomes. The most commonly reported difficulty was repetitive documentation. Duplicate documentation is not only time consuming but also error-prone and, in our study, resulted from (1) lack of seamless data transmission and lack of communication across CPGs and flowsheets, (2) irrelevancy of CPGs to specific ICUs, which resulted in searching a long list to find an appropriate CPG and searching long lists of interventions and assessment, and (3) the need to go out of Sunrise to select CPGs. Another commonly cited downside of the system was lack of support to nursing information needs by missing important CPGs for some critical cases.

Although no significant correlations were found between years of experience and nurse satisfaction with the system, the value of the system to new nurses with less ICU experience and the lack of system value to expert nurses were supported by different comments from novice and expert nurses. This may support the difference in information need and the decision-making process between novice and expert ICU nurses. It may also suggest that expert ICU nurses appreciate systems that promote safety and efficient documentation, present only relevant information in a visible and easy-to-find manner, and allow nurses to have a sense of control in system use instead of searching long lists. Another possible explanation is the lack of appreciation among expert nurses that new evidence continues to change the way we provide care. One of the expert nurses commented, "You can perform without referring to KBC, if familiar with the interventions."

Consistent with previous studies [37,38], our results supported the need for periodic training on system use. Almost 60% of the nurses reported they would benefit from refresher training sessions. Nurses' inability to locate CPGs and the documentation of the multidisciplinary team reflects the difficulty in system use and supports the need for training. The reported difficulty in locating behavioral CPGs is a plausible explanation for behavioral CPG underuse. Another possible explanation is the complexity of medical conditions in ICUs that requires heavy reliance on medical-surgical CPGs for life-threatening conditions (eg, dysrhythmia). In the narrative data, one of the nurses commented on excessive documentation of 11 to 12 problems per patient. Managing and documenting the assessment, interventions, and patient education for that many problems is unrealistic in ICUs and suggests the need for training on system use. Nurses were educated to focus on 3 to 5 high-priority problems in patient care. On the contrary, nurses' concerns about the legal aspects of documentation might explain the selection of multiple CPGs that would result in unmanageable care and excessive documentation. In addition, although the system is missing some CPGs for critical patient conditions often seen in ICUs, some of the CPGs reported by nurses as missing are actually available within the system, such as mechanical ventilation, neurological diseases, multiple sclerosis, and embolic stroke. This can be explained by the long list of CPGs and lack of automatic integration or suggestions of CPGs based on patient conditions and further supports the need for training on system use.

The use of a questionnaire in this study provided valuable input on system deficiencies and set the stage for future initiatives on observing user-system-task-environment interaction. This study provides valuable information for end users, leaders, researchers, stakeholders, and system vendors on strategies for system and workflow redesign improvement. The study identified usability issues that complicate nurses' work, threaten appropriate system use, and initiate unsafe workarounds in complex ICU environments. In summary, usability issues identified by nurses in this study reflect system failure to achieve at least 10 of Zhang and Walji's 14 usability principles [36] and suggest an urgent need for system redesign. For example, difficulties in finding CPGs negatively affect the systemvisibility principle. The moderate agreement to the statement "method and sequence of data entry match the workflow and thought processes of the nurse" and irrelevancy of data displayed by the system suggest a mismatch between the system and nursing world. Lack of safety features and workarounds are indicators of lack of informative feedback, inability to prevent user errors, and unavailability of *error message* principles. Nurses' inability to discontinue one aspect of a CPG negates flexibility and customizability and user control principles. Inefficient documentation indicates system failure of the help and documentation principle. Lack of seamless data transition across

XSL•FO RenderX

CPGs and flowsheets and excessive data entry increase *memory load* and invalidate the *minimalist design* principle.

Implications

Nursing documentation has safety, compliance, nursing and interdisciplinary communication, legal, accreditation, and financial implications for practitioners, administrators, researchers, and accreditation, safety, and reimbursement agencies. The Joint Commission requires the use of individualized plan of care for each patient to promote effective, continuous, and safe care. The use of EHR-integrated CPGs and CPG-based care planning IT solutions is essential to evidence-based and safe practice, individualized patient care, and complete and standardized documentation. However, inappropriate design, integration, and use of care planning systems such as the KBC would mask any relationships between CPG use and effective and complete documentation; CPG use and quality and safety of care; and complete documentation and safety and quality of care. To be effective, vendors and health care leaders should make certain that CPG-based care planning systems suggest critical interventions and alert nurses on safety considerations and inappropriate selection of CPGs; include a complete list of CPGs for ICU medical conditions; have a search engine for nurses to easily locate relevant unit-specific CPGs; and allow communication across CPGs to eliminate unnecessary repetitive documentation. IT and quality improvement departments and researchers are tasked to conduct periodic examination of nurses' perceptions and use of the system, workarounds, as well as periodic training on system use as critical factors for system success.

Limitations

The findings of this study should be interpreted in light of the following limitations. The study was implemented in ICUs

where urgency of care, pressure to find relevant and supportive information, and efficiency of documentation are crucial. Nurse perception of the usability of the same system in other units with less critical care needs might be different. Although our data collection procedure was successful to achieve our target sample size, increasing the sample of ICU nurses and including non-ICU nurses may increase the generalizability of the study. The high response rate may also reflect nurse frustration with the system and the urgent need for system redesign. Finally, nursing care plan and documentation systems vary widely across health institutions in terms of technical complexity, customizability, amount, relevancy, visibility, organization, sources, credibility, and transition of information, safety features, and interoperability between nursing documentation systems and other modules in an EHR. This introduces a challenge for direct comparison across studies of different systems or even the same system with different implementation and EHR-integration frameworks. Nevertheless, the comparison can be made using usability principles.

Conclusions

CPG-based care planning systems provide nurses access to easy-to-understand recommendations from hundreds of CPGs without the complexity of statistical jargons. Nevertheless, nurses' perceptions of the usability of these systems are essential for appropriate and safe system use as well as safety and quality of care. Periodic training on system use is necessary. Training should not be limited to technical aspects of system use but should also highlight system value to nursing and patient care. Nursing care plan systems with CPGs in ICUs should be easy to navigate; promote safety; support efficient documentation; present relevant, unit-specific, and easy-to-find information; endorse interdisciplinary communication; and improve safety and quality of care.

Acknowledgments

This project was funded by the University Health System's Center for Clinical Excellence and the University of Texas Health School of Nursing. The role of the funding sources was limited to providing financial support for the conduct of the research. Sponsors were not involved in study design, collection, analysis, or interpretation of data, writing of manuscript, or the decision to submit the article for publication. We would like to thank all nurses from all critical care units who participated in this study.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Nurse perception of the usability of the knowledge-based charting system (N=100).

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 30KB - humanfactors v6i1e11846 app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Thematic categories of advantages of knowledge-based charting system (N=88 nurses).

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 23KB - humanfactors_v6i1e11846_app2.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 3

Thematic categories of negative aspects of knowledge-based charting system (N=90 nurses).

http://humanfactors.jmir.org/2019/1/e11846/

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 25KB - humanfactors_v6i1e11846_app3.pdf]

References

- 1. Graber M, Johnston D, Bailey R. RTI International. Report of the evidence on health IT safety and interventions URL: https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/task 8 1 final 508.pdf [accessed 2018-08-06] [WebCite Cache ID 71TIp4FXU]
- 2. The National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. Health IT and Patient Safety: Building Safer Systems for Better Care URL: <u>https://www.nap.edu/read/13269/chapter/1</u> [accessed 2018-04-14] [WebCite Cache ID 71TJ0Rsv8]
- National Quality Forum. Identification and Prioritization of HIT Patient Safety Measures URL: <u>http://www.qualityforum.org/</u> <u>Publications/2016/02/Identification and Prioritization of HIT Patient Safety Measures.aspx</u> [accessed 2018-08-06] [WebCite Cache ID 71TJKkNw5]
- Middleton B, Bloomrosen M, Dente MA, Hashmat B, Koppel R, Overhage JM, American Medical Informatics Association. Enhancing patient safety and quality of care by improving the usability of electronic health record systems: recommendations from AMIA. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2013 Jun;20(e1):e2-e8 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/amiajnl-2012-001458] [Medline: 23355463]
- 5. American Medical Association. Improving Care: Priorities to Improve Electronic Health Record Usability URL: <u>https://www.aace.com/files/ehr-priorities.pdf</u> [accessed 2018-08-06] [WebCite Cache ID 71TJST8Gt]
- Schoeffel R. ISO Bulletin. 2003. The Concept of Product Usability URL: <u>https://docbox.etsi.org/stf/Archive/</u> <u>STF285_HF_MobileEservices/STF285%20Work%20area/Setup/Inputs%20to%20consider/ISO20282.pdf</u> [accessed 2018-12-10] [WebCite Cache ID 74YTD6rLo]
- Yen PY, Bakken S. Review of health information technology usability study methodologies. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2012 Jun;19(3):413-422 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/amiajnl-2010-000020] [Medline: 21828224]
- Stevens KR. The impact of evidence-based practice in nursing and the next big ideas. Online J Issues Nurs 2013 May 31;18(2):4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3912/OJIN.Vol18No02Man04] [Medline: 23758422]
- 9. Lugtenberg M, Burgers JS, Westert GP. Effects of evidence-based clinical practice guidelines on quality of care: a systematic review. Qual Saf Health Care 2009 Oct;18(5):385-392. [doi: 10.1136/qshc.2008.028043] [Medline: 19812102]
- Kane-Gill SL, Dasta JF, Buckley MS, Devabhakthuni S, Liu M, Cohen H, et al. Clinical practice guideline: safe medication use in the ICU. Crit Care Med 2017 Sep;45(9):e877-e915. [doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000002533] [Medline: 28816851]
- 12. Faddoul B, Sowan A, Johnson K. Errors in interpretation of a tight glycemic control (TGC) protocol. American Association of Critical Care Nurses (AACCN) -Research & Creative Solutions: the National Teaching Institute and Critical Care Exposition;May 3-8, Chicago, Illinois 2008.
- Lyerla F, LeRouge C, Cooke DA, Turpin D, Wilson L. A nursing clinical decision support system and potential predictors of head-of-bed position for patients receiving mechanical ventilation. Am J Crit Care 2010 Jan;19(1):39-47 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4037/ajcc2010836] [Medline: 20045847]
- 14. Institute of Medicine, Board on Health Care Services, Committee on Standards for Developing Trustworthy Clinical Practice Guidelines. Clinical Practice Guidelines We Can Trust. Washington, DC: National Academies Press; 2011.
- Hysong SJ, Best RG, Pugh JA. Clinical practice guideline implementation strategy patterns in Veterans Affairs primary care clinics. Health Serv Res 2007 Feb;42(1 Pt 1):84-103 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1475-6773.2006.00610.x] [Medline: 17355583]
- Kredo T, Bernhardsson S, Machingaidze S, Young T, Louw Q, Ochodo E, et al. Guide to clinical practice guidelines: the current state of play. Int J Qual Health Care 2016 Feb;28(1):122-128 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/intqhc/mzv115] [Medline: 26796486]
- 17. Cykert S. The benefits and concerns surrounding the automation of clinical guidelines. N C Med J 2015;76(4):235-237 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.18043/ncm.76.4.235] [Medline: 26509515]
- Ancker JS, Edwards A, Nosal S, Hauser D, Mauer E, Kaushal R, with the HITEC Investigators. Effects of workload, work complexity, and repeated alerts on alert fatigue in a clinical decision support system. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2017 Apr 10;17(1):36 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-017-0430-8] [Medline: 28395667]
- 19. Karsh BT. University of Wisconsin—Madison. Clinical Practice Improvement and Redesign: How Change in Workflow Can Be Supported by Clinical Decision Support URL: <u>https://healthit.ahrq.gov/sites/default/files/docs/page/09-0054-EF-Updated_0.pdf</u> [accessed 2018-05-11] [WebCite Cache ID 71TKv8qtx]
- 20. Tolentino-DelosReyes AF, Ruppert SD, Shiao SP. Evidence-based practice: use of the ventilator bundle to prevent ventilator-associated pneumonia. Am J Crit Care 2007 Jan;16(1):20-27 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>17192523</u>]
- Zaydfudim V, Dossett LA, Starmer JM, Arbogast PG, Feurer ID, Ray WA, et al. Implementation of a real-time compliance dashboard to help reduce SICU ventilator-associated pneumonia with the ventilator bundle. Arch Surg 2009 Jul;144(7):656-662. [doi: 10.1001/archsurg.2009.117] [Medline: 19620546]
- 22. Elsevier (2018). Care Planning: Coordinated Care Across the Continuum URL: <u>https://www.elsevier.com/solutions/</u> <u>care-planning</u> [accessed 2018-08-06] [WebCite Cache ID 71TL5DklN]

- 23. Guideline Central. Official Society Guidelines Tools URL: <u>https://www.guidelinecentral.com</u> [accessed 2018-11-20] [WebCite Cache ID 744wdMTKK]
- 24. Vatnøy T, Vabo G, Fossum M. A usability evaluation of an electronic health record system for nursing documentation used in the municipality healthcare services in Norway. 2014 Presented at: International Conference on HCI in Business; June 22-27, 2014; Heraklion, Crete, Greece p. 690-699 URL: <u>https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007%2F978-3-319-07293-7_67</u> [doi: <u>10.1007/978-3-319-07293-7_67</u>]
- 25. Ash JS, Berg M, Coiera E. Some unintended consequences of information technology in health care: the nature of patient care information system-related errors. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2004 Apr;11(2):104-112 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1197/jamia.M1471] [Medline: 14633936]
- 26. Rogers ML, Sockolow PS, Bowles KH, Hand KE, George J. Use of a human factors approach to uncover informatics needs of nurses in documentation of care. Int J Med Inform 2013 Nov;82(11):1068-1074. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2013.08.007] [Medline: 24008175]
- 27. Hoonakker PL, Carayon P, Brown RL, Cartmill RS, Wetterneck TB, Walker JM. Changes in end-user satisfaction with computerized provider order entry over time among nurses and providers in intensive care units. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2013;20(2):252-259 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/amiajnl-2012-001114] [Medline: 23100129]
- Lavin MA, Harper E, Barr N. Health information technology, patient safety, and professional nursing care documentation in acute care settings. Online J Issues Nurs 2015 Apr 14;20(2):6 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3912/OJIN.Vol20No02PPT04] [Medline: 26882425]
- 29. Hildreth AN, Enniss T, Martin RS, Miller PR, Mitten-Long D, Gasaway J, et al. Surgical intensive care unit mobility is increased after institution of a computerized mobility order set and intensive care unit mobility protocol: a prospective cohort analysis. Am Surg 2010 Aug;76(8):818-822. [Medline: 20726410]
- 30. Plenderleith J. Clinical information systems in the intensive care unit. Anaesth Intensive Care Med 2013 Jan;14(1):19-21. [doi: 10.1016/j.mpaic.2012.11.003]
- Nolan ME, Siwani R, Helmi H, Pickering BW, Moreno-Franco P, Herasevich V. Health IT usability focus section: data use and navigation patterns among medical ICU clinicians during electronic chart review. Appl Clin Inform 2017 Dec;8(4):1117-1126. [doi: 10.4338/ACI-2017-06-RA-0110] [Medline: 29241249]
- 32. Leslie M, Paradis E, Gropper MA, Kitto S, Reeves S, Pronovost P. An ethnographic study of health information technology use in three intensive care units. Health Serv Res 2017 Dec;52(4):1330-1348 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/1475-6773.12466] [Medline: 28124443]
- Page CA, Schadler A. A nursing focus on EMR usability enhancing documentation of patient outcomes. Nurs Clin North Am 2014 Mar;49(1):81-90. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.cnur.2013.11.010</u>] [Medline: <u>24485189</u>]
- 34. Davis FD. Perceived usefulneass, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology. MIS Q 1989 Sep;13(3):319-340. [doi: 10.2307/249008]
- 35. Nielsen J. Usability Engineering. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 1993.
- Zhang J, Walji MF. TURF: toward a unified framework of EHR usability. J Biomed Inform 2011 Dec;44(6):1056-1067 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2011.08.005] [Medline: 21867774]
- Cho I, Kim E, Choi WH, Staggers N. Comparing usability testing outcomes and functions of six electronic nursing record systems. Int J Med Inform 2016 Apr;88:78-85. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2016.01.007</u>] [Medline: <u>26878766</u>]
- Viitanen J, Kuusisto A, Nykänen P. Usability of electronic nursing record systems: definition and results from an evaluation study in Finland. Stud Health Technol Inform 2011;164:333-338. [doi: <u>10.3233/978-1-60750-709-3-333</u>] [Medline: <u>21335733</u>]
- 39. Sittig DF, Singh H. Defining health information technology-related errors: new developments since to err is human. Arch Intern Med 2011 Jul 25;171(14):1281-1284 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/archinternmed.2011.327] [Medline: 21788544]
- Sittig DF, Singh H. Electronic health records and national patient-safety goals. N Engl J Med 2012 Nov 8;367(19):1854-1860
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1056/NEJMsb1205420] [Medline: 23134389]

Abbreviations

CPG: clinical practice guideline EBP: evidence-based practice EHR: electronic health record ICU: intensive care unit IT: information technology KBC: Knowledge-Based Charting MICU: medical intensive care unit NeuroICU: neuro intensive care unit STICU: surgical trauma intensive care unit TCICU: transplant and cardiac intensive care unit



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 06.08.18; peer-reviewed by I Cho; comments to author 10.11.18; revised version received 22.11.18; accepted 22.11.18; published 12.02.19. <u>Please cite as:</u> Sowan AK, Leibas M, Tarriela A, Reed C Nurses' Perceptions of a Care Plan Information Technology Solution With Hundreds of Clinical Practice Guidelines in Adult Intensive Care Units: Survey Study JMIR Hum Factors 2019;6(1):e11846 URL: http://humanfactors.jmir.org/2019/1/e11846/ doi:10.2196/11846 PMID:30747713

©Azizeh Khaled Sowan, Meghan Leibas, Albert Tarriela, Charles Reed. Originally published in JMIR Human Factors (http://humanfactors.jmir.org), 12.02.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Human Factors, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://humanfactors.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Improving Provider Adoption With Adaptive Clinical Decision Support Surveillance: An Observational Study

Sundas Khan¹, MD; Safiya Richardson¹, MD, MPH; Andrew Liu², MD; Vinodh Mechery¹, MD; Lauren McCullagh¹, MPH; Andy Schachter³, PA-C; Salvatore Pardo⁴, MD; Thomas McGinn¹, MD, MPH

¹Donald and Barbara Zucker School of Medicine at Hofstra/Northwell, Manhasset, NY, United States

²Donald and Barbara Zucker School of Medicine at Hofstra/Northwell, Hempstead, NY, United States

³Office of Chief Informatics Officer, Northwell Health, Manhasset, NY, United States

⁴Emergency Medicine, Donald and Barbara Zucker School of Medicine at Hofstra/Northwell, Manhasset, NY, United States

Corresponding Author:

Sundas Khan, MD Donald and Barbara Zucker School of Medicine at Hofstra/Northwell 600 Community Drive Manhasset, NY, 11030 United States Phone: 1 516 600 1419 Fax: 1 516 600 1756 Email: <u>skhan31@northwell.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: Successful clinical decision support (CDS) tools can help use evidence-based medicine to effectively improve patient outcomes. However, the impact of these tools has been limited by low provider adoption due to overtriggering, leading to alert fatigue. We developed a tracking mechanism for monitoring trigger (percent of total visits for which the tool triggers) and adoption (percent of completed tools) rates of a complex CDS tool based on the Wells criteria for pulmonary embolism (PE).

Objective: We aimed to monitor and evaluate the adoption and trigger rates of the tool and assess whether ongoing tool modifications would improve adoption rates.

Methods: As part of a larger clinical trial, a CDS tool was developed using the Wells criteria to calculate pretest probability for PE at 2 tertiary centers' emergency departments (EDs). The tool had multiple triggers: any order for D-dimer, computed tomography (CT) of the chest with intravenous contrast, CT pulmonary angiography (CTPA), ventilation-perfusion scan, or lower extremity Doppler ultrasound. A tracking dashboard was developed using Tableau to monitor real-time trigger and adoption rates. Based on initial low provider adoption rates of the tool, we conducted small focus groups with key ED providers to elicit barriers to tool use. We identified overtriggering of the tool for non-PE-related evaluations and inability to order CT testing for intermediate-risk patients. Thus, the tool was modified to allow CT testing for the intermediate-risk group and not to trigger for CT chest with intravenous contrast orders. A dialogue box, "Are you considering PE for this patient?" was added before the tool triggered to account for CTPAs ordered for aortic dissection evaluation.

Results: In the ED of tertiary center 1, 95,295 patients visited during the academic year. The tool triggered for an average of 509 patients per month (average trigger rate 2036/30,234, 6.73%) before the modifications, reducing to 423 patients per month (average trigger rate 1629/31,361, 5.22%). In the ED of tertiary center 2, 88,956 patients visited during the academic year, with the tool triggering for about 473 patients per month (average trigger rate 1892/29,706, 6.37%) before the modifications and for about 400 per month (average trigger rate 1534/30,006, 5.12%) afterward. The modifications resulted in a significant 4.5- and 3-fold increase in provider adoption rates in tertiary centers 1 and 2, respectively. The modifications increased the average monthly adoption rate from 23.20/360 (6.5%) tools to 81.60/280.20 (29.3%) tools and 46.60/318.80 (14.7%) tools to 111.20/263.40 (42.6%) tools in centers 1 and 2, respectively.

Conclusions: Close postimplementation monitoring of CDS tools may help improve provider adoption. Adaptive modifications based on user feedback may increase targeted CDS with lower trigger rates, reducing alert fatigue and increasing provider adoption. Iterative improvements and a postimplementation monitoring dashboard can significantly improve adoption rates.

(JMIR Hum Factors 2019;6(1):e10245) doi:10.2196/10245



KEYWORDS

pulmonary embolism; clinical decision support; evidence-based medicine

Introduction

As adoption of electronic health records (EHRs) has become increasingly widespread, the potential for electronic clinical decision support (CDS) to improve quality of care has been increasingly recognized [1,2]. CDS uses patient-specific information to make assessments and recommendations to the provider at the point of care [3]. Clinical prediction rules (CPRs) are a form of CDS that function as calculators, using elements of a patient's history, physical examination, and test results to predict the likelihood of a diagnosis, prognosis, or response to treatment [4]. Using well-validated, evidence-based CPRs, CDS tools have reduced antibiotic prescriptions [5], improved lipid management [6], and reduced overtesting [7,8]. However, the impact of these tools has been limited by poor provider adoption, with rates between 10% and 20% [9].

Nonadherence is one of the biggest challenges to the implementation of a successful CDS [10]. Depending on the type of CDS tool, trigger or alert fatigue is an issue that may invariably lead to provider overrides and dismissals. As reported in a study, a provider may receive, on average, 56 alerts per day and spend 49 minutes per day processing them [11]. As an example, alert overrides may occur for 49%-96% of drug safety alerts [12]. User-centered design of CDS with "smart," targeted triggering to maximize alert appropriateness may improve provider adoption rates [3].

One of the most well-known [13] and well-validated [14] CPRs is the Wells criteria for assessing pulmonary embolism (PE) risk. The need for this CDS is important because emergency departments (EDs) across United States have drastically increased computed tomography pulmonary angiography (CTPA) use for PE evaluation [15,16]. Evidence to justify this increase in utilization is lacking [17], and it places the patient at unnecessary risk to radiation, contrast-induced nephropathy, and increased health care costs [18]. It has been reported that the CTPA yield, a measurement of efficiency [19], ranges between only 7%-10% in the United States [15], suggesting overutilization of this test. The Wells CPR has the potential to rule out 70%-80% of patients without further testing [13,14] and reduce costs of unnecessary testing. By integrating the Wells CPR into the EHR of the ED, Drescher et al found an associated increase in CTPA yield from 9% to 12% for the diagnosis of PE [20]. Despite this improvement in CTPA yield, Drescher et al reported major resistance from the ED physicians, leading to the eventual removal of the tool [20,21]. The findings emphasize the importance of implementing a PE CDS into the providers' workflow in a way to maximize usability and acceptance.

Our research team developed an electronic Wells CDS tool based on our previous experience in creating CDS tools at the point of care [3]. The first phase of our project included formative assessment and focus groups to determine providers' level of interest [22], followed by iterative rounds of usability testing for input on design and content of the tool [23]. Using a new usability process called "sensitivity and specificity trigger analysis," we found the most sensitive way to trigger the CDS tool with minimal sacrifice to the specificity [24]. This process allowed us to limit inaccurate triggering of the CDS tool and reduce trigger fatigue.

A key element in the postimplementation period is the continuous monitoring and sustainability of the tool among clinical providers [3,24]. It has been noted that evaluations of postimplementation alerts' appropriateness can be labor-intensive and costly [25]. Nevertheless, investigators are beginning to develop tools to efficiently evaluate alerts [26]. With the launch of our CDS tool based on the Wells criteria for PE, we developed a system to track the trigger rate (defined as the number of times the CDS tool is triggered divided by the number of total visits). Based on analyses of the trigger rates over time and modifications to the CDS, we hypothesized that iterative changes to the Wells CDS can lead to an increase in the adoption of the tool.

Methods

Our research team consisted of expert evidence-based medicine researchers, implementation scientists, health informaticists, and internal medicine and emergency medicine physicians. We worked with Allscripts' EHR and Sunrise Emergency Care (Allscripts Healthcare, Llc) to develop and integrate the Wells CDS tool into the EDs of 2 tertiary care centers' within our health care organization. All study procedures were approved by the Institutional Review Board and the Emergency Medicine Research Committee within Northwell Health.

The CDS tool developed includes a calculator, with risk factors from the Wells PE clinical rule, and a dialogue box to outline recommendations, with an accompanying order set that illuminates orders according to the risk stratification (Figure 1). After thorough usability testing of the tool in the EHR playground environment within our Usability Lab [22-24], we launched the tool within the emergency rooms at 2 large academic tertiary centers in a staggered rollout. The initial design aspect of the usability testing was analyzing the sensitivity and specificity of triggers that would elicit the Wells CDS tool to trigger [24]. Critical characteristics of the tool development that employ user-centered design include qualitative research (interviews) to learn about users' context and workflow, usability surveys, system usage data, and "think aloud" interviews outlined by the study team in the usability testing and formative assessment articles [22,23].

When integrated into the order entry workflow, the Wells CDS tool would be triggered when a provider attempted to order any test that is used to evaluate a suspected PE. Initially, the triggers were D-dimer, computed tomography (CT) chest, CT angiography, ventilation-perfusion scan, and lower extremity Doppler ultrasound (Textbox 1). Upon triggering, the provider filled out the Wells CDS tool as it appears in Figure 1. The completed tool calculated the patient's risk for PE and stratified the patient into low, intermediate, or high categories, each with

XSL•FO RenderX

a bundled order set that the provider could choose for the next step [23].

Clinicians attempting to order CTPA in a low-risk patient were able to order by dismissing the tool, after which all orders become ungrayed and visible. If a patient had a positive D-dimer, the clinician would move forward with ordering the CTPA and would not be forced to order the D-dimer despite the low risk. If a patient was intermediate and high risk, both D-dimer and CTPA were available for the clinician to order. It is under the clinician's discretion to order the preferred test for these two groups as suggested through current literature [27]. Exclusion criteria for the tool triggering included individuals aged <18 years, as the CDS was firing at 2 tertiary adult hospitals. A trigger rate tracking tool was developed using Tableau (Tableau Software) to monitor adoption and trigger rates of the Wells CDS tool implementation. This tool gave a monthly status report of each of the 2 tertiary hospitals' EDs' usage of the tool by providing the trigger rate by taking the number of times the Wells CDS tool was triggered over the total number of ED visits during the same period. The tracking tool also monitored the number of times the triggered CDS tool was completed, with the provider using the tool to place orders for PE evaluation. This gives us the completion rate of the Wells CDS tool when divided by the total number of triggers opened for that period. Figures 2 and 3 demonstrate the logic for arriving at trigger rates and completion rates for each tertiary center.

Figure 1. Wells criteria for pulmonary embolism, recommendations, and order set. Source: Allscripts Healthcare Solutions.



Textbox 1. Wells clinical decision support tool trigger points at order entry.







After deployment of the Wells CDS tool at the 2 tertiary centers, we conducted focus groups with qualitative feedback with ED providers. We synthesized these feedbacks and developed modifications to the CDS. In December 2015, we implemented 3 iterative changes to the Wells CDS tool. First, our Sunrise CDS team removed CT chest as a trigger for the CDS tool. Then, the team updated the PE order availability algorithm, allowing a low risk (Wells score <2) to open up a lab order called "D-Dimer Assay, Quantitative" and allowing the intermediate risk (Wells score 2-6) to open up the order for

"Imaging Studies." Last, a dialogue box was added to appear before the actual order set opened, and a Dynamic Label functionality was added for the "Recommendations" field in the order set (Figure 4). This functionality allowed the actual score (result of documentation) to be referenced in the recommendations field (highlighted) instead of a generic message with static numbers. As outlined in Figure 4, the tool logic was triggered when a clinician entered a diagnostic test for PE that prompted the Wells criteria calculator, recommendations, and accompanying order sets.

Figure 3. Summary report for the emergency department (ED) of academic tertiary center 2.







http://humanfactors.jmir.org/2019/1/e10245/

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Hum Factors 2019 | vol. 6 | iss. 1 |e10245 | p.72 (page number not for citation purposes)
Results

From the time the Wells CDS tool was deployed in the tertiary academic centers (demographic characteristics in Table 1) to the implementation of the CDS modifications, the trigger rates were relatively high for both tertiary centers.

As seen in Figure 5, the average trigger rates were 6.73% (2036/30,234 visits; 95% CI 6.33%-7.13%) and 6.37% (1892/29,706 visits; 95% CI 6.06%-6.70%) at tertiary centers 1 and 2, respectively. The average completion (adoption) rates of the tool were relatively low 6.5% (23.20/360; 95% CI 5.08%-7.94%) and 14.7% (46.60/318.80; 95% CI 10.69%-18.77%) for tertiary center 1 and 2, respectively.

In December 2015, modifications to the CDS tool were implemented to optimize the triggering event. The 5-month period after implementation of changes is termed the "postmodification period" here to contrast with the "premodification period." At tertiary center 1, the average

Table 1. Demographics of populations in tertiary academic centers.

trigger rate decreased to 5.20% (1629/31,361 visits; 95% CI 4.37%-6.07%). Adoption rates increased to 29.3% (81.60/280.20; 95% CI 22.20%-36.46%), a staggering 4.5-fold increase. Similarly, at tertiary center 2, the average trigger rate dropped to 5.11% (1534/30,006 visits; 95% CI 4.51%-5.73%). The adoption rates increased to 42.6% (111.20/263.40; 95% CI 33.56%-51.72%), an almost 3-fold increase.

The significant increase in adoption rate in 2015 is evident in Figure 6, after the modifications to the Wells CDS tool were implemented. This graph shows the sustainability of the adoption rate upsurge well past the 5-month "postmodification period" we examined above. At the same time, the graph shows a decline in trigger rates after the initial implementation of the CDS tool. In the figure, arrows mark the time of modifications. Red arrow indicates removing CT chest as a trigger, green arrow indicates allowing CTPA for an intermediate score, and blue arrow indicates adding the dialogue box for "Are you considering PE for this patient?" and the dynamic label.

Race or ethnicity	Patients, n (%)				
	Tertiary center 1 (n=981,701)	Tertiary center 2 (n=498,256)			
White	276,181 (28)	287,391 (58)			
Hispanic	234,050 (24)	68,864 (14)			
African American	153,044 (16)	19,587 (4)			
Asian	253,245 (26)	113,444 (23)			
Other or multirace	60,085 (6)	8530 (1)			

Figure 5. Average trigger and completion rates at tertiary centers 1 and 2 pre- and postmodifications.







Discussion

Principal Findings

The integration of CDS into an EHR to guide management plans has been well documented to improve patient care [5-7]. Use of the Wells criteria for PE increases the yield of CTPA for suspected PE [28]. Unfortunately, as evidenced by Drescher et al's study, the CDS was poorly accepted by emergency physicians and was eventually removed despite showing positive results [20,21]. It is, thus, crucial to devise computerized tools that are optimally integrated into clinician workflow without causing alert fatigue [24] because usability may be as important as accuracy and effectiveness in implementing CDS [23]. We speculate that the high adoption rates of 29.3% (81.60/280.20) to 42.6% (111.20/263.40) observed in our study, as opposed to an average of 10%-20% adoption rates from previous CDS research [9], were a result of the comprehensive user-centered development process including workflow assessment of the ED, focus groups, usability testing, and collaboration with a multidisciplinary team [22-24].

We developed an electronic Wells CDS tool based on user-centered design principles from our extensive experience. As our past research study has shown, usability testing prior to integration of the tool can lead to high adoption rates [3]. Thus, we implemented a two-phase usability testing approach with emergency physicians prior to the integration of the Wells CPR into the EHR [23]. Despite rounds of usability testing, in a near-live environment, where multiple triggers were created,

http://humanfactors.jmir.org/2019/1/e10245/

RenderX

the use of CT chest with contrast as a trigger was an oversight and was not picked up. The near-live environment is able to mimic the live environment to a certain degree of limitation, which further reiterates the importance of postimplementation monitoring and evaluation of CDS use.

Furthermore, the sensitivity and specificity trigger analysis was developed to identify optimal trigger locations to avoid underutilization and overtriggering [24]. From our past studies, we have also learned that adoption of CDS tools can be dependent on individual user characteristics such as age, training level, and experiences with health technology [29]. It was found that while attendings had the most experience with CDS tools, they were least likely to use them compared with the residents [29]. A dynamic and adaptive design may have a large impact on the adoption of CDS tools [30]. To monitor and prepare for an adaptive electronic CDS with iterative changes, we designed a new tracking method for trigger rate.

A key concept behind developing the tracking mechanism and monitoring adoption rates is maintenance, which is one of the essential pieces of the RE-AIM theoretical framework. The framework is utilized to understand translational and system-change efforts in health care [31]; the different dimensions of the theory include research, effectiveness or efficacy, adoption, implementation, and maintenance. The theory has been used in several studies to successfully provide evidence that help informatics interventions overcome their frequent deficiencies in external validity [32-34]. Following implementation of the Wells CDS, we obtained feedback from the end users in accordance with the theoretical framework to

further assess adoption and implementation. A key aspect of the framework is maintenance, and as the study team continued to monitor the uptake of the Well's CDS tool and review current literature, the appropriate addition to include imaging as an option for intermediate-risk patients was implemented.

The postimplementation tracking method trends the trigger rate and completion rate of the Wells CDS tool at our 2 tertiary hospitals. The combination of these rates gives us the sense of the CDS acceptability and adoption on a monthly basis. We have demonstrated that postimplementation tracking and iterative changes to a deployed CDS can result in a 4.5-fold increase in adoption rate. Similar mechanisms have been implemented to track the effectiveness of CDS; Chaffee et al devised monthly reports on alert occurrence and override rates organized into a dashboard view [35]. Using postimplementation tracking methods such as this allows for the development of novel metrics for predicting inappropriate alerts and responses [25]. A "smart" alert system can be used to track a clinician's response to a specific alert and identify inappropriate alerts [25].

As far as we know, this is the first reported use of a postimplementation tracking mechanism to monitor Wells CDS tool adoption rate. Prior studies have recognized the potential and effectiveness of CDS if properly implemented and utilized. While usability testing and a user-centered design process have helped improve initial provider uptake, longitudinal studies have shown a decrease in user participation as time goes on [36]. The development of a dynamic and adaptive CDS may help improve and sustain the adoption rate. This postimplementation CDS tracking method may serve as a

springboard for the study and design of a "smart" CDS down the line.

Limitations

The user preferences may vary depending on the institution, and willingness to complete the tool will depend on individual workflows and cultural norms. Providers participating in the study were mostly residents and attending physicians. We would like to incorporate triage nurses in the next assessment with an upstream triage alert for the CDS.

Additional results of the ongoing study are forthcoming and will discuss ordering behavior, adoption by the provider, and overall effectiveness of the CDS tool in the evaluation of PE, which have not been outlined in the Discussion section.

The study was limited due to a single-institution setting, which may limit generalizability. However, the study included 2 academic tertiary centers within a large health system, with vastly different demographics to alleviate this constraint.

Conclusions

Implementation of electronic CDS has shown to improve patient outcomes. However, overtriggering or alerting of the CDS may lead to provider nonadherence and poor adoption of the tool. Postimplementation evaluation of the CDS trigger rate and adaptive modifications of the triggers may lead to more targeted triggers and improvements in the CDS adoption rate. This study provides an example of how iterative changes and postimplementation tracking mechanism of the CDS result in a significantly improved adoption rate.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Blumenthal D, Tavenner M. The "meaningful use" regulation for electronic health records. N Engl J Med 2010 Aug 05;363(6):501-504. [doi: 10.1056/NEJMp1006114] [Medline: 20647183]
- 2. Jha AK. Meaningful use of electronic health records: the road ahead. JAMA 2010 Oct 20;304(15):1709-1710. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2010.1497] [Medline: 20959581]
- McGinn TG, McCullagh L, Kannry J, Knaus M, Sofianou A, Wisnivesky JP, et al. Efficacy of an evidence-based clinical decision support in primary care practices: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Intern Med 2013 Sep 23;173(17):1584-1591. [doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2013.8980] [Medline: 23896675]
- 4. Randolph AG, Haynes RB, Wyatt JC, Cook DJ, Guyatt GH. Users' Guides to the Medical Literature: XVIII. How to use an article evaluating the clinical impact of a computer-based clinical decision support system. JAMA 1999 Jul 07;282(1):67-74. [Medline: 10404914]
- Bernstein SL, Whitaker D, Winograd J, Brennan JA. An electronic chart prompt to decrease proprietary antibiotic prescription to self-pay patients. Acad Emerg Med 2005 Mar;12(3):225-231 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1197/j.aem.2004.09.021] [Medline: 15741585]
- Garthwaite EA, Will EJ, Bartlett C, Richardson D, Newstead CG. Patient-specific prompts in the cholesterol management of renal transplant outpatients: results and analysis of underperformance. Transplantation 2004 Oct 15;78(7):1042-1047. [Medline: <u>15480172</u>]
- Tierney WM, Miller ME, McDonald CJ. The effect on test ordering of informing physicians of the charges for outpatient diagnostic tests. N Engl J Med 1990 May 24;322(21):1499-1504. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJM199005243222105</u>] [Medline: <u>2186274</u>]
- McGinn TG, Guyatt GH, Wyer PC, Naylor CD, Stiell IG, Richardson WS. Users' guides to the medical literature: XXII: how to use articles about clinical decision rules. Evidence-Based Medicine Working Group. JAMA 2000 Jul 05;284(1):79-84. [Medline: <u>10872017</u>]

- Bright TJ, Wong A, Dhurjati R, Bristow E, Bastian L, Coeytaux RR, et al. Effect of clinical decision-support systems: a systematic review. Ann Intern Med 2012 Jul 03;157(1):29-43. [doi: <u>10.7326/0003-4819-157-1-201207030-00450</u>] [Medline: <u>22751758</u>]
- Horsky J, Schiff GD, Johnston D, Mercincavage L, Bell D, Middleton B. Interface design principles for usable decision support: a targeted review of best practices for clinical prescribing interventions. J Biomed Inform 2012 Dec;45(6):1202-1216 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2012.09.002] [Medline: 22995208]
- Murphy DR, Meyer AND, Russo E, Sittig DF, Wei L, Singh H. The Burden of Inbox Notifications in Commercial Electronic Health Records. JAMA Intern Med 2016 Apr;176(4):559-560 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2016.0209] [Medline: 26974737]
- 12. van der Sijs H, Aarts J, Vulto A, Berg M. Overriding of drug safety alerts in computerized physician order entry. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2006;13(2):138-147 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1197/jamia.M1809] [Medline: 16357358]
- 13. Kyrle PA, Eichinger S. Deep vein thrombosis. Lancet 2005;365(9465):1163-1174. [doi: <u>10.1016/S0140-6736(05)71880-8</u>] [Medline: <u>15794972</u>]
- Wells PS, Anderson DR, Bormanis J, Guy F, Mitchell M, Gray L, et al. Value of assessment of pretest probability of deep-vein thrombosis in clinical management. Lancet 1997;350(9094):1795-1798. [doi: <u>10.1016/S0140-6736(97)08140-3</u>] [Medline: <u>9428249</u>]
- Feng LB, Pines JM, Yusuf HR, Grosse SD. U.S. trends in computed tomography use and diagnoses in emergency department visits by patients with symptoms suggestive of pulmonary embolism, 2001-2009. Acad Emerg Med 2013 Oct;20(10):1033-1040 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/acem.12221] [Medline: 24127707]
- Kocher KE, Meurer WJ, Fazel R, Scott PA, Krumholz HM, Nallamothu BK. National trends in use of computed tomography in the emergency department. Ann Emerg Med 2011 Nov;58(5):452-62.e3. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.annemergmed.2011.05.020</u>] [Medline: <u>21835499</u>]
- 17. Geeting GK, Beck M, Bruno MA, Mahraj RP, Caputo G, DeFlitch C, et al. Mandatory Assignment of Modified Wells Score Before CT Angiography for Pulmonary Embolism Fails to Improve Utilization or Percentage of Positive Cases. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2016 Aug;207(2):442-449. [doi: 10.2214/AJR.15.15394] [Medline: 27144311]
- 18. Smith-Bindman R, Miglioretti DL, Larson EB. Rising use of diagnostic medical imaging in a large integrated health system. Health Aff (Millwood) 2008;27(6):1491-1502 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.27.6.1491] [Medline: 18997204]
- 19. Wang RC, Bent S, Weber E, Neilson J, Smith-Bindman R, Fahimi J. The Impact of Clinical Decision Rules on Computed Tomography Use and Yield for Pulmonary Embolism: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Ann Emerg Med 2016 Dec;67(6):693-701.e3. [doi: 10.1016/j.annemergmed.2015.11.005] [Medline: 26747217]
- 20. Drescher FS, Chandrika S, Weir ID, Weintraub JT, Berman L, Lee R, et al. Effectiveness and acceptability of a computerized decision support system using modified Wells criteria for evaluation of suspected pulmonary embolism. Ann Emerg Med 2011 Jun;57(6):613-621. [doi: 10.1016/j.annemergmed.2010.09.018] [Medline: 21050624]
- 21. Weir ID, Drescher F, Cousin D, Fraser ET, Lee R, Berman L, et al. Trends in use and yield of chest computed tomography with angiography for diagnosis of pulmonary embolism in a Connecticut hospital emergency department. Conn Med 2010 Jan;74(1):5-9. [Medline: 20175366]
- Khan S, McCullagh L, Press A, Kharche M, Schachter A, Pardo S, et al. Formative assessment and design of a complex clinical decision support tool for pulmonary embolism. Evid Based Med 2016 Feb;21(1):7-13. [doi: 10.1136/ebmed-2015-110214] [Medline: 26718820]
- Press A, McCullagh L, Khan S, Schachter A, Pardo S, McGinn T. Usability Testing of a Complex Clinical Decision Support Tool in the Emergency Department: Lessons Learned. JMIR Hum Factors 2015 Sep 10;2(2):e14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/humanfactors.4537] [Medline: 27025540]
- Press A, Khan S, McCullagh L, Schachter A, Pardo S, Kohn N, et al. Avoiding alert fatigue in pulmonary embolism decision support: a new method to examine 'trigger rates'. Evid Based Med 2016 Dec;21(6):203-207. [doi: 10.1136/ebmed-2016-110440] [Medline: 27664174]
- 25. McCoy AB, Thomas EJ, Krousel-Wood M, Sittig DF. Clinical decision support alert appropriateness: a review and proposal for improvement. Ochsner J 2014;14(2):195-202 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 24940129]
- McCoy AB, Waitman LR, Lewis JB, Wright JA, Choma DP, Miller RA, et al. A framework for evaluating the appropriateness of clinical decision support alerts and responses. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2012;19(3):346-352 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/amiajnl-2011-000185] [Medline: 21849334]
- 27. Widimský J. [Diagnosis and treatment of acute pulmonary embolism in 2010]. Vnitr Lek 2011 Jan;57(1):5-21. [Medline: 21351657]
- Raja AS, Ip IK, Prevedello LM, Sodickson AD, Farkas C, Zane RD, et al. Effect of computerized clinical decision support on the use and yield of CT pulmonary angiography in the emergency department. Radiology 2012 Feb;262(2):468-474 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1148/radiol.11110951] [Medline: 22187633]
- McCullagh LJ, Sofianou A, Kannry J, Mann DM, McGinn TG. User centered clinical decision support tools: adoption across clinician training level. Appl Clin Inform 2014;5(4):1015-1025 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4338/ACI-2014-05-RA-0048] [Medline: 25589914]

- 30. Wu RC, Abrams H, Baker M, Rossos PG. Implementation of a computerized physician order entry system of medications at the University Health Network--physicians' perspectives on the critical issues. Healthc Q 2006;9(1):106-109. [Medline: 16548441]
- 31. Glasgow RE, Klesges LM, Dzewaltowski DA, Estabrooks PA, Vogt TM. Evaluating the impact of health promotion programs: using the RE-AIM framework to form summary measures for decision making involving complex issues. Health Educ Res 2006 Oct;21(5):688-694. [doi: 10.1093/her/cyl081] [Medline: 16945984]
- 32. Bakken S, Ruland CM. Translating clinical informatics interventions into routine clinical care: how can the RE-AIM framework help? J Am Med Inform Assoc 2009;16(6):889-897 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1197/jamia.M3085] [Medline: 19717799]
- Carlfjord S, Andersson A, Bendtsen P, Nilsen P, Lindberg M. Applying the RE-AIM framework to evaluate two implementation strategies used to introduce a tool for lifestyle intervention in Swedish primary health care. Health Promot Int 2012 Jun;27(2):167-176. [doi: <u>10.1093/heapro/dar016</u>] [Medline: <u>21398336</u>]
- 34. Charters KG, Nazi K. Personal health record evaluation: my HealtheVet and RE-AIM. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2007 Oct 11:899. [Medline: 18693999]
- 35. Chaffee BW, Zimmerman CR. Developing and implementing clinical decision support for use in a computerized prescriber-order-entry system. Am J Health Syst Pharm 2010 Mar 01;67(5):391-400. [doi: 10.2146/ajhp090153] [Medline: 20172991]
- McCullagh L, Mann D, Rosen L, Kannry J, McGinn T. Longitudinal adoption rates of complex decision support tools in primary care. Evid Based Med 2014 Dec;19(6):204-209. [doi: <u>10.1136/ebmed-2014-110054</u>] [Medline: <u>25238769</u>]

Abbreviations

CDS: clinical decision support CPR: clinical prediction rule CT: computed tomography CTPA: computed tomography pulmonary angiography ED: emergency department EHR: electronic health record PE: pulmonary embolism

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 05.03.18; peer-reviewed by L Horowitz, A James; comments to author 03.08.18; revised version received 28.10.18; accepted 25.11.18; published 20.02.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Khan S, Richardson S, Liu A, Mechery V, McCullagh L, Schachter A, Pardo S, McGinn T Improving Provider Adoption With Adaptive Clinical Decision Support Surveillance: An Observational Study JMIR Hum Factors 2019;6(1):e10245 URL: <u>http://humanfactors.jmir.org/2019/1/e10245/</u> doi:10.2196/10245 PMID:30785410

©Sundas Khan, Safiya Richardson, Andrew Liu, Vinodh Mechery, Lauren McCullagh, Andy Schachter, Salvatore Pardo, Thomas McGinn. Originally published in JMIR Human Factors (http://humanfactors.jmir.org), 20.02.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Human Factors, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://humanfactors.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Review

The Usability of Electronic Medical Record Systems Implemented in Sub-Saharan Africa: A Literature Review of the Evidence

Michael Kavuma^{1,2}, BSc, MMedSci

¹Department of Tele-Health, College of Health Sciences, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Durban, South Africa ²MedLite Systems Limited, Kampala, Uganda

Corresponding Author: Michael Kavuma, BSc, MMedSci Department of Tele-Health College of Health Sciences University of KwaZulu-Natal Nelson R Mandela School of Medicine 719 Umbilo Road 4001, Congella 4013 Durban, South Africa Phone: 27 782632775 Email: mikavs@gmail.com

Abstract

Background: Electronic medical record (EMR) systems hold the exciting promise of accurate, real-time access to patient health care data and great potential to improve the quality of patient care through decision support to clinicians. This review evaluated the usability of EMR systems implemented in sub-Saharan Africa based on a usability evaluation criterion developed by the Healthcare Information and Management Systems Society (HIMSS).

Objective: This review aimed to evaluate EMR system implementations in sub-Saharan Africa against a well-defined evaluation methodology and assess their usability based on a defined set of metrics. In addition, the review aimed to identify the extent to which usability has been an enabling or hindering factor in the implementation of EMR systems in sub-Saharan Africa.

Methods: Five key metrics for evaluating EMR system usability were developed based on the methodology proposed by HIMSS. These were efficiency, effectiveness, ease of learning, cognitive load, and user satisfaction. A 5-point rating system was developed for the review. EMR systems in 19 reviewed publications were scored based on this rating system. It awarded 5 points per metric to any EMR system that was identified as excellent, 4 points for good, 3 points for fair, 2 points for poor, and 1 point for bad. In addition, each of the 5 key metrics carried a maximum weighted score of 20. The percentage scores for each metric were then computed from the weighted scores from which the final overall usability score was derived.

Results: In possibly contributing to the usability of implemented EMR systems, ease of learning obtained the highest percentage score of 71% (SD 1.09) followed by cognitive load in second place with a score of 68% (SD 1.62). Effectiveness followed closely in third place at 67% (SD 1.47) and efficiency was in fourth place at 64% (SD 1.04). User satisfaction came in last at 63% (SD 1.70). The overall usability score for all systems was calculated to be 66%.

Conclusions: The usability of EMR systems implemented in sub-Saharan Africa has been good with ease of learning possibly being the biggest positive contributor to this rating. Cognitive load and effectiveness have also possibly positively influenced the usability of EMR systems, whereas efficiency and user satisfaction have perhaps contributed least to positively influencing EMR system usability.

(JMIR Hum Factors 2019;6(1):e9317) doi:10.2196/humanfactors.9317

KEYWORDS

RenderX

review; computer systems; delivery of health care; sub-Saharan Africa

Introduction

Background

The free dictionary defines an electronic medical record (EMR) as a repository for active notations about a patient's health; it is a computerized database that typically includes demographic, medical, laboratory, radiographic, drug, and other information about a patient [1]. EMR systems have evolved from pure record keeping to integrated enterprise-wide systems that hold the promise of accurate, real-time access to patient health care data while providing information necessary to improve patient care and lower costs [2]. Many institutions are developing integrated clinical workstations, which provide a single point of entry for access to patient-related, administrative, and research information. At the heart of the evolving clinical workstation lies the medical record in a new incarnation: electronic, accessible, confidential, secure, acceptable to clinicians and patients, and integrated with other nonpatient specific information [3].

EMR systems have also been shown to improve the quality of disease management, prevent disease-related comorbidities in hospitals [4], and to substantially reduce the risk of medication errors and adverse drug events [5]. They can significantly improve clinical documentation and medication refill turnaround time [6] and are perceived by physicians to have a positive impact on the quality of patient care [7]. The entire health care system can benefit immensely from the use of EMR systems with tangible benefits in cost savings and patient safety [8], making them especially relevant for low resource settings.

In Africa, electronic health care information systems have been driven mainly by the need to report aggregate statistics for government or funding agencies [9]. The use of computerized patient management systems is grossly limited in Africa where paper-based systems are still predominantly used in health care delivery. Some initiatives have been taken to deploy EMR systems though their focus has been heavily on HIV/AIDS care [10] and other infectious disease programs.

The Healthcare Information and Management Systems Society (HIMSS) defines a set of principles and methods for testing and evaluating EMR usability. It defines usability as the effectiveness, efficiency, and satisfaction with which specific users can achieve a specific set of tasks in a particular environment [11]. They submit that usability is possibly one of the most important factors hindering widespread adoption of EMRs and often has a strong direct relationship with clinical productivity, error rate, user fatigue, and user satisfaction. This literature review aimed at evaluating the usability of EMR systems implemented in sub-Saharan Africa using the usability evaluation criterion developed by HIMSS to identify the extent to which usability has enabled or hindered adoption of EMR systems in sub-Saharan Africa.

Objectives

The objectives of the literature review were the following:

1. To evaluate EMR system implementations in sub-Saharan Africa against a well-defined evaluation methodology and assess their usability based on a defined set of metrics

```
http://humanfactors.jmir.org/2019/1/e9317/
```

2. To identify the extent to which usability has been an enabling or hindering factor in the implementation of EMR systems in sub-Saharan Africa

Methods

Evaluation Metrics

This literature review assessed EMR systems implemented in a sub-Saharan African context, using the evaluation methods and metrics proposed by HIMSS. HIMSS defines principles and proposes methods for evaluating and rating EMR usability. Its principles for good usability of EMR systems include simplicity, which refers to lack of visual clutter, concise information display, inclusion of only functionality that is needed to effectively accomplish tasks; they include naturalness, which refers to how automatically familiar and easy-to-use the application feels to the user; they also include consistency, which refers to how much an applications structure, interactions, and behaviors match a user's experience with other software applications and how an application uses concepts, behavior, appearance and layout consistently throughout.

The principles also include minimizing cognitive overload by presenting all the information needed for the task at hand and displaying information organized by meaningful relationships: efficient interactions within the system, which refers to minimizing the number of steps it takes to complete tasks and providing shortcuts to experienced users and frequently used functions, incorporating forgiveness and feedback within the EMR system design, effective use of language in a form that is concise and unambiguous, effective information presentation in the appropriate density, and preservation of context by keeping screen changes and visual interruptions to a minimum.

From these principles, HIMSS proposes 5 key metrics for evaluating EMR system usability. These include efficiency, effectiveness, ease of learning, cognitive load, and user satisfaction. Efficiency as a test metric is defined as the speed at which a user can successfully accomplish the task at hand within the EMR system, whereas effectiveness is defined as the accuracy and completeness with which a user can achieve task goals within the EMR system. Ease of learning is defined as the time it takes a user to reach a specified level of proficiency in the use of the EMR system, whereas cognitive load is defined by how intuitively information and functionality are presented within the application, minimizing thought interruptions to users as they perform tasks within the software application. User satisfaction is defined as a person's subjective response to his or her interaction with the EMR system, and it can be evaluated through a Likert-scale rating system or system usability scale questionnaires.

Review Rating System

A 5-point rating system was developed for this review to rate instances of EMR systems implemented in sub-Saharan Africa based on the 5 key metrics mentioned above. The rating for this review weighted all 5 metrics equivalently in determining usability of EMR systems. Table 1 shows the applied rating per metric in the testing of EMR system usability.

Kavuma

Table 1. Key usability metrics used for the literature review and their maximum	assigned weighted s	scores along with the 5-point rating system.
---	---------------------	--

Key usability metric	Maximum weighted score	5-point individual usability rating for all metrics
Effectiveness	20	Excellent=5 points; Good=4 points; Fair=3 points; Poor=2 points; Bad=1 point
Efficiency	20	Excellent=5 points; Good=4 points; Fair=3 points; Poor=2 points; Bad=1 point
Ease of learning	20	Excellent=5 points; Good=4 points; Fair=3 points; Poor=2 points; Bad=1 point
User satisfaction	20	Excellent=5 points; Good=4 points; Fair=3 points; Poor=2 points; Bad=1 point
Cognitive load	20	Excellent=5 points; Good=4 points; Fair=3 points; Poor=2 points; Bad=1 point
Total	100	a

^aNot applicable.

For each of the 5-key metrics, a 5-point usability rating was applied to each individual metric and EMR systems rated based on how the authors of a publication about an EMR system described the performance of the system in their publication. For instance, if an EMR system was described as being excellent for any of the key usability metrics, then that EMR system was rated with 5 points for that metric. If it was described as good by the authors, then it was rated with 4 points, fair with 3 points, poor with 2 points, and bad with 1 point.

To illustrate, if an EMR system's effectiveness was described as being excellent by the authors, then a usability rating of 5 points was assigned to that system's publication for effectiveness. If the same system's ease of learning was defined as poor by the authors, then the same system was assigned a usability rating of 2 points for ease of learning. Therefore, the highest usability rating that was attainable for any key metric was 5, whereas the lowest was 1. The search keywords and phrases were scored against this 5-point rating system in a uniform manner across all 5 metrics. Table 2 shows the uniform rating applied to keywords in the review. In addition, in the methodology developed for this review, each metric carried a maximum weighted score of 20 per reviewed system, that is, effectiveness 20, efficiency 20, ease of learning 20, user satisfaction 20, and cognitive load 20. The rating for each system in each key metric was then computed as a score of the weight of that metric, that is, if a system was rated as fair in effectiveness by the authors, it was assigned a usability rating of 3 for effectiveness. The same rating and scoring system was assigned to EMR system publications across all 5 key usability metrics.

The total score for all reviewed systems in each metric was then computed by summing up the weighted scores of the systems scored for that metric. The number of systems scored per metric was noted and the maximum attainable total score per metric was then calculated by multiplying the maximum weighted score of that metric by the number of systems scored in that metric. The percentage score for each metric was then calculated by dividing the total weighted score of that metric by the maximum attainable total score of the same metric and multiplying the result by 100%.

Table 2. Uniform rating of keywords against the 5-point rating system.

Scoring of search keywords	Effectiveness	Efficiency	Ease of learning	User satisfaction	Cognitive load
Excellent=5 points	Enhanced patient care and management	Totally eliminated de- lays	Quick user proficiency	Preferred system, viewed system as essen- tial	Inclusion of standard treatment guidelines
Good=4 points	Significant improve- ment and system indis- pensable	Reduced patient or provider burden	User friendly interfaces, easy to comprehend, similarity with paper forms	Happy with system, us- er enthusiasm, rely on system, many perceived benefits from system use	Easily discerned func- tionality, well orga- nized information, logi- cal and systematic doc- umentation
Fair=3 points	Effective, met objec- tives, improved data quality or records avail- ability, decision support	Efficient, reduced time, streamlined procedures, and improved workflow	Easy to learn, simple, easy to use, and lan- guage customization	User satisfaction, ac- ceptability, some bene- fits from use, limited adoption challenges	Intuitive, easy access to system information, and availability of reports
Poor=2 points	Functionality limita- tions and low usage	Increased time or bur- den	Complicated interfaces	User dissatisfaction and adoption challenges	Cluttered information and disorganized infor- mation
Bad=1 point	Did not meet objec- tives, ineffective, led to errors	Complicated workflow	Extensive effort to gain user proficiency	Hated system, per- ceived no benefit from use of system	Complicated access to functionality

Table 3.	Grading ranges	for overall	electronic medica	l record system	usability.
----------	----------------	-------------	-------------------	-----------------	------------

	5
Percentage score range	Overall grading
80-100	Excellent
60-79	Good
40-59	Fair
20-39	Poor
0-19	Bad

For example, if the total score for all systems reviewed for effectiveness was calculated to be x and the number of systems scored for effectiveness was y, the maximum attainable total score for effectiveness was calculated as (yx20). The percentage score for effectiveness was then calculated as (x/[yx20])x100%. The same was applied across all 5 metrics to get the percentage scores for each metric. A 95% CI was applied to the percentage score of each metric.

The overall usability percentage score for EMR systems implemented in sub-Saharan Africa was then calculated as the sum of the total weighted scores of all 5 metrics divided by the sum of the maximum attainable total scores of all 5 metrics and the result expressed as a percentage. Finally, a predefined grading system of 5 ranges was applied to the overall percentage score to determine the overall usability performance of the reviewed EMR systems. The final overall usability of implemented EMR systems was graded based on Table 3.

Search Criteria

The literature for this review was obtained from searches in PubMed, Google Scholar, and the directory of open access journals in which 300 articles and literature published between the years 2000 and 2016 were reviewed. Of these, 19 articles were identified to meet the requirements for the literature review and were selected for review. The search terms used for the literature review included the following: implementation of EMR systems in sub-Saharan Africa, evaluation of EMR systems in Africa, computerized patient management systems in Africa, computerized hospital information system in Africa, health information systems in sub-Saharan Africa, testing or implementing electronic health record systems in Africa, and computerized clinic patient system in Africa. Country names from sub-Saharan Africa were also included in the search terms and appended to the ends of the search terms, replacing the words Africa or sub-Saharan Africa for some searches. Google translate was used to translate some French and Portuguese documents. Figure 1 shows a preferred reporting style flow diagram for systematic reviews and meta-analyses, showing the number of articles identified for the review, screened for eligibility, and finally included in the review.

A mixed-methods research approach was adopted for the literature review and involved both qualitative and quantitative research methods. The qualitative aspect focused on identification and extraction of keywords, phrases, and themes related to the 5 key usability metrics from articles included in the final review. The quantitative aspect focused on rating and scoring the systems in these articles using the 5-point rating and weighted scoring systems. Quantitative analysis was subsequently performed on the scores for each system in relation to the research objectives to identify the extent to which usability has been an enabling or hindering factor in the implementation of EMR systems in sub-Saharan Africa. Table 4 lists the 19 publications identified to meet the requirements of the literature review. Multimedia Appendix 1 shows the matching keywords identified in each publication for the 5 metrics. Tables 5 and 6 show the rating and scoring of each of the 19 systems in the 5-key metrics.

Figure 1. Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) flow diagram for identification, screening, and final inclusion of articles in the literature review. EMR: electronic medical record.



Kavuma

Table 4. List of publications identified to meet the requirements for the literature review.

Number	Publication	Software	Country	Focus
1	A global approach to the management of EMR (Electronic Medical Records) of patients with HIV/AIDS in Sub-Saharan Africa: the experi- ence of DREAM Software [12]	DREAMS	Mozambique; Malawi: Tanzania; Kenya; Guinea; Republic; Guinea Bissau; Cameroon; Congo; Democratic Republic of Congo; Angola; Nigeria	HIV/AIDS
2	An electronic health record for infertility clinics [13]	EHRIC	South Africa	Reproductive health
3	An Electronic Patient Referral Application: A Case Study from Zambia [14]	ZEPRS	Zambia	Perinatal care
4	Combining Vital Events Registration, Verbal Autopsy and Electronic Medical Records in Rural Ghana for Improved Health Services De- livery [15]	MGV-Net VRVA	Ghana	Birth registration
5	Comprehensive Evaluation of Electronic Medi- cal Record System Use and User Satisfaction at Five Low-Resource Setting Hospitals in Ethiopia [16]	SmartCare	Ethiopia	HIV/AIDS, Tuberculosis, and Pediatric Care
6	Designing and implementing an electronic health record system in primary care practice in sub- Saharan Africa: a case study from Cameroon [17]	MEDCAB	Cameroon	Primary health care
7	Electronic Patient Management System ePMS- Zimbabwe Collecting and Managing Data at the Patient Level for Better Treatment and Care [18]	ePMS	Zimbabwe	HIV/AIDS and Tuberculosis
8	Evaluation of Hospital Information System in the Northern Province in South Africa [19]	HIS	South Africa	General care
9	Experience Implementing Electronic Health Records in Three East African Countries [20]	OpenMRS	Kenya; Uganda; Tanzania	HIV/AIDS
10	Impact of an electronic clinical decision support system on workflow in antenatal care: the QUALMAT eCDSS in rural health care facilities in Ghana and Tanzania [21]	QUALMAT eCDSS	Ghana; Tanzania	Antenatal care
11	Implementation of a Cloud-Based Electronic Medical Record to Reduce Gaps in the HIV Treatment Continuum in Rural Kenya [22]	Uamuzi Bo- ra	Kenya	HIV/AIDS
12	Implementation of Provider-Based Electronic Medical Records and Improvement of the Quality of Data in a Large HIV Program in Sub- Saharan Africa [23]	IDI ICEA	Uganda	HIV/AIDS
13	Implementing OpenMRS for patient monitoring in an HIV/AIDS care and treatment program in rural Mozambique [24]	OpenMRS	Mozambique	HIV/AIDS
14	Improvement of Service Capabilities Following the Establishment of an Electronic Database to Evaluate AIDS in Central Africa [25]	IeDEA DMS	Burundi; Cameroon; Democratic Republic of Congo	HIV/AIDS
15	Integration of ICT In Health Service Manage- ment in Heal Africa Hospital in DRCongo [26]	HEAL HMS	Democratic Republic of Congo	Primary health care and general care
16	OpenMRS Ebola Case Study [27]	OpenMRS	Sierra Leone	Ebola
17	Scale-up of networked HIV treatment in Nigeria: Creation of an integrated electronic medical records system [28]	FileMaker Pro EMRS	Nigeria	HIV/AIDS
18	Using Electronic Medical Records for HIV Care in Rural Rwanda [29]	OpenMRS	Rwanda	HIV/AIDS
19	Using Touchscreen Electronic Medical Record Systems to Support and Monitor National Scale- Up of Antiretroviral Therapy in Malawi [30]	POC EMR	Malawi	HIV/AIDS

http://humanfactors.jmir.org/2019/1/e9317/

XSL•FO RenderX

	Table 5.	Rating of	keywords f	for the 19	systems on	the 5 ke	y metrics.
--	----------	-----------	------------	------------	------------	----------	------------

Publication	Effectiver	ness	Efficiency	/	Ease of le	arning	User satis	faction	Cognitive	load
	Rating ^a	Maximum Weighted Score=20 points								
Nucita, 2009 [12]	4	16	3	12	3	12	4	16	b	_
Coetsee, 2014 [13]	3	12	3	12	_	_	3	12	_	_
Darcy et al, 2010 [14]	3	12	3	12	3	12	4	16	3	12
Ohemeng-Dapaaha et al, 2010 [15]	3	12	3	12	—	—	2	8	—	—
Tilahun and Fleur, 2015 [16]	2	8	2	8	3	12	2	8	4	16
Kmadjeu at al, 2005 [17]	3	12	3	12	3	12	3	12	4	16
United Nations De- velopment Pro- gramme, 2014 [18]	3	12	4	16	—	—	4	12	3	12
Mbananga et al, 2002 [19]	3	12	3	12	—	_	2	8	—	—
Tierney et al, 2010 [20]	3	12	3	12	—	_	4	16	—	_
Mensah et al, 2015 [21]	3	12	3	12	—	_	—	_	3	12
Haskew et al, 2015 [22]	5	20	—	—	4	16		—	3	12
Castelnuovo et al, 2012 [23]	5	20	3	12	4	16	3	12	3	12
Manders et al, 2010 [24]	3	12	3	12	4	16	3	12	—	_
Newman et al, 2011 [25]	3	12	4	16	4	16	3	12	3	12
Guylain et al, 2015 [26]	3	12	_	—	4	16	_	—	2	8
Open MRS, 2015 [27]	3	12	4	16	3	12	3	12	5	20
Chaplin et al, 2015 [28]	5	20	3	12	4	16	4	16	4	16
Amoroso et al, 2010 [29]	4	16	4	16	4	16	2	8	3	12
Douglas et al, 2010 [30]	3	12	—	_	3	12	5	20	4	16

^aRating: Excellent=5, Good=4, Fair=3, Poor=2, Bad=1.

^bNot applicable.



Table 6. Overall scoring of the 19 systems on the 5 key metrics.

Scores ^a	Effectiveness (19 systems scored)	Efficiency (16 systems scored)	Ease of learning (13 systems scored)	User satisfaction (16 systems scored)	Cognitive load (13 systems scored)
Total weighted score	256	204	184	200	176
Maximum attainable total score (max. weight x no. scored)	380	320	260	320	260
Percentage score (total/max x 100)	67%	64%	71%	63%	68%

^aOverall usability percentage score=(sum of total weighted scores/sum of max attainable scores)x100%=66%.

Results

Effectiveness

All 19 publications reviewed were rated for effectiveness. Effectiveness was translated to systems being able to enhance patient care and management, provide significant improvement or be indispensable, be effective, meet implementation objectives, improve data quality, improve records availability, or being able to provide decision support to users. From the 19 systems, 3 systems (16%) obtained a rating of excellent for effectiveness, 2 systems (11%) obtained a rating of good for effectiveness, whereas 13 systems (68%) obtained a rating of fair for effectiveness. 1 system (5%) obtained a rating of bad for effectiveness. A majority of the systems reviewed were therefore found to be good in effectively achieving their implementation objectives. The percentage score for effectiveness of all 19 systems was found to be 67% (SD 1.47; 95% CI).

Efficiency

In the literature review, efficiency was associated with eliminating delays, reducing patient or provider burden, reducing time, and streamlining procedures or improving workflows. Efficiency was rated for 16 out of the 19 systems reviewed. No system obtained a rating of excellent for efficiency out of all 16 systems. From the 16 systems, 4 systems (25%) obtained a rating of good for efficiency. The majority of the systems, 11 out of 16 (69%), obtained a rating of fair for efficiency. Furthermore, 1 system (6%) obtained a rating of poor for efficiency and no system was found to be bad in efficiency. The percentage score for efficiency of the 16 systems scored was found to be 64% (SD 1.04).

Ease of Learning

Ease of learning was associated with quick user proficiency, user-friendly interfaces, easy system comprehension, similarity with paper forms, system ease of learning and use, as well as availability of language customization capabilities in the reviewed EMR systems. A total of 13 out of the 19 systems reviewed were rated for ease of learning. Out of the 13, no system obtained a rating of excellent for ease of learning. The majority of the systems, 7 out of 13 (54%), obtained a rating of good for ease of learning, whereas the rest of the systems, 6 out of 13 (46%), obtained a rating of fair for ease of learning. Ease of learning obtained the highest percentage score of all the 5 key usability metrics with a score of 71% (SD 1.09).

User Satisfaction

A total of 16 out of 19 systems reviewed were rated for user satisfaction. User satisfaction was associated with mention that users preferred the system or viewed the system as essential, were happy with or enthusiastic about the system, relied on the system, perceived many benefits from use of the system; there was also little mention of EMR system adoption challenges. Out of the 16, 1 system (6%) obtained a rating of excellent for user satisfaction. A substantial number of systems, 5 out of 16 (31%), obtained a rating of good for user satisfaction. The majority of the systems, 6 out of 16 (38%), obtained a rating of fair for user satisfaction. A total of 4 systems (25%) obtained a rating of bad for user satisfaction. The percentage score for user satisfaction was the lowest of all the 5 metrics with a score of 63% (SD 1.70).

Cognitive Load

A total of 13 out of the 19 systems were rated for cognitive load. Cognitive load was associated with inclusion of standard treatment guidelines, easy discernment of system functionality, well-organized information within the system, logical and systematic documentation within the system, intuitive design of the EMR system, easy access to system information as well as availability of reports within the EMR system. Of the 13 systems, 1 system (8%) obtained a rating of excellent for cognitive load, whereas 4 systems (31%) were rated as having good cognitive load. The majority of the systems, 7 out of 13 (54%), obtained a rating of fair for cognitive load. Furthermore, 1 system (8%) was rated as having poor cognitive load and no system was found to have bad cognitive load. Cognitive load was found to have a percentage score of 68% (SD 1.62) for the systems reviewed.

Total Scores Per Metric

The total percentage scores per metric were calculated as indicated in the results section above for each metric and plotted on a radar graph in Figure 2 to visualize their effect on EMR system usability.

Overall Electronic Medical Record Usability Score

The overall usability score for EMR systems implemented in sub-Saharan Africa was calculated as the sum of the total weighted scores of all 5 metrics divided by the sum of the maximum attainable total scores of all 5 metrics and the result expressed as a percentage. It was found to be 66%.

Kavuma

Figure 2. Radar graph showing usability of electronic medical record (EMR) systems implemented in sub-Saharan Africa. Ease of Learning has possibly positively influenced usability most.



Discussion

Principal Findings

The usability of EMR systems implemented in sub-Saharan Africa has been good with an overall score of 66% across 5 key usability metrics. Ease of learning has possibly had the most positive influence on this rating and was defined for this review as the time it takes a user to reach a specified level of proficiency in the use of an EMR system. It probably has allowed users speedy and easy acquaintance with implemented systems, thereby enhancing their usability.

A relationship was observed between the scores for ease of learning and effectiveness in which a number of systems reviewed simultaneously obtained high scores in both metrics, suggesting that EMR systems might be more effective when they are easy to learn. A slight relationship was also observed between ease of learning and efficiency in which a few of the reviewed systems simultaneously obtained high scores in both metrics.

From the results, cognitive load has possibly contributed the second most to the usability of EMR systems with a percentage score of 68% (SD 1.62) for systems reviewed across the 5 key usability metrics. Cognitive load for this review was defined by how intuitively information and functionality are presented within the EMR system and appeared to have a slight relationship with user satisfaction.

Following closely in third place with a percentage score of 67% (SD 1.47) has been effectiveness in potentially positively contributing to EMR system usability in sub-Saharan Africa. Effectiveness was defined as the accuracy and completeness with which a user can achieve task goals within an EMR system, and it was found to have a relationship with ease of learning as described above and a slight relationship with user satisfaction.

http://humanfactors.jmir.org/2019/1/e9317/

Efficiency has probably contributed the second least to positively influencing the usability of EMR systems implemented in sub-Saharan Africa. Efficiency, defined as the speed at which a user can successfully accomplish the task at hand within the EMR system, obtained a percentage score of 64% (SD 1.04). A slight relationship was observed between efficiency and ease of learning as mentioned above, suggesting that efficiency benefits might be accrued from EMR systems that are easy to learn.

Finally, user satisfaction has probably contributed the least to positively influencing the usability of EMR systems implemented in sub-Saharan Africa. User satisfaction, which was defined as a person's subjective response to his or her interaction with the EMR system, obtained a percentage score of 63% (SD 1.70). A slight relationship was observed between user satisfaction and effectiveness and user satisfaction and cognitive load as mentioned above, which might imply that where cognitive load is well-incorporated into the EMR system design, the systems are more likely to be effective and users are more likely to accept them.

Conclusions

This literature review of the usability of EMR systems in sub-Saharan Africa used an evaluation methodology and usability metrics proposed by HIMSS to evaluate the implemented systems through a mixed-methods approach. The review identified that ease of learning has possibly had the most positive influence on the usability of EMR systems implemented in sub-Saharan Africa. Cognitive load and effectiveness have followed closely as second and third potential positive contributors to EMR system usability. Efficiency has possibly contributed the second least and user satisfaction probably contributed the least to EMR system usability.

XSL•FO RenderX

Overall, usability appears to have been an enabling factor in the implementation of EMR systems in sub-Saharan Africa as it was found to be good in this review, and the approaches to incorporate usability into EMR implementations ought to prioritize ease of learning of the systems as this has been identified to potentially influence usability most. This supposition that ease of learning with 71% is the largest impact is true within the 95% CI because cognitive load at 68%+1.62=69.62 is below 71%-1.09=69.91 and therefore clearly distinct. Easy-to-learn EMR systems are possibly more effective as a relationship between ease of learning and effectiveness was identified in this literature review. Special attention also ought to be paid to user satisfaction while implementing EMR systems as this might not have been given adequate attention among the reviewed systems and therefore possibly contributed the least to the usability of EMR systems implemented in sub-Saharan Africa.

Limitations of the Review

Methodology Limitations

This literature review of the usability of EMR systems implemented in sub-Saharan Africa was performed solely by

the author and only evaluated EMR systems from publications and documentation about them. No physical evaluation or interaction with the actual systems was carried out as part of this literature review. Therefore, the review had limitations of not evaluating the EMR systems in their production clinical settings. The review also did not interview users of the systems to solicit their opinions on the usability of the systems. Moreover, only EMR system implementations where publications mentioned at least 3 of the 5 key usability metrics developed for this review were included in the final review.

Other Limitations

The review also equated EMR systems to patient management systems, clinical and hospital information systems, decision support systems, and electronic health record systems, and it did not take into consideration other confounding factors that might have influenced the usability of the reviewed systems such as hardware and related infrastructure, support and technical expertise availability, user engagement, funding, and so on. Therefore, the review only reviewed implemented EMR systems in their *already used and published about* state with a focus on their usability along the 5 key metrics with all other factors assumed constant.

Acknowledgments

The author would like to specially acknowledge Professor Maurice Mars of the Department of TeleHealth, University of KwaZulu, Natal, South Africa for his guidance in writing this review article. This work was supported by the National Institute of Health, Fogarty International Centre (grant number: 4D43TW007004).

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Matching keywords identified in publications for the usability metrics.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 315KB - humanfactors_v6i1e9317_app1.pdf]

References

- 1. The Free Dictionary.: Farlex, Inc Electronic Medical Record URL: <u>https://medical-dictionary.thefreedictionary.com/</u> electronic+medical+record [WebCite Cache ID 76KtiggVc]
- Mackinnon W, Wasserman M. Integrated electronic medical record systems: critical success factors for implementation. In: IEEE.: IEEE; 2009 Presented at: 42nd Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences; Jan 5-8, 2009; Hawaii p. 1-10 URL: <u>https://www.computer.org/csdl/proceedings/hicss/2009/3450/00/06-04-05.pdf</u> [doi: <u>10.1109/HICSS.2009.264</u>]
- 3. Shortliffe EH. The evolution of electronic medical records. Acad Med 1999 Apr;74(4):414-419. [Medline: <u>10219224</u>]
- 4. Fonquernie F, Lacombe K, Vincensini J, Boccara F, Clozel S, Ayouch Boda A, et al. How to improve the quality of a disease management program for HIV-infected patients using a computerized data system. The Saint-Antoine Orchestra program. AIDS Care 2010 May;22(5):588-596. [doi: 10.1080/09540120903280893] [Medline: 20401768]
- Ammenwerth E, Schnell-Inderst P, Machan C, Siebert U. The effect of electronic prescribing on medication errors and adverse drug events: a systematic review. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2008;15(5):585-600 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1197/jamia.M2667] [Medline: 18579832]
- 6. Samaan ZM, Klein M, Mansour M, DeWitt TG. The impact of the electronic health record on an academic pediatric primary care center. J Ambul Care Manage 2009;32(3):180-187. [doi: <u>10.1097/JAC.0b013e3181ac9667</u>] [Medline: <u>19542807</u>]
- Holroyd-Leduc JM, Lorenzetti D, Straus S, Sykes L, Quan H. The impact of the electronic medical record on structure, process, and outcomes within primary care: a systematic review of the evidence. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2011;18(6):732-737
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/amiajnl-2010-000019] [Medline: 21659445]
- 8. Zlabek JA, Wickus J, Mathiason M. Early cost and safety benefits of an inpatient electronic health record. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2011;18(2):169-172 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/jamia.2010.007229] [Medline: 21292703]

- 9. Fraser HS, Biondich P, Moodley D, Choi S, Mamlin B, Szolovits P. Implementing electronic medical record systems in developing countries. Inform Prim Care 2005;13(2):83-95 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 15992493]
- 10. Akanbi MO, Ocheke A, Agaba P, Daniyam C, Agaba E, Okeke E, et al. Use of electronic health records in sub-Saharan Africa: progress and challenges. J Med Trop 2012;14(1):1-6 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 25243111]
- 11. Healthcare Information and Management Systems Society. HIMSS EHR Usability Task Force. 2009 Jun. Defining and Testing EMR Usability: Principles and Proposed Methods of EMR Usability Evaluation and Rating URL: <u>http://www.himss.org/defining-and-testing-emr-usability-principles-and-proposed-methods-emr-usability-evaluation-and</u> [accessed 2017-10-03] [WebCite Cache ID 6twAMg75D]
- Nucita A, Bernava M, Bartolo M, Masi F, Giglio P, Peroni M, et al. A global approach to the management of EMR (electronic medical records) of patients with HIV/AIDS in sub-Saharan Africa: the experience of DREAM software. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2009 Sep 11;9:42 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-9-42] [Medline: 19747371]
- 13. Coetsee JL, Kruger TF, Vine D. An electronic health record for infertility clinics. S Afr J OG 2014 Apr 03;20(1):31. [doi: 10.7196/sajog.683]
- 14. Darcy N, Kelley C, Reynolds E, Cressman G, Killam P. RTI International.: RTI Press; 2010 Mar. An Electronic Patient Referral Application: A Case Study from Zambia URL: <u>http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.424</u>. <u>4963&rep=rep1&type=pdf</u> [accessed 2016-11-28]
- 15. Ohemeng-Dapaah S, Pronyk P, Akosa E, Nemser B, Kanter A. Combining vital events registration, verbal autopsy and electronic medical records in rural Ghana for improved health services delivery. Stud Health Technol Inform 2010;160(Pt 1):416-420. [Medline: 20841720]
- Tilahun B, Fritz F. Comprehensive evaluation of electronic medical record system use and user satisfaction at five low-resource setting hospitals in ethiopia. JMIR Med Inform 2015 May 25;3(2):e22 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/medinform.4106] [Medline: 26007237]
- Kamadjeu RM, Tapang M, Moluh N. Designing and implementing an electronic health record system in primary care practice in sub-Saharan Africa: a case study from Cameroon. Inform Prim Care 2005;13(3):179-186 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>16259857</u>]
- UNDP. United Nations Development Programme.: United Nations Development Programme; 2015. Electronic Patient Management System ePMS Zimbabwe URL: <u>https://undp-healthsystems.org/files/capacities/dhis/</u> <u>epms_zimbabwe_march_2015-web.pdf</u> [accessed 2016-11-27]
- Mbananga N, Madale R, Becker P. The Medical Research Council of South Africa.: Health Systems Trust; 2002 May. Evaluation of Hospital Information System in the Northern Province in South Africa URL: <u>https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/ab97/8903cb3089607cedc1c72343e9d144938807.pdf</u> [accessed 2016-11-19]
- Tierney W, Achieng M, Baker E, Bell A, Biondich P, Braitstein P, Tanzania-Uganda Openmrs Consortium. Experience implementing electronic health records in three East African countries. Stud Health Technol Inform 2010;160(Pt 1):371-375. [Medline: 20841711]
- 21. Mensah N, Sukums F, Awine T, Meid A, Williams J, Akweongo P, et al. Impact of an electronic clinical decision support system on workflow in antenatal care: the QUALMAT eCDSS in rural health care facilities in Ghana and Tanzania. Glob Health Action 2015;8:25756 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3402/gha.v8.25756] [Medline: 25630707]
- 22. Haskew J, Rø G, Turner K, Kimanga D, Sirengo M, Sharif S. Implementation of a cloud-based electronic medical record to reduce gaps in the HIV treatment continuum in rural Kenya. PLoS One 2015;10(8):e0135361 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0135361] [Medline: 26252212]
- Castelnuovo B, Kiragga A, Afayo V, Ncube M, Orama R, Magero S, et al. Implementation of provider-based electronic medical records and improvement of the quality of data in a large HIV program in Sub-Saharan Africa. PLoS One 2012;7(12):e51631 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0051631] [Medline: 23284728]
- 24. Manders EJ, José E, Solis M, Burlison J, Nhampossa J, Moon T. Implementing OpenMRS for patient monitoring in an HIV/AIDS care and treatment program in rural Mozambique. Stud Health Technol Inform 2010;160(Pt 1):411-415. [Medline: 20841719]
- 25. Newman J, Torres P, Azinyue I, Hemingway-Foday J, Atibu J, Akam W, et al. Improvement of service capabilities following the establishment of an electronic database to evaluate AIDS in Central Africa. J Health Inform Dev Ctries 2011 Jul 22;5(2):273-285 [FREE Full text]
- 26. Guylain V, Mubaraka C, Salisu M. Global Journal of Engineering, Design and Technology. 2013. Integration of ICT in health service management in HEAL Africa hospital in DRCongo URL: <u>https://www.longdom.org/articles/</u> integration-of-ict-in-health-service-management-in-heal-africa-hospital-in-drcongo.pdf [accessed 2019-02-17] [WebCite Cache ID 76G2CDzaG]
- 27. OpenMRS. 2016 Aug 31. OpenMRS Ebola Case Study: Fighting Ebola with Open Source Collaboration URL: <u>https://openmrs.org/2016/08/openmrs-ebola-case-study/</u> [accessed 2016-11-30]
- Chaplin B, Meloni S, Eisen G, Jolayemi T, Banigbe B, Adeola J, et al. Scale-up of networked HIV treatment in Nigeria: creation of an integrated electronic medical records system. Int J Med Inform 2015 Jan;84(1):58-68. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2014.09.006] [Medline: 25301692]

- 29. Amoroso CL, Akimana B, Wise B, Fraser HS. Using electronic medical records for HIV care in rural Rwanda. Stud Health Technol Inform 2010;160(Pt 1):337-341. [doi: 10.3233/978-1-60750-588-4-337] [Medline: 20841704]
- Douglas GP, Gadabu O, Joukes S, Mumba S, McKay M, Ben-Smith A, et al. Using touchscreen electronic medical record systems to support and monitor national scale-up of antiretroviral therapy in Malawi. PLoS Med 2010 Aug 10;7(8) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000319] [Medline: 20711476]

Abbreviations

EMR: electronic medical record **HIMSS:** Healthcare Information and Management Systems Society

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 31.10.17; peer-reviewed by A Keepanasseril, S Garg, C Fincham; comments to author 15.03.18; revised version received 07.08.18; accepted 03.11.18; published 25.02.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Kavuma M The Usability of Electronic Medical Record Systems Implemented in Sub-Saharan Africa: A Literature Review of the Evidence JMIR Hum Factors 2019;6(1):e9317 URL: <u>http://humanfactors.jmir.org/2019/1/e9317/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/humanfactors.9317</u> PMID:<u>30801251</u>

©Michael Kavuma. Originally published in JMIR Human Factors (http://humanfactors.jmir.org), 25.02.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Human Factors, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://humanfactors.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Computerized Clinical Decision Support System for Emergency Department–Initiated Buprenorphine for Opioid Use Disorder: User-Centered Design

Jessica M Ray¹, PhD; Osama M Ahmed¹, BSc; Yauheni Solad², MD; Matthew Maleska³, MBA; Shara Martel¹, MPH, MS; Molly M Jeffery⁴, PhD; Timothy F Platts-Mills⁵, MSc, MD; Erik P Hess⁶, MSc, MD; Gail D'Onofrio¹, MD, MS; Edward R Melnick¹, MD, MHS

¹Yale School of Medicine, New Haven, CT, United States

²Yale New Haven Health, New Haven, CT, United States

³The Patient Revolution, New Haven, CT, United States

⁴Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN, United States

⁵University of North Carolina School of Medicine, Chapel Hill, NC, United States

⁶University of Alabama at Birmingham School of Medicine, Birmingham, AL, United States

Corresponding Author: Edward R Melnick, MD, MHS Yale School of Medicine 464 Congress Ave, Suite 260 New Haven, CT, 06519 United States Phone: 1 9176081760 Fax: 1 203 785 4580 Email: edward.melnick@yale.edu

Abstract

Background: Emergency departments (EDs) frequently care for individuals with opioid use disorder (OUD). Buprenorphine (BUP) is an effective treatment option for patients with OUD that can safely be initiated in the ED. At present, BUP is rarely initiated as a part of routine ED care. Clinical decision support (CDS) could accelerate adoption of ED-initiated BUP into routine emergency care.

Objective: This study aimed to design and formatively evaluate a user-centered decision support tool for ED initiation of BUP for patients with OUD.

Methods: User-centered design with iterative prototype development was used. Initial observations and interviews identified workflows and information needs. The design team and key stakeholders reviewed prototype designs to ensure accuracy. A total of 5 prototypes were evaluated and iteratively refined based on input from 26 attending and resident physicians.

Results: Early feedback identified concerns with the initial CDS design: an alert with several screens. The timing of the alert led to quick dismissal without using the tool. User feedback on subsequent iterations informed the development of a flexible tool to support clinicians with varied levels of experience with the intervention by providing both one-click options for direct activation of care pathways and user-activated support for critical decision points. The final design resolved challenging navigation issues through targeted placement, color, and design of the decision support modules and care pathways. In final testing, users expressed that the tool could be easily learned without training and was reasonable for use during routine emergency care.

Conclusions: A user-centered design process helped designers to better understand users' needs for a Web-based clinical decision tool to support ED initiation of BUP for OUD. The process identified varying needs across user experience and familiarity with the protocol, leading to a flexible design supporting both direct care pathways and user-initiated decision support.

(JMIR Hum Factors 2019;6(1):e13121) doi:10.2196/13121

KEYWORDS

RenderX

user-centered design; decision support systems, clinical; opioid-related disorders; opiate substitution treatment; health information technology

Introduction

Background

Opioid use disorder (OUD) is an escalating public health crisis that has impacted all regions of the United States and represents a substantial portion of emergency department (ED) visits each year. An estimated 2.1 million people in the United States have OUD [1] and 275 million people have OUD worldwide [2]. More than 33,000 opioid-related deaths occur annually in the United States and 118,000 opioid-related deaths occur annually worldwide [3]. From 2016 to 2017, EDs experienced a 30% increase in visits for opioid overdose [4]. As the primary source of care for many people with OUD, the ED offers an important opportunity to engage patients receiving care for acute and comorbid conditions related to opioid use.

Buprenorphine (BUP), a partial opioid agonist often combined with an opioid antagonist, is a proven effective treatment for OUD that decreases mortality, withdrawal symptoms, craving, and opioid use [5-7]. Initiating BUP in the ED doubles the rate of addiction treatment engagement in ED patients with OUD [8]. However, ED-initiated BUP has not yet been adopted in most hospitals [9,10]. This delay in adoption of evidence-based practice is not unique—on average, it takes 17 years from discovery to the adoption of evidence-based practices into routine care [11,12].

Clinical decision support (CDS), computerized systems that offer patient-specific assessments or recommendations to clinicians, represents one approach to facilitating and accelerating the implementation process [13,14]. A 2011 review of randomized controlled trials investigating CDS guidance for drug therapy showed that CDS improved care in 64% (37/59) of studies [15]. In a broad review of CDS designed to address a range of care processes, meta-analysis favored the use of CDS for supporting clinician treatment orders (odds ratio 1.57, 95% CI 1.35-1.82). Large studies have shown CDS implementation in the ED to have supported the adoption of evidence-based practices for computed tomography imaging use [16,17].

However, CDS faces its own challenges, including unintended consequences such as alert fatigue and increased cognitive load [18-22]. CDS design principles support careful consideration of the sociotechnical environment and delivery of the right information, to the right person, in the right format, and at the right time in clinical workflow to optimize medical decision making [23-26].

Across the fields of technology and human-computer interaction, building usable systems has been found to be essential to improve efficiency and reduce errors [27]. International Organization for Standardization standards for user-centered design outline the process by which technological design can incorporate context and organizational requirements to produce and evaluate solutions [28]. The engagement of end users (the people who will be using the technology) throughout the process is critical to anticipate and avoid pitfalls of new information technology such as increased cognitive load and lack of user engagement [26]. Specifically, pragmatic approaches to usability

http://humanfactors.jmir.org/2019/1/e13121/

evaluation are necessary to rapidly design, iterate, and test health care information systems [29].

Objectives

Our objective was to develop a pragmatic, user-centered CDS for ED-initiated BUP and referral to treatment for patients with OUD. The user-centered design process for the development of this tool is described here. We developed this CDS specifically for the purposes of a planned multisystem pragmatic trial to study the effectiveness of user-centered CDS on adoption rates of ED-initiated BUP [30].

Methods

Clinical Context and Population

From March to July 2018, we utilized a multiphase, user-centered design methodology for the formative design, development, and evaluation of the EMergency department-initiated Buprenorphine for opioid usE Disorder (EMBED) CDS intervention. Primary phases in this method included (1) needs assessment, (2) initial prototype design, (3) iterative design feedback, and (4) final prototype testing. Formative feedback sessions were approved by our institution's institutional review board; given the minimal risk of the study and a protocol that did not involve the collection of participants' private information, all participants gave verbal consent for participation.

Eligible participants included ED clinicians and key stakeholders (including administrative and information technology leaders and ED addiction counselors) from an urban academic level I trauma center with 103,000 patient visits per year. Recruitment for user feedback sessions focused specifically on attending physicians and residents in the second, third, or fourth year of postgraduate medical training. During a 4-month period from March to June 2018, a total of 26 unique participants offered feedback during iterative design, including 14 through informal sessions and 12 through formal user feedback sessions. In addition, 6 participants offered feedback on multiple versions of the design. Informal sessions were conducted in the ED or private administrative offices and lasted 10 to 30 min. Formal sessions were conducted in the Yale Center for Medical Simulation and were approximately 45 min in length. Formal user design sessions were conducted in parallel with both attending and resident physicians by a human factors researcher (JR).

Pragmatic Approach

Given our goal to rapidly increase adoption rates of ED-initiated BUP for a subsequent pragmatic trial, we elected to take a pragmatic approach to formative usability evaluation, as described by Mann et al [29]. This approach included rapid iterative design and testing cycles to provide user feedback and input on prototype design iterations. All sessions of user testing included direct observation, think aloud, and observational note-taking. In addition, notes were reviewed with each participant at the end of each session to ensure completeness. Pragmatic data analysis was performed by the design team during weekly meetings to debrief and summarize findings and to determine the design, functionality, and interface changes to

XSL•FO

make based on these findings. Termination was based on consensus, cost, and time constraints, as opposed to thematic saturation [29]. To minimize the assessment burden, we did not capture demographic data such as age, gender, race, or ethnicity (other than professional role) for the participants in the study [31].

Phase 1: Needs Assessment

The initial phase of design consisted of a focused discussion with key content and context experts as well as 3 ethnographic observation sessions of 2 to 5 hours in length. In the first 2 observations, the lead designer (MM) shadowed attending physicians in the ED. The third observation period focused on the processes of registration and the administration of patient flow through the waiting room and ED. Five 1-hour, individual interviews were then conducted with an ED drug and alcohol program counselor, a drug and alcohol treatment coordinator, an attending physician, and a resident. Interviews captured additional detail on workflow, roles, and user information needs.

Phase 2: Initial Prototype Design

After identifying potential users and their information needs, an initial low-fidelity prototype was designed. This prototype focused on key components necessary for implementing the ED-initiated BUP protocol, including modules to evaluate patients for OUD based on the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 5th Edition (DSM-5) criteria [32] and for opioid withdrawal severity using the Clinical Opioid Withdrawal Scale (COWS); the protocol for initiating BUP in the ED; and the steps necessary for referring patients for continued medication for OUD [33,34]. The initial prototype design was then reviewed by the design team as well as a subject matter expert on ED management of substance use disorder (GD) and a targeted sample of attending physicians and administrative leaders from the department. The goal of the initial prototype design phase was to establish the components necessary for the decision support tool and workflow. Questions identified during the initial review were addressed at this stage of design before moving forward to iterative design feedback sessions.

Phase 3: Iterative Design Feedback and Prototype Revision

With the initial static design complete, an interactive prototype was built in InVision (InVision, New York, NY). This prototype provided users with an interactive navigation and functionality experience. Feedback was gathered both through informal review and through formal user design sessions. Informal review included the distribution of electronic or print versions of all screens in the design to both attending and resident physicians. After verbal consent was obtained, each participant was oriented to the session format and read a case (Multimedia Appendix 1) of a patient presenting to the ED for treatment following an opioid overdose. Users were then given an electronic version of the CDS and asked to talk through how they would proceed. If participants did not initially mention the use of the tool, they were prompted to think about how and when they would expect to access the tool in this patient encounter. Participants were asked to think aloud describing how they expected to interact

with the tool and were prompted for their initial reactions to it [35]. At the conclusion of each session, participants were asked to provide their overall impression of the tool's content and format as well as suggestions to make the tool easier to use and to increase the likelihood of incorporating it into their practice. All data were entered in a design log identifying the user need, recommendation, and changes resulting from those recommendations. Recommendations were reviewed by the design team weekly to determine how they should inform design revisions. After each iteration, additional feedback sessions were conducted to gather additional data and further refine design.

Phase 4: Final Prototype Testing

Final testing of the interactive InVision prototype consisted of formal user feedback sessions that proceeded until the design team reached a consensus that the prototype would exceed all users' needs 80% of the time based on the 80/20 rule [36]. These sessions followed the format of the formal iterative design feedback sessions (detailed above in Phase 3). Participants included both resident and attending physicians with a wide range of experience with the ED-initiated BUP. Sampling was deliberate to include both participants from earlier iteration sessions as well as new participants naïve to the user design.

Results

Phase 1 (Needs Assessments) and Phase 2 (Initial Prototype Design)

Overall, 4 key topics for design were identified in Phase 1 (Table 1). These initial areas of concentration included appropriate patient identification, defining potential users of the decision support tool, avoiding workflow disruptions, CDS steps, and supporting user understanding of the treatment process. Attending physicians were expected to be the target system users, yet early observations and feedback suggested parts of the decision process might be completed by other members of the care team, such as medical students, residents, or nurses. This broadened view of system users, with varying clinical roles and experience, became an ongoing design challenge driving decisions of how and when to present support.

Activation of CDS tools was an early feedback topic. The initial design was an Epic (Epic Systems, Verona, WI) best practice alert (BPA; Figure 1) triggering a pop-up window when a patient was identified as potentially having OUD. However, users disliked the pop-up alert format as it could easily be dismissed if triggered at the wrong time in the clinical workflow, potentially causing a missed opportunity to support the intervention.

A second area of concern for users (throughout all iterations) was avoiding workflow disruptions; they preferred that the tool take no longer than 2 to 5 min to use. Similarly, users highlighted the need for system flexibility to accommodate for the user's experience level by allowing for decision support as needed as well as a direct care pathway selection with less support for more experienced clinicians.

Table 1. Needs assessment at baseline and ethnographic observation results.

Needs/topics	How they were expressed
Appropriate patient identification	Is it possible to have nurses identify patients with OUD ^a ?
	Need to properly explain COWS ^b to patients, who may understand it as "dope sick"
	Can discharge instructions for opioid abuse be a trigger to activate CDS ^c ?
	There needs to be advanced search terms to trigger the CDS system—BPAs ^d should not be the common denom- inator for analysis
Avoiding workflow disruptions	Avoid BPAs. They are intrusive and are rarely acted upon
	Sometimes, physicians do leave electronic health record to access MDCalc or clinical resources websites
	Attending physicians usually do not have time for decision support. Better to tailor this toward residents and nurses
	Entire intervention should take 2-5 mins to increase adoption
Streamlining CDS steps	Integrate COWS into the H & P ^e template, with integrated decision support and order sets to determine the need for BUP ^f
	If a user is initiated for OUD diagnosis, then workflow should be streamlined and skip through the diagnostic criteria for OUD and go straight to treatment decision support
Understanding treatment process	Should patients be given a 4 mg or an 8 mg dosage?
	Need to have a short SBIRT ^g included in CDS to assess patient willingness to begin treatment
	This is not the responsibility of our department but rather the substance abuse program
	Patients are rarely in the right range of withdrawal to prescribe BUP. Need to have a system to allow them to return at an appropriate time to the ED ^h
	Some patients may have a preference for suboxone versus methadone
	Some providers may have completed the waiver process but may not yet be recognized for it
	Should we have patients return to the ED for follow-up post BUP administration, using the 72-hour rule?

^aOUD: opioid use disorder.

^bCOWS: Clinical Opioid Withdrawal Scale.

^cCDS: clinical decision support.

^dBPA: best practice alert.

^eH & P: history and physical.

^fBUP: buprenorphine.

^gSBIRT: Screening, Brief Intervention, and Referral to Treatment.

^hED: emergency department.

Figure 1. Initial prototype user interface mockup as Epic best practice alert.

Best Practice Alert	▼ ▲
Based on, this patient has been identified as a candidate for Buprenorphine treatment in the Emergency Department.	
Selecting 'Yes' to both questions will begin treatment protocol	
Yes No Unclear Image: Does the patient have Opioid Use Disorder? Image: Does the patient in moderate to severe withdrawl?	
Launch 'Buprenorphine Treatment Initiation Process' application for guidance	
Refresh	✓ Accept
Restore / Close F9 Previous	Next



Ray et al

Figure 2. Second prototype user interface with optional decision support. DSM: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for Mental Disorders; OUD: opioid use disorder.

Buprenorphine	DSM - 5 CRITERIA FOR OPIOID USE DISORDER		
Initiation Process	A patient that answers 'YES' to three or more of the following questions has moderate-to-severe OUD Select all that apply		
Buprenorphine can be adminstered in patients who meet the following criteria:	 Have you found that when you started using (insert drug (X) here) you ended up taking more than you intended to? 		
	2. Have you wanted to cut down using (X)?		
PATIENT START	3. Have you spent a lot of time getting or using (X)?		
MEETS DECISION CRITERIA SUPPORT	4. Have you had a strong desire or urge to use (X)?		
1. Opioid Use Disorder	5. Have you missed work or school or often arrived late because you were intoxicated, high, or recovering from the night before?		
(DSM 5 for Opioid Use Disorder)	6. Has your use of (X) caused problems with other people such as with family members, friends, or people at work?		
2 Withdrawal symptoms	7. Have you had to give up or spend less time working, enjoying hobbies, or being with others because of your drug use?		
are moderate-to-severe (Clinical Opiate Withdrawal Scale)	8. Have you ever gotten high before doing something that requires coordination or concentration like driving, boating, climbing a ladder, or operating heavy machinery?		
	9. Have you continued to use even though you knew that (X) caused you problems like making you depressed, anxious, agitated or irritable?		
3. Ready to start treatment (Motivational Interview Guide) or	10. Have you found you needed to use much more (X) to get the same effect that you did when you first started taking it?		
	11. When you reduced or stopped using (X), did you have withdrawal symptoms or felt sick when you cut down or stopped using? (aches, shaking, fever, weakness, diarrhea, nausea, sweating, heart pounding, difficulty sleeping, or feel agitated, anxious, irritable, or depressed)?		
	00		
Dosing and Referral			
	Complete Diagnosis		

These needs informed the development of the first prototype that incorporated existing paper forms into 1 process. This first iteration presented step-by-step guidance through 6 sequential screens (Figure 1 includes the first slide): introductory BPA, DSM checklist for diagnosing OUD, COWS withdrawal assessment, motivational interview prompts, treatment options, and a referral form. Each step was delegated to a single screen to emphasize the discrete steps in a streamlined workflow.

Phase 3 (Iterative Design)

We created 5 major prototypes based on ongoing feedback. Multimedia Appendix 2 documents feedback received from each version and how it was incorporated into the subsequent revision. Across all prototypes, feedback focused on 4 thematic needs: design changes, navigation, workflow integration, and treatment process.

Feedback on the initial prototype (described above) focused on streamlining the prototype. This feedback was used to inform the second prototype (Figure 2) with the goal of a user-initiated CDS (instead of a BPA trigger) that could be embedded within the electronic health record (EHR) and further streamline the information in the individual steps.

Users found that this second iteration still had too many steps and too much text. They expressed difficulty in locating the decision support elements. Specific suggestions included consolidating steps with more clarity in regard to navigating the treatment options by including a progress bar.

These suggestions led to a complete redesign of the CDS in prototype 3 (Figure 3). To improve clarity and consolidate steps, this version included all treatment options in a single table on 1 screen with a row for each treatment option. User feedback for this version focused on optimizing the design by changing fonts, reducing the amount of text, and labeling treatment options and the decision support tools appropriately.

This feedback informed the design of prototype 4 (Figure 4) in which treatment pathways were presented in columns (rather than rows) with 1-click treatment pathway selection at the bottom of each column. Buttons in the far left column provided access to modules for OUD diagnosis, withdrawal assessment, and motivation and assessment of patient readiness for treatment. Feedback for this version was mostly positive, with minor navigation concerns about where to start the tool and how to activate the decision support.

Ray et al

Figure 3. Third prototype user interface single-click care pathways. BUP: buprenorphine; COWS: Clinical Opioid Withdrawal Scale; DSM: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders; EHR: electronic health record; SL/PO: sublingual/by mouth.

Buprenorphine (BUP) Initiation Do you have a waiver to prescribe Buprenorphine?					TEXT "5555" FOR RESOURCES [X]		
No Ves Select from one of the four treatment options							
Treatment Options	Opioid Use Disorder	Withdrawal Status	Patient is ready	Treatment in ED	Select and Return to EHR		
	🚹 DSM	i cows	🔒 Help Motivate				
Start 8 mg BUP Consider if patient is in severe withdrawa	YES	(>13 Moderate-to-Severe)	~	 8mg SL/PO Observe for 45 min Ensure no side effects 	Order BUP (8 mg) - Refer for treatment - Rx: BUP 16mg / x3 days and naloxone - Populate note & instructions - Return to EHR		
2 Start 4 mg BUP (2x Consider if patient entered ED for treatme) YES	(8 to 13 Mild-to-Moderate)	~	 4mg SL/PO Observe for 45 min Ensure no side effects Repeat dose of 4mg SL/PC Observe for 60 min 	Order BUP (4 mg) - Refer for treatment - Rx: BUP 16mg / x3 days and naloxone - Populate note & instructions - Return to EHR		
3 BUP Rx for Home Consider if patient's withdrawal is too mil	YES	(<8 Mild-to-Moderate)	~	- Educate patient on home induction	BUP Home Induction - Refer for treatment - Rx: BUP 16mg / x3 days and naloxone - Populate note & instructions - Return to EHR		
Exit / No BUP Consider if Patient is not ready for treatm	NO / MILD	(<8 None-to-Mild)	×	- No	Refer for treatment - Prescribe naloxone - Populate note & instructions - Return to EHR		



Figure 4. Fourth prototype user interface with care pathways to columns. BUP: buprenorphine; COWS: Clinical Opioid Withdrawal Scale; DSM: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders; SL/PO: sublingual/by mouth.



Phase 4 (Final Prototype Testing)

The final prototype design goal was an intuitive, simple layout offering flexibility for direct treatment or user-initiated decision support. In response to navigation concerns, nonessential text was removed, and decision support was presented with blue buttons in the far right column, following the horizontal path for the DSM, COWS, and motivational interview (Figure 5). Although feedback was generally positive for the simplified layout, users suggested that the direct care pathways needed

clear delineation. These concerns were addressed in a final design change to outline each treatment column. During final testing, multiple users initially attempted to click in the middle of the main screen to select a care pathway, so care pathway activation buttons were changed to green to indicate the start of treatment. All participants at this stage thought that the system was easy to learn without training and reasonable for use in their routine emergency care practice. Figure 6 summarizes the needs assessment and general workflow of our intervention based on all phases of formative evaluation.



Ray et al

Figure 5. Final prototype user interface with decision support moved to the right column. BUP: buprenorphine; COWS: Clinical Opioid Withdrawal Scale; DSM: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorder; OUD: opioid use disorder.



Figure 6. Final information technology workflow for user-centered clinical decision support intervention based on formative evaluation. ED: emergency department; EMBED: EMergency department-initiated Buprenorphine for opioid use Disorder; EHR: electronic health record; OUD: opioid use disorder.



XSL•FO

Discussion

Principal Findings

We describe the iterative user-centered design process to develop a CDS for ED-initiated BUP. Across 4 phases with 5 major revisions and continuous iteration, we identified user needs for a flexible tool to support members of the care team who could be either experienced users or those new to ED-initiated BUP. Interactive feedback sessions identified key themes throughout the refinement process, including issues of navigation, overall design recommendations, considerations for workflow integration, and questions regarding the treatment protocol. Throughout the design process, how and where to activate decision support represented a key challenge. Early prototype versions provided step-by-step guidance through existing forms and processes. Requests for a more efficient and flexible tool resulted in an easy-to-read layout with options for direct clinical care activation or user-activated decision support. The challenge of simultaneously providing both a direct care pathway and flexible decision support led to a design with multiple navigation options. Adoption of key design principles included minimizing unnecessary text, utilizing a standard form and colors for buttons, and layout of information in meaningful pathways. We selected a final design once all user-identified concerns had been addressed and user feedback indicated the tool was meeting their anticipated needs.

Strengths and Meaning of the Study

This study supports the use of user-centered design. Through both formal and informal feedback, we captured user needs and input that would not be captured in traditional CDS design processes that lack a needs assessment or formative evaluation. Expert review of content ensured accuracy, whereas feedback from users with varying levels of experience highlighted the need for flexible support. Comments from expert users emphasized the need for an option to directly launch the desired care pathway. Although a direct care pathway provides flexibility for expert clinicians, novice clinicians emphasized the need for more structured decision support and clarity in the diagnostic and treatment processes. Specifically, less experienced users welcomed the detailed criteria for OUD diagnosis and withdrawal assessment, instructions for conducting a motivational interview, and clarity regarding BUP dosing. This contrast in user needs presented a design challenge that highlights the importance of sampling participants across the range of user experience levels with the protocol supported by the CDS. A deliberate sampling of participants from earlier iteration sessions as well as new participants provided confirmatory feedback on how recommended changes were incorporated into the design. Finally, design relied on both user comments and existing standards for layout and use of specific design features such as color.

Limitations

As the CDS supports a treatment pathway, the underlying workflow driving development was identified as clinician workflow. As such, clinicians were the primary users studied. Less focus on other members of the care team could represent a limitation—in particular, if the user population is broadened

```
http://humanfactors.jmir.org/2019/1/e13121/
```

in implementation at the site where the design process was conducted or at other sites using the tool in the future. A number of users suggested a role for other nonclinician staff in identifying OUD patients in the ED. In particular, multiple clinicians mentioned that the COWS could be completed by a nurse. Therefore, the tool is designed with resources that can be used by or distributed to other members of the care team (eg, nurse, medical student, and addiction counselor). In this way, a nonclinician could still complete the diagnostic or withdrawal assessment, and the clinician could incorporate this assessment into their final care pathway selection.

Given the urgency of the opioid epidemic, we made a conscious decision to take a pragmatic approach to the design and formative evaluation of our intervention. Developing the CDS through a pragmatic approach instead of a traditional academic approach allowed for the rapid inclusion of user feedback in a shorter time frame [29]. We recognize that limitations to this approach exist, including the potential for additional data that could be captured in a deeper, more rigorous data analysis typical of the academic approach. With a traditional academic approach, data saturation anticipates capturing 100% of user feedback themes, whereas this pragmatic approach to development relies on capturing 80% of critical issues [36]. However, we were willing to accept this trade-off to achieve the aim of the subsequent trial to accelerate getting this life-saving treatment into routine emergency care.

This work represents the initial phase of a larger project for the development, implementation, and testing of the effectiveness of the CDS developed here. Design and user feedback sessions were conducted at a single site, though implementation will include multiple sites and could potentially interface with other vendors' EHRs. Having a limited group of users engaged in design is practical and not unique to our work. However, we recognize that this introduces the potential for design features supporting local norms and processes that may not be generalizable. To mitigate this potential limitation, we sought feedback throughout the design process from external collaborators as well as guidance from a subject matter expert on ED management of substance use disorder.

Comparison With Prior Work

Given the devastating toll of the opioid epidemic, this user-centered CDS was developed to give clinicians the tools necessary to engage more people suffering from OUD in effective treatment at a time when they may be particularly open to it [8-10]. However, this intervention may be challenging to disseminate for several reasons: (1) it implements a multistep practice that is not familiar to clinicians; (2) ED clinicians are unlikely to see immediate effects of their efforts; (3) the targeted patient population is often perceived to be difficult to work with; and (4) the legal status of BUP for OUD is complicated, requiring a special waiver to prescribe for home use, but no waiver required if the treatment is administered onsite for no more than 72 hours [37,38].

Given these challenges to adoption, we perceived an opportunity to increase the likelihood of success by employing user-centered design to create the EMBED CDS intervention. Emerging literature supports this approach [39-42]. For example, Thursky

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

and Mahemoff have incorporated participatory design methods to create antibiotic CDS for physicians in intensive care units [39]. Kilsdonk et al have employed user-centered decision support to create a tool that improved the speed and accuracy of clinician's identification of appropriate screening procedures for childhood cancer survivors, relative to the use of a paper guideline [40]. Plaisance et al have used a process similar to our study to design a CDS for cardiopulmonary resuscitation in the intensive care unit [42]. We have also previously employed a user-centered design in developing CDS for patients with head injury in the ED [41].

Notably, these studies have shown that including user feedback in the design phase leads to greater effectiveness and efficiency and, ultimately, to a sense of physician ownership of the CDS, which increases its immediate uptake and continued use. They have also highlighted rapid-cycle prototyping with user engagement throughout a design process [42]. Similar to previous reports in this area, we found that different groups of users expressed different needs for the tool. We approached this challenge through a design approach that balanced the goals, priorities, and information processing needs of both novice and expert users. This resulted in a tool that could support multiple types of users and their preferred workflows. We demonstrate how a single tool can be designed with the flexibility to meet multiple users' work processes and information processing needs. Designing for the human requires an understanding of workflows, information needs, priorities, and preferences; user-centered design captures this through user engagement across the design and development life cycle [26-28].

Conclusions

This work describes the design and formative evaluation of a user-centered CDS for ED-initiated BUP. We add to the expanding literature on the design of user-centered CDS tools by describing the process and challenges of designing a flexible tool that supports both novice and expert clinicians in identifying appropriate patients and appropriate care pathways. Future work will include summative usability evaluation and pilot testing of the intervention to further optimize the tool for wide-scale implementation within existing ED workflows in a large pragmatic clinical trial across multiple health care systems. The aim of this subsequent pragmatic trial is to increase adoption of ED-initiated BUP for people suffering from OUD, thereby decreasing morbidity and mortality associated with opioid addiction. Users will also inform pilot implementation in a series of focus groups. Although early engagement of users supports the design process, we anticipate continued support of potential users will be equally important across the project life cycle.

Acknowledgments

Research reported in this publication was supported within the NIH Health Care Systems Research Collaboratory by a cooperative agreement (UG3DA047003) from the National Institute on Drug Abuse of the NIH. This work also received logistical and technical support from the NIH Collaboratory Coordinating Center (U24AT009676). The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Authors' Contributions

ERM, JMR, MM, and GD conceived and designed the work. All authors substantially contributed to the acquisition, analysis, and interpretation of the study data. JMR and OMA drafted the initial manuscript. All authors edited and approved the final version submitted for publication. ERM takes responsibility for the study as a whole.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

User-centered design script.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 179KB - humanfactors_v6i1e13121_app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Design iterations, feedback, and solutions.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 168KB - humanfactors v6i1e13121_app2.pdf]

References

RenderX

- 1. Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. 2016. Key substance use and mental health indicators in the United States: Results from the 2015 National Survey on Drug Use and Health (HHS Publication No URL: <u>http://www.samhsa.gov/data/</u>[accessed 2018-12-15] [WebCite Cache ID 74hC6qmq5]
- 2. World Health Organization. Information sheet on opioid overdose URL: <u>https://www.who.int/substance_abuse/</u> information-sheet/en/ [accessed 2019-02-01] [WebCite Cache ID 75rorCStG]

http://humanfactors.jmir.org/2019/1/e13121/

- Seth P, Scholl L, Rudd RA, Bacon S. Overdose deaths involving opioids, cocaine, and psychostimulants—United States, 2015–2016. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2018 Mar 30;67(12):349-358 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6712a1] [Medline: 29596405]
- 4. Vivolo-Kantor AM, Seth P, Gladden RM, Mattson CL, Baldwin GT, Kite-Powell A, et al. Vital signs: trends in emergency department visits for suspected opioid overdoses—United States, July 2016-September 2017. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2018 Mar 9;67(9):279-285 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6709e1] [Medline: 29518069]
- Kakko J, Svanborg KD, Kreek MJ, Heilig M. 1-year retention and social function after buprenorphine-assisted relapse prevention treatment for heroin dependence in Sweden: a randomised, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 2003 Feb 22;361(9358):662-668. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(03)12600-1] [Medline: 12606177]
- Mattick RP, Breen C, Kimber J, Davoli M. Buprenorphine maintenance versus placebo or methadone maintenance for opioid dependence. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014 Feb 6(2):CD002207. [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD002207.pub4</u>] [Medline: <u>24500948</u>]
- Larochelle MR, Liebschutz JM, Zhang F, Ross-Degnan D, Wharam JF. Opioid prescribing after nonfatal overdose and association with repeated overdose. Ann Intern Med 2016 Dec 6;165(5):376-377. [doi: <u>10.7326/L16-0168</u>] [Medline: <u>27595218</u>]
- D'Onofrio G, O'Connor PG, Pantalon M, Chawarski M, Busch S, Owens P, et al. Emergency department-initiated buprenorphine/naloxone treatment for opioid dependence: a randomized clinical trial. J Am Med Assoc 2015 Apr 28;313(16):1636-1644 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.2015.3474] [Medline: 25919527]
- 9. Duber HC, Barata IA, Cioè-Peña E, Liang SY, Ketcham E, Macias-Konstantopoulos W, et al. Identification, management, and transition of care for patients with opioid use disorder in the emergency department. Ann Emerg Med 2018 Oct;72(4):420-431. [doi: 10.1016/j.annemergmed.2018.04.007] [Medline: 29880438]
- 10. Martin A, Mitchell A, Wakeman S, White B, Raja A. Emergency department treatment of opioid addiction: an opportunity to lead. Acad Emerg Med 2018 May;25(5):601-604. [doi: 10.1111/acem.13367] [Medline: 29266577]
- Balas EA, Boren SA. Managing clinical knowledge for health care improvement. Yearb Med Inform 2000(1):65-70. [Medline: <u>27699347</u>]
- 12. Morris ZS, Wooding S, Grant J. The answer is 17 years, what is the question: understanding time lags in translational research. J R Soc Med 2011 Dec;104(12):510-520 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1258/jrsm.2011.110180] [Medline: 22179294]
- Kawamoto K, Houlihan CA, Balas EA, Lobach DF. Improving clinical practice using clinical decision support systems: a systematic review of trials to identify features critical to success. Br Med J 2005 Apr 2;330(7494):765 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.38398.500764.8F] [Medline: 15767266]
- Garg AX, Adhikari NKJ, McDonald H, Rosas-Arellano MP, Devereaux PJ, Beyene J, et al. Effects of computerized clinical decision support systems on practitioner performance and patient outcomes: a systematic review. J Am Med Assoc 2005 Mar 9;293(10):1223-1238. [doi: 10.1001/jama.293.10.1223] [Medline: 15755945]
- 15. Hemens BJ, Holbrook A, Tonkin M, Mackay JA, Weise-Kelly L, Navarro T, CCDSS Systematic Review Team. Computerized clinical decision support systems for drug prescribing and management: a decision-maker-researcher partnership systematic review. Implement Sci 2011 Aug 3;6:89 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-6-89] [Medline: 21824383]
- Raja AS, Ip IK, Prevedello LM, Sodickson AD, Farkas C, Zane RD, et al. Effect of computerized clinical decision support on the use and yield of CT pulmonary angiography in the emergency department. Radiology 2012 Feb;262(2):468-474 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1148/radiol.11110951] [Medline: 22187633]
- Sharp AL, Huang BZ, Tang T, Shen E, Melnick ER, Venkatesh AK, et al. Implementation of the Canadian CT Head Rule and its association with use of computed tomography among patients with head injury. Ann Emerg Med 2018 Jan;71(1):54-63.e2 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.annemergmed.2017.06.022] [Medline: 28739290]
- Sittig DF, Wright A, Osheroff JA, Middleton B, Teich JM, Ash JS, et al. Grand challenges in clinical decision support. J Biomed Inform 2008 Apr;41(2):387-392 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2007.09.003] [Medline: 18029232]
- Ash JS, Berg M, Coiera E. Some unintended consequences of information technology in health care: the nature of patient care information system-related errors. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2004 Apr;11(2):104-112 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1197/jamia.M1471] [Medline: 14633936]
- 20. Ash JS, Sittig DF, Campbell EM, Guappone KP, Dykstra RH. Some unintended consequences of clinical decision support systems. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2007:26-30 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 18693791]
- 21. Levin S, France DJ, Hemphill R, Jones I, Chen KY, Rickard D, et al. Tracking workload in the emergency department. Hum Factors 2006;48(3):526-539. [doi: 10.1518/001872006778606903] [Medline: 17063967]
- Melnick ER, Nielson JA, Finnell JT, Bullard MJ, Cantrill SV, Cochrane DG, et al. Delphi consensus on the feasibility of translating the ACEP clinical policies into computerized clinical decision support. Ann Emerg Med 2010 Oct;56(4):317-320. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.annemergmed.2010.03.006</u>] [Medline: <u>20363531</u>]
- 23. Sirajuddin AM, Osheroff JA, Sittig DF, Chuo J, Velasco F, Collins DA. Implementation pearls from a new guidebook on improving medication use and outcomes with clinical decision support. Effective CDS is essential for addressing healthcare performance improvement imperatives. J Healthc Inf Manag 2009;23(4):38-45 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>19894486</u>]

- 24. Phansalkar S, Edworthy J, Hellier E, Seger DL, Schedlbauer A, Avery AJ, et al. A review of human factors principles for the design and implementation of medication safety alerts in clinical information systems. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2010;17(5):493-501 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/jamia.2010.005264] [Medline: 20819851]
- 25. Horsky J, Phansalkar S, Desai A, Bell D, Middleton B. Design of decision support interventions for medication prescribing. Int J Med Inform 2013 Jun;82(6):492-503. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2013.02.003] [Medline: 23490305]
- 26. Gellert G, Webster S, Gillean J, Melnick E, Kanzaria H. Should US doctors embrace electronic health records? Br Med J 2017 Dec 24;356:j242. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.j242] [Medline: 28119282]
- 27. Maguire M. Methods to support human-centred design. Int J Hum Comput Stud 2001 Oct 1;55(4):587-634. [doi: 10.1006/ijhc.2001.0503]
- International Organization for Standardization. 2015. ISO 9241-210:2010: Ergonomics of human-system interaction Part 210: Human-centred design for interactive systems URL: <u>https://www.iso.org/standard/52075.html</u> [accessed 2018-12-16] [WebCite Cache ID 74hCVihfE]
- 29. Mann DM, Chokshi SK, Kushniruk A. Bridging the gap between academic research and pragmatic needs in usability: a hybrid approach to usability evaluation of health care information systems. JMIR Hum Factors 2018 Nov 28;5(4):e10721 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10721] [Medline: 30487119]
- NIH Collaboratory Rethinking Clinical Trials. UG3 Project: Pragmatic Trial of User-Centered Clinical Decision Support to Implement EMergency Department-Initiated BuprenorphinE for Opioid Use Disorder (EMBED) URL: <u>https://tinyurl.</u> <u>com/y35dz7b8/</u> [accessed 2019-02-01] [WebCite Cache ID 75rp6Sgio]
- Bernstein SL, Rosner J, DeWitt M, Tetrault J, Hsiao AL, Dziura J, et al. Design and implementation of decision support for tobacco dependence treatment in an inpatient electronic medical record: a randomized trial. Transl Behav Med 2017 Dec;7(2):185-195 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13142-017-0470-8] [Medline: 28194729]
- 32. Bernstein E, Bernstein J, Weiner S, D'Onofrio G. Substance use disorders. In: Tintinalli's Emergency Medicine: A Comprehensive Study Guide. New York: Mcgraw-Hill; 2016.
- 33. American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5®). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Publishing; 2013.
- 34. Wesson D, Ling W. The Clinical Opiate Withdrawal Scale (COWS). J Psychoactive Drugs 2003;35(2):253-259. [doi: 10.1080/02791072.2003.10400007] [Medline: 12924748]
- Li AC, Kannry JL, Kushniruk A, Chrimes D, McGinn TG, Edonyabo D, et al. Integrating usability testing and think-aloud protocol analysis with "near-live" clinical simulations in evaluating clinical decision support. Int J Med Inform 2012 Nov;81(11):761-772. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2012.02.009] [Medline: 22456088]
- 36. Usability.gov. 80/20 rule URL: <u>https://www.usability.gov/what-and-why/glossary/8020-rule.html</u> [accessed 2019-02-01] [WebCite Cache ID 75rpHWnL3]
- Gawande A. New Yorker. Slow ideas URL: <u>https://www.newyorker.com/magazine/2013/07/29/slow-ideas</u> [accessed 2018-12-15] [WebCite Cache ID 74hCoI87F]
- Dearing JW, Cox JG. Diffusion of innovations theory, principles, and practice. Health Aff 2018 Dec;37(2):183-190. [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2017.1104] [Medline: 29401011]
- 39. Thursky KA, Mahemoff M. User-centered design techniques for a computerised antibiotic decision support system in an intensive care unit. Int J Med Inform 2007 Oct;76(10):760-768. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2006.07.011] [Medline: 16950650]
- 40. Kilsdonk E, Peute LW, Riezebos RJ, Kremer LC, Jaspers MW. From an expert-driven paper guideline to a user-centred decision support system: a usability comparison study. Artif Intell Med 2013 Sep;59(1):5-13. [doi: 10.1016/j.artmed.2013.04.004] [Medline: 23684240]
- 41. Melnick ER, Hess EP, Guo G, Breslin M, Lopez K, Pavlo AJ, et al. Patient-centered decision support: formative usability evaluation of integrated clinical decision support with a patient decision aid for minor head injury in the emergency department. J Med Internet Res 2017 May 19;19(5):e174 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7846] [Medline: 28526667]
- 42. Plaisance A, Witteman HO, LeBlanc A, Kryworuchko J, Heyland DK, Ebell MH, et al. Development of a decision aid for cardiopulmonary resuscitation and invasive mechanical ventilation in the intensive care unit employing user-centered design and a wiki platform for rapid prototyping. PLoS One 2018;13(2):e0191844 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0191844] [Medline: 29447297]

Abbreviations

RenderX

BPA: best practice alert
BUP: buprenorphine
CDS: clinical decision support
COWS: Clinical Opioid Withdrawal Scale
DSM: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders
ED: emergency department
EMBED: EMergency department-initiated Buprenorphine for opioid usE Disorder
OUD: opioid use disorder

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 15.12.18; peer-reviewed by B Smaradottir, S Manaktala, S Khan; comments to author 10.01.19; revised version received 01.02.19; accepted 09.02.19; published 27.02.19. <u>Please cite as:</u> Ray JM, Ahmed OM, Solad Y, Maleska M, Martel S, Jeffery MM, Platts-Mills TF, Hess EP, D'Onofrio G, Melnick ER Computerized Clinical Decision Support System for Emergency Department–Initiated Buprenorphine for Opioid Use Disorder: User-Centered Design JMIR Hum Factors 2019;6(1):e13121 URL: http://humanfactors.jmir.org/2019/1/e13121/ doi:10.2196/13121 PMID:30810531

©Jessica M Ray, Osama M Ahmed, Yauheni Solad, Matthew Maleska, Shara Martel, Molly M Jeffery, Timothy F Platts-Mills, Erik P Hess, Gail D'Onofrio, Edward R Melnick. Originally published in JMIR Human Factors (http://humanfactors.jmir.org), 27.02.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Human Factors, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://humanfactors.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Designing Online Interventions in Consideration of Young People's Concepts of Well-Being: Exploratory Qualitative Study

Megan Winsall¹, BSc; Simone Orlowski², PhD; Gillian Vogl³, PhD; Victoria Blake³, BSocSci; Mariesa Nicholas⁴, BA; Gaston Antezana⁵, BPsych (Hons); Geoffrey Schrader⁶, PhD, FRANZCP; Niranjan Bidargaddi¹, PhD

¹Personal Health Informatics, Flinders University, Clovelly Park, Australia

²Partners Health Care, Boston, MA, United States

³Young and Well Cooperative Research Centre, Abbotsford, Victoria, Australia

⁴ReachOut Australia, Sydney, Australia

⁵Murdoch University, Perth, Australia

⁶Country Health South Australia, Adelaide, Australia

Corresponding Author:

Niranjan Bidargaddi, PhD Personal Health Informatics Flinders University 1284 South Road Clovelly Park, SA 5024 Australia Phone: 61 872218842 Email: <u>niranjan.bidargaddi@flinders.edu.au</u>

Abstract

Background: A key challenge in developing online well-being interventions for young people is to ensure that they are based on theory and reflect adolescent concepts of well-being.

Objective: This exploratory qualitative study aimed to understand young people's concepts of well-being in Australia.

Methods: Data were collected via workshops at five sites across rural and metropolitan sites with 37 young people from 15 to 21 years of age, inclusive. Inductive, data-driven coding was then used to analyze transcripts and artifacts (ie, written or image data).

Results: Young adults' conceptions of well-being were diverse, personally contextualized, and shaped by ongoing individual experiences related to physical and mental health, along with ecological accounts acknowledging the role of family, community, and social factors. Key emerging themes were (1) positive emotions and enjoyable activities, (2) physical wellness, (3) relationships and social connectedness, (4) autonomy and control, (5) goals and purpose, (6) being engaged and challenged, and (7) self-esteem and confidence. Participants had no difficulty describing actions that led to positive well-being; however, they only considered their own well-being at times of stress.

Conclusions: In this study, young people appeared to think mostly about their well-being at times of stress. The challenge for online interventions is to encourage young people to monitor well-being prior to it becoming compromised. A more proactive focus that links the overall concept of well-being to everyday, concrete actions and activities young people engage in, and that encourages the creation of routine good habits, may lead to better outcomes from online well-being interventions.

(JMIR Hum Factors 2019;6(1):e10106) doi:10.2196/10106

KEYWORDS

well-being; youth; online intervention; participatory design; technology

Introduction

RenderX

Well-being has been shown to be associated with more adaptive responses to negative life events and protection against development of mental health and behavioral problems [1].

http://humanfactors.jmir.org/2019/1/e10106/

Consequently, promotion of well-being has been recognized as a health imperative in many countries worldwide [2-6]. Adolescence and young adulthood (ie, 12-24 years of age) are characterized by significant biological, cognitive, psychological, and social development [7] and influenced by socioeconomic

and ecological factors [8]. Mental disorders are a significant disease burden in this age group [9-11]. The prevalence of mental illness in adolescents 12-17 years of age in Australia is 14.4% [12]. It is also a period during which adoption of risky health behaviors, such as tobacco smoking and unsafe sex, most commonly occur [13].

Online well-being interventions have received some attention in the literature as a viable method for improving, at scale, the well-being of young adults [14-18] due to their relevance, accessibility, cost-efficiency, and promotion of anonymity and confidentiality [19-22]. However, in addition to the concepts of well-being varying by age [23], prior research suggests that young people's concepts of well-being depend on the individual's aims and values [24]. This is significant, as even professional youth workers can have distinctly different views of well-being compared with those of young people. For example, Bourke and Geldens [25] found that young people viewed the self and relationships as the most important elements to well-being, while youth workers were more focused on social contexts and emotions. Similar research in the field reveals that, overall, younger people tend to place more emphasis on self-knowledge, competence, and self-acceptance, while older people focus more on positively coping with change [26-28]. A more recent study in the United Kingdom that investigated general well-being perceptions of 13-year-olds found that, overwhelmingly, the concept of well-being was linked to the idea of physical health, with very few participants indicating mental health as also being important [29].

Individual conceptualization of well-being also varies according to societal and cultural contexts [8,23]. For example, Chapman [30] questioned how well-being might compete or align with a range of other educative and social goals and agendas, including the achievement of academic outcomes, equity, citizenship, economic prosperity, and social cohesion.

The contested understanding of the term, its substantial increase in use, and its various social meanings make the term *youth well-being* fit for rethinking [31]. Improvements in theorizing and operationalizing youth well-being are likely to occur through strengthening the understanding of the term's multiple dimensions, based on the views, perspectives, and contexts of young people's lives [23]. Such knowledge is likely to lead to the design of more relevant and impactful policies and interventions.

This exploratory qualitative study aimed to understand how young people in Australia conceptualize the term *well-being*.

Methods

Recruitment and Sampling

The collection of data for this study was conducted collaboratively by two groups of researchers: one group in Sydney, New South Wales, and the other in Adelaide, South Australia. For convenience, and due to the nature of the sites, one site in metropolitan New South Wales (metropolitan 1, M1) and four sites in rural or regional South Australia (rural 1-rural

4, R1-R4) were chosen (see Table 1). One workshop was conducted at each of these five sites.

Participants for the metropolitan workshop were recruited using a recruitment agency and included a mix of young people who were studying, working, and unemployed. One 5.5-hour workshop was conducted in November 2013. Participants were offered a small incentive of Aus \$50 for their time. The workshop was facilitated by two staff members from the Sydney group.

An additional four workshops were conducted in rural South Australian schools. In order to obtain a dataset reflective of demographics of the selected rural South Australian schools, maximum variation sampling was applied [32]. To achieve this, both public (R2, R3) and private (R4) schools were approached, as well as a school site for disengaged youth (R1). Site R2 was also approached due to its outer regional location. Schools within the selected region were approached via professional contacts (ie, school counselors and year-level coordinators) and the project was advertised within each school site, either via an assembly presentation or during morning announcements. Students were encouraged by teachers to voluntarily participate in the workshop and, as an incentive, were provided with snacks and a certificate of participation. Workshops at the four school sites were run and facilitated between June and July 2014 by two researchers from the Adelaide group.

The Workshops

Due to logistical constraints, particularly at rural schools, the workshops drew on a range of different methods deemed suitable for the context and participants. All workshops explored how young people think about and experience well-being. In addition, methods were deliberately designed to be open and encourage participants to explore the question from a range of perspectives, including using metaphors for well-being. The rural workshops (R1-R4) were run in a World Café style [33]. This style of workshop was chosen due to the interactive nature of this design, which catered well to the age group and classroom setting of the participants, enabling them to respond via written or oral feedback to the group. The length of the sessions ranged from 20 to 30 minutes for each school site. The workshops conducted at schools were shorter due to time constraints associated with school timetables. The following questions were asked: "Well-being-what does it look like?" and "Well-being-what does it feel like?" Students were guided during the workshop to write down and discuss answers to the above questions in small groups.

The metropolitan workshop (M1) allowed for the creation of a shared definition of well-being, mapping well-being goals, and activities that could help to achieve these goals using the photovoice method [34]. Prior to attendance, participants completed a pretask where they took photographs that signified well-being to them and brought them to the workshop. Activities included a discussion and grouping of these photographs, writing down words associated with well-being and creating a shared definition, creating a well-being journey through mapping well-being goals, and exploring what they would need to reach these well-being goals.

Table 1. Workshop locations and participant demographics.

Winsall et al

Workshop	Details
Metropolitan general young adults (M1)	12 participants (6 male, 6 female); 17-21 years of age; metropolitan New South Wales
Rural disengaged school (R1)	6 participants (5 male, 1 female); 15-22 years of age; inner regional South Australia
Rural public school (R2)	5 participants (5 male); 15-18 years of age; outer regional South Australia
Rural public school (R3)	5 participants (4 male, 1 female); 15-19 years of age; inner regional South Australia
Rural private school (R4)	9 participants (2 male, 7 female); 15-18 years of age; inner regional South Australia

Data Analysis

All five workshops were audiotaped and the recordings were professionally transcribed. Data from each workshop were collected and analyzed as a whole, with no distinction made between comments or terms expressed by male or female participants or participants of differing ages. Inductive, data-driven coding was then used to analyze the transcript and artifact (ie, written or photographed) data [35]. This ground-up approach was chosen so that all data would be coded specifically to identify key themes. The analytic process described by Braun and Clarke [35] was followed; this involved (1) reading and rereading of transcripts, (2) generation of initial codes by manually identifying keywords and phrases in the transcripts and artifacts, (3) searching for themes by grouping similar keywords and phrases and inputting these into an Excel spreadsheet, (4) reviewing themes, (5) defining and naming themes, and (6) producing a report. Steps 1-3 of this process were conducted separately by the two research groups-two authors per group-with the result that each transcript was double coded. Any disagreement between coders was resolved by consensus. The research groups then met in person to review and discuss all data (Step 4) in order to summarize and reach consensus on defining the broader, overarching themes and concepts (Step 5). If the theme emerged in at least four out of five of the workshops, it was classed as a key theme and was reported in the Results section.

Theoretical Framework

Despite using a data-driven, ground-up approach, exploration and analysis of the data were conducted in the context of Keyes' model of well-being. The researchers coded the key themes based on Keyes' broad categories of social, emotional, and psychological well-being [36].

Results

Themes Underpinning Young People's Conceptualization of Well-Being

Overview

Well-being was found to be a diverse concept and was conceptualized in many different ways; however, similar themes emerged between groups. The seven key themes that emerged were as follows: positive emotions and enjoyable activities, physical wellness, relationships and social connectedness, autonomy and control, goals and purpose, being engaged and challenged, and self-esteem and confidence. These themes are outlined below.

http://humanfactors.jmir.org/2019/1/e10106/

Positive Emotions and Enjoyable Activities

In conceptualizing well-being, participants in both groups repeatedly described feelings of happiness and enjoyment. When discussing *happiness*, they described activities related to positive emotions, including *smiles*, *laughing*, *seeing the humor in things*, *making jokes*, *having a good state of mind*, and *positive attitude*. They also described enjoyable activities that contributed to positive emotions, including *having fun*, *music*, *celebrating*, *doing the things you want to do, shopping, reading, parties*, *drinking*, *surfing*, and *gaming*. One participant from the R3 site commented, "If they have hobbies it means they know themselves."

Physical Wellness

In all five workshops, physical wellness was seen as an important aspect of well-being. Participants described the absence of illness (eg, "not going to the hospital"), as well as eating healthily and engaging in physical activity, as important aspects of well-being. Some of the words and activities they described included *health*, *fitness*, *healthy eating*, *fruits and vegetables*, *exercising*, *organics*, *vitamins*, *swimming*, *sport*, *running*, *sleeping*, *drinking water*, *massages*, and *destressing*. One participant from the M1 site commented, "What you do on the outside—your exercise, food—impacts on your mental health."

Social Connectedness and Altruism

Relationships and connections to others played a large role in young people's understanding of well-being. This occurred at an intrapersonal level (eg, friends and family), as well as at a group (ie, community) level (eg, a football team or club). Participants spoke about *realizing who actually matters, making new friends, unconditional love, loyalty, building relationships,* and *being part of your community*. Such friendships occurred both online and offline and participants did not distinguish between the two. One participant from an R2 site rural school spoke about how it can be easier to make friends and be confident online: "I'm a social butterfly online."

Participants also spoke about altruism and described how behaviors including volunteering, respecting others, treating others well, responsibility for your friends, respecting others, kindness, looking after others, thinking of others, and caring can contribute to well-being.

Autonomy and Control

Across all groups, participants discussed being independent and in control of their lives and their emotions. They said well-being includes *making decisions*, *protecting yourself (eg, taekwondo)*,

being in control of yourself, being in control of your life, being in control of your own happiness and your actions, making good choices, and rising above. The following quotes illustrate these sentiments:

Not necessarily in control of their surroundings, but in control of themselves. [R2 site participant]

I'd feel independent, like, I'm in control of my own happiness. [R3 site participant]

You can't exactly always rely on other people to make you happy, you have to learn to make yourself happy. [M1 site participant]

As part of having autonomy and control, participants discussed having their own money and working. Common themes were *balance between taking time for yourself and study and work, make good choices, "normal" behavior,* and *cleaning.* Money contributed to independence, which was important for well-being, as illustrated in the following quotes:

Saving [money] feels like you're moving forward. [R4 site participant]

Money also goes into part of learning...we're learning to get money, like how to get money, get jobs, we're learning how to respect our money and not just use it all, I guess. [M1 site participant]

Goals and Purpose

Participants discussed setting and achieving goals and feeling as though they were working toward something. Concepts included *perseverance*, *being motivated*, *having hobbies*, *setting goals*, *working toward something*, *planning*, and *hope for the future*.

Achieving and celebrating achievement was important, including winning a grand final, something to show for your time and effort, recognizing your achievements, and receiving awards and prizes.

Being resilient was also important, particularly in the metropolitan group, as illustrated in the following quote:

Well, if you're feeling down, to be able to get yourself up, get yourself motivated, comes a lot from rugby, really. If you get tackled you have to get yourself up. [M1 site participant]

Being Engaged and Challenged

A key theme related to well-being was learning new things, trying new things, and challenging yourself in order to grow. Related behaviors included *learning*, going to school, being willing to try stuff, keeping your mind occupied, travelling, exploring, seeing new things, discovery, living in the moment, taking risks, learning from your past mistakes, being outside your comfort zone, and competition, as illustrated in the following quote:

...not just comfortable, but challenged by your surroundings, like you're improving yourself because of them. [R2 site participant]

Taking risks was also important to well-being. One participant used the example of going outside your comfort zone to make new friends, as illustrated in the following quote:

Getting friends, you have to take a risk, to go up to them and say, "Hi, my name is blah, blah, blah, blah, blah..." To then hang out with them and all that takes risks, your whole life is about risks. [M1 site participant]

Self-Esteem and Confidence

Participants felt that a person who possesses well-being has high self-esteem and confidence. Rural groups commented that someone with well-being possesses confident body language and *smiles*. Other behaviors in this theme included *believing in yourself, self-acceptance, being confident, being yourself, focusing on the positives of yourself, free of embarrassment, no judgment,* and *acting on your feelings.*

Examples of Actions and Things Associated With Maintaining Well-Being—What Makes Good Well-Being Possible?

Participants had no difficulty describing actions and things that lead to good well-being and what they perceived well-being to *feel* and *look* like. Actions that they used to achieve good well-being included physical, emotional, and social activities and are described in Table 2. These actions encompassed *connecting with friends and family, food they enjoyed, focusing on the positives, having employment,* and *leading a fulfilling life*.

Thinking About Well-Being was Reactive to Stress

Although the young people in the study were able to articulate a complex understanding of well-being when asked, they did not think about their well-being on a day-to-day basis, nor did they generally work to improve it. They did not think about well-being unless there was an issue that impacted negatively on them. Young people thought more about well-being when they were stressed. The following responses were given when a workshop moderator asked the trigger question, "Do you think about your well-being?"

Probably when something really bad happens, is probably when you are more likely to think about yourself. [R4 site participant]

...and in challenging situations. [R4 site participant]

I feel like in high pressure, as well in Year 12, when things are really full on, you think "Am I sleeping enough? Am I eating enough fruit? Like that kind of thing"...cause you don't want to just fall over in a heap. [R4 site participant]

The following responses were given when a workshop moderator asked the trigger question, "What would prompt you to think about your well-being?"

Whenever I am down, I suppose. [R2 site participant] Let's face it, crap feelings are always stronger than nice feelings because, let's face it...you usually do remember crap days. [R2 site participant]

Table 2. Things perceived to be needed for well-being, identified by young people in the workshops, and organized according to the key themes.

Theme	Examples of actions indicating or leading to well- being	Examples of things needed for well-being
Positive emotions and enjoyable activities	Feeling happy, smiling, laughing, making jokes, positive attitude, having fun, celebrating, shopping, reading, surfing, and gaming	Music, parties, karate, motorbikes, and a good state of mind
Physical wellness	Healthy eating, exercising, swimming, running, sleeping, drinking water, destressing, and relaxing	Health, fitness, sport, massages, organics, vitamins, and fruits and vegetables
Social connectedness and altruism	Talking, accepting others, getting together, loyalty, becoming part of teams or clubs, making new friends, being part of your community, fitting in, volunteering, respecting others, treating others well, responsibility for your friends, kindness, and caring	A support network, friends and family, and unconditional love
Autonomy and control	Protecting yourself, being in control of yourself, being in control of your life, making good choices, rising above, being independent, clearing your mind, letting things go, work-life balance, and "normal" behavior	Safety, stable home life, long drives, freedom, and money
Goals and purpose	Perseverance, being motivated, setting goals, working toward something, planning, hoping for the future, and recognizing your achievements	Receiving awards and prizes, having purpose or a purpose- ful lifestyle, and having hobbies
Being engaged and challenged	Learning, going to school, travelling, exploring, discovery, living in the moment, taking risks, learning from your past mistakes, being outside comfort zone, and competition	A career
Self-esteem and confidence	Body language, believing in yourself, self-accep- tance, being confident, being yourself, being free of embarrassment, and no judgment	Not applicable

The following response was given when a workshop moderator asked the trigger question, "What does it feel like when you don't have well-being?"

I picture it [well-being] like a plank of wood...when life sucks, it's splintered, but when it's not, it's like smooth, yeah collected. [R4 site participant]

Subthemes

Subthemes that emerged in the rural groups, but did not feature in the metropolitan group, related mainly to the role of place in young people's lives and the concept of *fitting in*. Rural participants spoke about challenges specific to farming and how they found it difficult when people "from the city judged" their way of life. They commented that although diversity was good, there was also the small-town mentality that being "different is evil." Themes related to nature (eg, keywords like *the sea*, *walking on the beach, outdoors, camping, lakes,* and *environment*) occurred only in the metropolitan group and not at all in the rural groups.

Discussion

RenderX

Principal Findings

Although the workshops were conducted in five separate locations, similar themes around how well-being is conceptualized by young people emerged in each group. The findings from this study confirm that well-being is indeed multidimensional, with each of the seven themes identified well-supported by previous research [24,25,37]. Both the pursuit

of activities leading to positive experiences that satisfy their desires (ie, hedonic) and a focus on autonomy, purpose, social connectedness, and achieving goals (ie, eudaimonic) contributed to young people's conceptualizations of well-being [38].

Comparison With Prior Work

Keyes' general well-being categories, for example, social, emotional, and psychological well-being [36], were broadly reflected in this study's results. Our study revealed that young people place high importance on the theme of social connectedness and altruism, which forms part of Keyes' social well-being construct [36]. This theme is also reflected in Bourke and Geldens' relationships dimension [25], Armezzani and Paduanello's relational style of well-being [24], and the relationships component of the positive emotion, engagement, relationships, meaning, and accomplishment (PERMA) model [37], which emphasizes a person's relationships with family, friends, colleagues, and community. The workshop participants, especially those from the rural workshops, spoke of connecting with others and maintaining friendships online (eg, via social media or online gaming). This is consistent with prior research on online interactions, which found that the social interactions in online gaming form a considerable element in the enjoyment of playing, with a high percentage of gamers making long-term friends and meeting partners [39].

The importance of physical wellness for well-being among the participants is consistent with Bourke and Geldens' [25] physical dimensions. This is also consistent with Armezzani and Paduanello's [24] healthy style of well-being, which focuses on reaching a state of physical balance and avoiding situations

that could be a source of physical disorder (eg, smoking, an unhealthy diet, drugs, alcohol, and stress). The workshop participants described physical health as the absence of illness (eg, "not going to the hospital"). These findings highlight how youth-centered understandings of well-being contrast with a disease model, in line with previous research by Graham [40], who found that the discourse around well-being was inherently medical. As a result, what it means to be well comes to be defined by the absence of physical symptoms; in other words, to be well is to be not unwell. Although themes related to physical health have emerged strongly elsewhere [24], the theme of physical wellness did not particularly dominate in this study. The importance of language in studies of this nature should not be overlooked. In Singletary's [29] study on young people's perceptions of mental and physical health, the term well-being was not used when surveying participants. Singletary's findings differ from this study in that only 8% of the young people interviewed perceived being healthy to mean being physically healthy. Another study by Easthope and White [41] found that young people associated the term health with things like maintaining a good diet, exercising, and avoiding bad habits, such as smoking and binge drinking; in contrast, well-being was strongly associated with social relationships. This suggests that for young people, the terms well-being and health are conceptualized quite differently, with well-being encompassing the broader, holistic human experience and health being more limited to physical factors.

This study found that young people generally only think about their well-being in times of stress. Similarly, Bourke and Geldens' [25] holistic dimension of well-being views well-being as linked to emotional responses to problems that occur in a young person's life. Similarly, Heady and Wearing [42] propose that stable well-being occurs when individuals have the psychological, social, and physical resources they need to meet a particular challenge. When individuals face more challenges than resources, their well-being is adversely affected [43]. The challenge for programs designed to improve well-being, therefore, is how to help young people address and monitor their well-being before it becomes compromised. This might be achieved by proactively encouraging the development of good habits and increasing resilience by helping young people to think more about caring for their physical and mental health as a matter of routine.

Despite only thinking about their well-being during times of stress, young people in this study were able to give examples of specific actions and things that lead to positive well-being. Honey et al [44] found that young people identified *activities* (eg, study, sport, and parties) and *having things* (eg, food and money) as two important foundations of well-being. Lal et al [45] also found that an important part of the youth experience of well-being was engaging in certain types of activities or *action-oriented states* (eg, exercising). The list of examples described during this study was extensive, stretching across all of the key themes and elements that encompass characterization of well-being.

Linking such key elements of well-being with existing actions and behaviors that young people are familiar with has implications for the design of interventions to promote the active

```
http://humanfactors.jmir.org/2019/1/e10106/
```

pursuit of well-being. The key to intervention design may be to not promote well-being per se-because clearly young people already know it exists and know what to do to maintain it-but rather to use a strengths-based approach to build on existing practices (eg, running, listening to music, and connecting with friends) in ways that enhance and increase young people's capacity for well-being. In line with McLeod and Wright [31], findings from our study show that the term well-being is a conceptually diverse term for young people. In light of this, it may be more effective for interventions to focus less on the term *well-being* and more on the concrete categories into which elements of well-being can be divided and, in particular, target the actions that can lead to specific improvements. The aims of well-being interventions should perhaps be reframed to resonate with young people's own views of what they consider as valuable and meaningful ways to achieve and maintain well-being. The finding that themes related to nature (eg, keywords such as the sea, walking on the beach, outdoors, camping, lakes, and environment) occurred only in the metropolitan group and not at all in the rural groups may simply be because young people in rural areas take being close to nature (eg, more space, more greenery, and smaller population) as a normal part of life; therefore, they may not have felt the need to mention it as something which contributes to their well-being. The metropolitan group may have felt a greater sense or *need* to frequently visit more natural places, due to residing in more built-up, less green areas. These differences between the rural and metropolitan groups warrant further comparative research. It should also be recognized that the young people from the metropolitan workshop were older on average than those from the rural sites. This could possibly account for the few differences in well-being conceptualization, as the young people were at different stages in their lives (ie, high school and starting university) [29].

Limitations

This study had a number of limitations. There was an uneven representation of participants from metropolitan and rural sites. As well, the rural participants were primarily sampled from inner regional sites and were, consequently, unrepresentative of young people living in outer regional and remote Australian locations. Therefore, any findings related to location should be understood in this context. In addition, the method of data collection differed between the metropolitan and rural sites with different questions and stimuli used (eg, the metropolitan group was asked to bring in photos while the rural group was not). However, the different methodologies were not compared in terms of their effectiveness, but should rather be viewed as complementary. These differences in approach between the rural and the metropolitan groups reflected logistic difficulties in setting up workshops at the rural schools. In the rural schools, time constraints meant we were only able to have one session with the participants and it was not possible to have them bring photographs to the classroom using the photovoice approach. For this reason, the World Café style of workshop was adopted.

The data were analyzed as a whole for each group, with no distinction made between comments or terms expressed by participants of differing gender or ages; as well, the socioeconomic status of individual participants was not gathered.

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

While it may have been interesting to investigate differences in conceptualization of well-being between male and female participants and between participants of different ages, this was not the primary focus of the study. Despite the slight variations in method and relatively small sample size, the data derived from the workshops were comparable in that they both involved activities designed to generate participants' concepts of well-being.

Conclusions

The findings from this study suggest that well-being is a multidimensional concept when conceptualized by young people, with each of the seven themes identified—positive emotions and enjoyable activities, physical wellness, relationships and social connectedness, autonomy and control, goals and purpose, being engaged and challenged, and self-esteem and confidence—being well-supported by previous findings [24,25,36,37]. Young people's concepts of well-being were diverse and personalized, shaped by ongoing individual

contextual experiences related to physical and mental health, along with ecological and social factors.

Since it appears young people think mostly about their well-being in times of stress, the challenge with online well-being interventions is how to get young people to monitor their well-being before it becomes compromised. A more proactive focus may be the key here, that is, linking the overall concept of well-being to everyday, concrete actions or activities young people engage in and encouraging the creation of routine good habits.

The aims and design of online well-being interventions should resonate with young people's own views. Well-being should be reframed not in terms of a deficit-based response to a problem, but rather as something that can be proactively fostered. Further research could investigate more about what young people would value most in an online well-being intervention and what factors might best trigger its use.

Acknowledgments

This study was funded by the Young and Well Cooperative Research Centre, Country Health South Australia, and Flinders University. The Young and Well Cooperative Research Centre was established under the Australian Government's Cooperative Research Centres Program.

Authors' Contributions

NB, MW, GV, VB, SO, and GA conceived of and designed the study, contributed and supervised data collection, analyzed and interpreted the data, and drafted the manuscript. MN contributed to the design and analysis of the metropolitan workshops. GS contributed to the design of the study and performed the critical revision of the intellectual content. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

GV and VB work at Young and Well Cooperative Research Centre. GS works at Country Health South Australia. MW and NB work at Flinders University.

References

- 1. Petersen A, Leffert CN. What is special about adolescence? In: Rutter M, editor. Psychosocial Disturbances in Young People: Challenges for Prevention. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press; 1997.
- 2. World Health Organization. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2018 Mar 30. Mental health: Strengthening our response URL: <u>http://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/mental-health-strengthening-our-response</u> [accessed 2018-11-29] [WebCite Cache ID 743ayLg8w]
- Begg S, Vos T, Barker B, Stevenson C, Stanley L, Lopez AD. The Burden of Disease and Injury in Australia 2003. Canberra, Australia: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare; 2007 May. URL: <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/getmedia/ f81b92b3-18a2-4669-aad3-653aa3a9f0f2/bodaiia03.pdf.aspx?inline=true</u> [accessed 2018-11-29] [WebCite Cache ID 74IW7bFTI]
- Gore F, Bloem PJN, Patton GC, Ferguson J, Joseph V, Coffey C, et al. Global burden of disease in young people aged 10-24 years: A systematic analysis. Lancet 2011 Jun 18;377(9783):2093-2102. [doi: <u>10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60512-6</u>] [Medline: <u>21652063</u>]
- 5. Kauer SD, Mangan C, Sanci L. Do online mental health services improve help-seeking for young people? A systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2014 Mar 04;16(3):e66 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3103] [Medline: 24594922]
- 6. Lawrence D, Johnson S, Hafekost J, Boterhoven de Haan K, Sawyer M, Ainley J, et al. The Mental Health of Children and Adolescents. Report on the Second Australian Child and Adolescent Survey of Mental Health and Wellbeing. Canberra, Australia: Department of Health; 2015. URL: <u>http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/content/</u> 9DA8CA21306FE6EDCA257E2700016945/\$File/child2.pdf [accessed 2018-11-29] [WebCite Cache ID 74IWRLOhw]
- Australia's Health 2014. Canberra, Australia: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare; 2014. Youth health: The prime of life? URL: <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/getmedia/d2946c3e-9b94-413c-898c-aa5219903b8c/16507.pdf.aspx?inline=true</u> [accessed 2018-11-29] [WebCite Cache ID 74IWjJIyv]
JMIR HUMAN FACTORS

- Park N. The role of subjective well-being in positive youth development. Ann Am Acad Pol Soc Sci 2016 Sep 08;591(1):25-39. [doi: 10.1177/0002716203260078]
- 9. Hogan MF. The President's New Freedom Commission on Mental Health. 2003. URL: <u>http://govinfo.library.unt.edu/</u> <u>mentalhealthcommission/reports/FinalReport/downloads/FinalReport.pdf</u> [accessed 2018-11-19] [WebCite Cache ID 743d280ag]
- Minister of Health. Te Tähuhu--Improving Mental Health 2005-2015: The Second New Zealand Mental Health and Addiction Plan. Wellington, New Zealand: Ministry of Health; 2005. URL: <u>https://www.health.govt.nz/publication/</u> <u>te-tahuhu-improving-mental-health-2005-2015-second-new-zealand-mental-health-and-addiction-plan</u> [accessed 2018-11-19] [WebCite Cache ID 743dDwODg]
- Muijen M. Challenges for psychiatry: Delivering the Mental Health Declaration for Europe. World Psychiatry 2006 Jun;5(2):113-117 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>16946954</u>]
- 12. The Roadmap for National Mental Health Reform 2012-2022.: The Council of Australian Governments; 2012. URL: <u>http://www.coag.gov.au/sites/default/files/communique/</u> <u>The%20Roadmap%20for%20National%20Mental%20Health%20Reform%202012-2022.pdf</u> [accessed 2018-11-19] [WebCite Cache ID 743ddMBoY]
- 13. Ministers of Health of Member States in the European Region of the World Health Organization (WHO). Mental Health Declaration for Europe: Facing the Challenges, Building Solutions. 2005 Jan 14. URL: <u>http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf__file/0008/88595/E85445.pdf?ua=1</u> [accessed 2018-11-29] [WebCite Cache ID 74IY0Fkba]
- Bolier L, Haverman M, Kramer J, Westerhof GJ, Riper H, Walburg JA, et al. An Internet-based intervention to promote mental fitness for mildly depressed adults: Randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2013 Sep 16;15(9):e200 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2603] [Medline: 24041479]
- 15. Burns J. Family Online Safety Institute. 2013 Jun 24. Using technology to improve the mental health and wellbeing of our young people URL: <u>https://www.fosi.org/good-digital-parenting/using-technology-improve-mental-health-wellbeing/</u> [accessed 2017-01-17] [WebCite Cache ID 74IYFZx9x]
- 16. Cobb NK, Poirier J. Effectiveness of a multimodal online well-being intervention: A randomized controlled trial. Am J Prev Med 2014 Jan;46(1):41-48 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2013.08.018] [Medline: 24355670]
- Manicavasagar V, Horswood D, Burckhardt R, Lum A, Hadzi-Pavlovic D, Parker G. Feasibility and effectiveness of a web-based positive psychology program for youth mental health: Randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2014 Jun 04;16(6):e140 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3176] [Medline: 24901900]
- 18. Mitchell J, Stanimirovic R, Klein B, Vella-Brodrick D. A randomised controlled trial of a self-guided Internet intervention promoting well-being. Comput Human Behav 2009 May;25(3):749-760. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.chb.2009.02.003</u>]
- Internet Use and Social Networking by Young People. Sydney, Australia: Australian Communications and Media Authority; 2008 Sep. URL: <u>https://www.acma.gov.au/-/media/Research-and-Analysis/Report/pdf/</u> no1_internet_use_social_networking_young_people-pdf.pdf [accessed 2018-11-29] [WebCite Cache ID 74IYnu6LM]
- 20. Campbell AJ, Robards F. Using Technologies Safely and Effectively to Promote Young People's Wellbeing: A Better Practice Guide for Services. Abbotsford, Australia: Young and Well Cooperative Research Centre; 2013 Mar. URL: <u>https://www.health.nsw.gov.au/kidsfamilies/youth/Documents/better-practice-guide.pdf</u> [accessed 2018-11-29] [WebCite Cache ID 74Ia3mn7H]
- 21. McCrone P, Knapp M, Proudfoot J, Ryden C, Cavanagh K, Shapiro DA, et al. Cost-effectiveness of computerised cognitive-behavioural therapy for anxiety and depression in primary care: Randomised controlled trial. Br J Psychiatry 2004 Jul;185:55-62. [Medline: <u>15231556</u>]
- 22. Seligman MEP, Ernst RM, Gillham J, Reivich K, Linkins M. Positive education: Positive psychology and classroom interventions. Oxf Rev Educ 2009 Jun;35(3):293-311. [doi: 10.1080/03054980902934563]
- Wallace A. The Psychological and Emotional Wellbeing Needs of Children and Young People: Models of Effective Practice in Educational Settings. Sydney, Australia: Urbis Pty Ltd; 2011 Aug. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/ydfmlro7</u> [accessed 2018-11-29] [WebCite Cache ID 74IazEuyz]
- 24. Armezzani M, Paduanello M. Subjective well-being among youth: A study employing the pyramid procedure. J Constr Psychol 2013 Jan;26(1):37-49. [doi: 10.1080/10720537.2013.732533]
- 25. Bourke L, Geldens P. What does wellbeing mean? Perspectives of wellbeing among young people & youth workers in rural Victoria. Youth Stud Aust 2007 Mar;26(1):41-49 ISSN: ISSN-1038-2569.
- 26. Carstensen LL, Charles ST. Emotion in the second half of life. Curr Dir Psychol Sci 1998 Oct;7(5):144-149. [doi: 10.1111/1467-8721.ep10836825]
- 27. Erikson EH, Erikson JM. The Life Cycle Completed. New York, NY: WW Norton & Company; 1998.
- 28. Ryff CD. Happiness is everything, or is it? Explorations on the meaning of psychological well-being. J Pers Soc Psychol 1989;57(6):1069-1081. [doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.57.6.1069]
- Singletary JH, Bartle CL, Svirydzenka N, Suter-Giorgini NM, Cashmore AM, Dogra N. Young people's perceptions of mental and physical health in the context of general wellbeing. Health Educ J 2014 Jun 04;74(3):257-269. [doi: 10.1177/0017896914533219]

RenderX

JMIR HUMAN FACTORS

- 30. Chapman A. Wellbeing and schools: Exploring the normative dimensions. In: Wright K, McLeod J, editors. Rethinking Youth Wellbeing: Critical Perspectives. Singapore: Springer; 2015:143-159.
- 31. McLeod J, Wright K. Inventing youth wellbeing. In: Wright K, McLeod J, editors. Rethinking Youth Wellbeing: Critical Perspectives. Singapore: Springer; 2015:1-10.
- 32. Grbich C. Qualitative Research in Health: An Introduction. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications; 1999.
- 33. Aldred R. From community participation to organizational therapy? World Café and Appreciative Inquiry as research methods. Community Dev J 2011 Jan 01;46(1):57-71 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/cdj/bsp039]
- 34. Nykiforuk CIJ, Vallianatos H, Nieuwendyk LM. Photovoice as a method for revealing community perceptions of the built and social environment. Int J Qual Methods 2011 Jan 01;10(2):103-124 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 27390573]
- 35. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- 36. Keyes CLM. Mental illness and/or mental health? Investigating axioms of the complete state model of health. J Consult Clin Psychol 2005 Jun;73(3):539-548. [doi: 10.1037/0022-006X.73.3.539] [Medline: 15982151]
- 37. Seligman MEP. Flourish: A Visionary New Understanding of Happiness and Well-Being. New York, NY: Free Press; 2011.
- 38. McMahan EA, Estes D. Hedonic versus eudaimonic conceptions of well-being: Evidence of differential associations with self-reported well-being. Soc Indic Res 2010 Aug 27;103(1):93-108. [doi: 10.1007/s11205-010-9698-0]
- Johnson D, Jones C, Scholes L, Carras M. Videogames and Wellbeing: A Comprehensive Review. Melbourne, Australia: Young and Well Cooperative Research Centre; 2013. URL: <u>http://kerryj.com/documents/Videogames_and_Wellbeing.pdf</u> [accessed 2018-11-19] [WebCite Cache ID 743hP9B0x]
- 40. Graham LJ. To be well is to be not unwell: The new battleground inside our children's heads. In: Wright K, McLeod J, editors. Rethinking Youth Wellbeing: Critical Perspectives. Singapore: Springer; 2015:11-33.
- 41. Easthope GR, White R. Health and well-being: How do young people see these concepts? Youth Stud Aust 2006 Mar;25(1):42-49 ISSN: 1038-2569.
- 42. Headey B, Wearing AJ. Understanding Happiness: A Theory of Subjective Well-Being. Melbourne, Australia: Longman Cheshire; 1992.
- 43. Dodge R, Daly AP, Huyton J, Sanders LD. The challenge of defining well-being. Int J Wellbeing 2012;2(3):222-235. [doi: 10.5502/ijw.v2i3.4]
- 44. Honey A, Coniglio F, Hancock N, McDougall T, Callaghan J. Conceptualising well-being for young people living with mental illness. Int J Ther Rehabil 2015 Jun 02;22(6):278-287. [doi: <u>10.12968/ijtr.2015.22.6.278</u>]
- 45. Lal S, Ungar M, Malla A, Frankish J, Suto M. Meanings of well-being from the perspectives of youth recently diagnosed with psychosis. J Ment Health 2014 Feb;23(1):25-30. [doi: 10.3109/09638237.2013.841866] [Medline: 24484189]

Abbreviations

PERMA: positive emotion, engagement, relationships, meaning, and accomplishment

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 19.03.18; peer-reviewed by J Matar, M Snijder; comments to author 18.08.18; revised version received 24.09.18; accepted 23.10.18; published 30.01.19.

Please cite as:

Winsall M, Orlowski S, Vogl G, Blake V, Nicholas M, Antezana G, Schrader G, Bidargaddi N Designing Online Interventions in Consideration of Young People's Concepts of Well-Being: Exploratory Qualitative Study JMIR Hum Factors 2019;6(1):e10106 URL: http://humanfactors.jmir.org/2019/1/e10106/ doi:10.2196/10106 PMID:30698537

©Megan Winsall, Simone Orlowski, Gillian Vogl, Victoria Blake, Mariesa Nicholas, Gaston Antezana, Geoffrey Schrader, Niranjan Bidargaddi. Originally published in JMIR Human Factors (http://humanfactors.jmir.org), 30.01.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the Commons the terms of Creative Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Human Factors, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://humanfactors.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

RenderX

Publisher: JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East. Toronto, ON, M5A 3Y5 Phone: (+1) 416-583-2040 Email: <u>support@jmir.org</u>

https://www.jmirpublications.com/

